Extended nonlocal games

by

Vincent Russo

A thesis presented to the University of Waterloo in fulfillment of the thesis requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Computer Science

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2017 © Vincent Russo 2017

Examining Committee Membership

The following served on the Examining Committee for this thesis. The decision of the Examining Committee is by majority vote.

External Examiner	STEPHANIE WEHNER Professor
Supervisors	JOHN WATROUS Professor MICHELE MOSCA Professor
Internal Members	RICHARD CLEVE Professor DEBBIE LEUNG Professor
Internal-external Member	VERN PAULSEN

Defence Chair

SUE HORTON Professor

Professor

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

Abstract

The notions of *entanglement* and *nonlocality* are among the most striking ingredients found in quantum information theory. One tool to better understand these notions is the model of *nonlocal games*; a mathematical framework that abstractly models a physical system. The simplest instance of a nonlocal game involves two players, Alice and Bob, who are not allowed to communicate with each other once the game has started and who play cooperatively against an adversary referred to as the referee.

The focus of this thesis is a class of games called *extended nonlocal games*, of which nonlocal games are a subset. In an extended nonlocal game, the players initially share a tripartite state *with the referee*. In such games, the winning conditions for Alice and Bob may depend on outcomes of measurements made by the referee, on its part of the shared quantum state, in addition to Alice and Bob's answers to the questions sent by the referee.

We build up the framework for extended nonlocal games and study their properties and how they relate to nonlocal games. In doing so, we study the types of *strategies* that Alice and Bob may adopt in such a game. For instance, we refer to strategies where Alice and Bob use quantum resources as *standard quantum strategies* and strategies where there is an absence of entanglement as an *unentangled strategy*. These formulations of strategies are purposefully reminiscent of the respective quantum and classical strategies that Alice and Bob use in a nonlocal game, and we also consider other types of strategies with a similar correspondence for the class of extended nonlocal games.

We consider the *value* of an extended nonlocal game when Alice and Bob apply a particular strategy, again in a similar manner to the class of nonlocal games. Unlike computing the unentangled value where tractable algorithms exist, directly computing the standard quantum value of an extended nonlocal game is an intractable problem. We introduce a technique that allows one to place upper bounds on the standard quantum value of an extended nonlocal game. Our technique is a generalization of what we refer to as the QC hierarchy which was studied independently in works by Doherty, Liang, Toner, and Wehner as well as by Navascués, Pironio, and Acín. This technique yields an upper bound approximation for the quantum value of a nonlocal game.

We also consider the question of whether or not the dimensionality of the state that Alice and Bob share as part of their standard quantum strategy makes any difference in how well they can play the game. That is, does there exist an extended nonlocal game where Alice and Bob can win with a higher probability if they share a state where the dimension is infinite? We answer this question in the affirmative and provide a specific example of an extended nonlocal game that exhibits this behavior. We study a type of extended nonlocal game referred to as a monogamy-of-entanglement game, introduced by Tomamichel, Fehr, Kaniewski, and Wehner, and present a number of new results for this class of game. Specifically, we consider how the standard quantum value and unentangled value of these games relate to each other. We find that for certain classes of monogamy-of-entanglement games, Alice and Bob stand to gain no benefit in using a standard quantum strategy over an unentangled strategy, that is, they perform just as well without making use of entanglement game in which Alice and Bob do perform strictly better if they make use of a standard quantum strategy. We also analyze the parallel repetition of monogamy-of-entanglement games; the study of how a game performs when there are multiple instances of the game played independently. We find that certain classes of monogamy-of-entanglement games obey strong parallel repetition. In contrast, when Alice and Bob use a non-signaling strategy in a monogamy-of-entanglement game, we find that strong parallel repetition is not obeyed.

Acknowledgements

I am greatly indebted to my advisors John Watrous and Michele Mosca for their guidance throughout the course of my studies. John is an incredible supervisor and one that I have been exceptionally lucky to have had the pleasure of working with. John's attention to detail and sense of humour has greatly impacted my own approach to science and life in general. I am truly humbled by John's command of mathematical rigour and writing clarity. I am also incredibly grateful to Mike, for including me in the quantum circuits group and enabling me to take part in internships.

Gratitude is also due to professors Richard Cleve, Debbie Leung, Vern Paulsen, and Stephanie Wehner for taking their valuable time to serve on my defence committee. I thank them greatly for their input.

Throughout my studies, I've been lucky enough to work with some outstanding students, post-doctoral researchers, and professors. Many thanks are due to Nathaniel Johnston, Rajat Mittal, Matthew Pusey, Jamie Sikora, William Slofstra, Thomas Vidick, and others who were always willing to discuss interesting ideas and explain abstract concepts to me.

My time at IQC and in Waterloo has been full of great people and experiences. I wish to thank Sascha Agne, Srinivasan Arunachalam, Alessandro Cosentino, Arnaud Carignan-Dugas, Maria Kieferova, Robin Kothari, Anirudh Krishna, Vinayak Pathak, Dan Puzzuoli, Yuval Sanders, Basil Singer, Marco Shum, Zak Webb, and the students and faculty of IQC for making my time here incredibly enjoyable. I sincerely hope that we keep in touch as our journeys continue. Thanks are also due to the excellent administrative support of IQC and DC for always being able to quickly resolve any technical issues in running software for experiments.

To my "urban planning" circle of friends, thank you for making me an honorary member of the group, and accepting me even though I'm in computer science! You have been my strongest support network and my best friends in Waterloo. I will sorely miss our many political conversations and random adventures. To my musically inclined friends Jaden Hellmann, Alexandar Smith, Will Towns, and Cody Veal, our jam sessions and miscellaneous discussions were a welcome creative distraction from research.

To my friends back home in Michigan, I thank you for understanding my absence. Thanks to Kenny G., Sara Gilhooly, Alex, Nick, and Rachel Marowsky, Mike Sanderson, Ryan Seiler, Joe Sousa, Ryan Trainor, and Matt Wolford. Whenever I've been back to visit, I was always warmly received. I also extend gratitude toward the hospitality received during my internships. I thank BBN Raytheon, specifically Richard Lazarus, Andrei Lapets, and Marcus da Silva for allowing me to contribute to many interesting projects.

I cannot express enough gratitude toward my family for their encouragement, love, and support. My brothers Joey and Matthew, and my sister Theresa and her husband Colin. I also thank Beth Russo and Lauren Kisic, my Aunt Cathy, Uncle Dan, Uncle John, Uncle Steve, and Aunt Marie for a lifetime of support. A sincere and heartfelt thanks are due to my parents James and Marjorie Russo, who have always nurtured and encouraged my interests, whatever they may have been, and for their seemingly endless wells of love and support.

Lastly, I thank Paulina Rodriguez. Your support, love, and encouragement throughout this journey cannot be overstated. This document is as much a part of me as it is a part of you. I love you.

For all of those who I did not mention by name, please accept my sincerest apologies, and know that this document is a testament to your encouragement and support. Thank you all.

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to those who have shaped my life, but no longer walk with me through it. My grandparents Anthony and Jean Russo, Ben Benton, my Aunt Alice, and my second moms, Denise Marowsky and Debbie Gilhooly.

Table of Contents

Li	st of	Table	8	xiii
Li	st of	Figur	es	xiv
1	Intr	coduct	ion	1
	1.1	Summ	nary of the results	2
	1.2	Overv	iew	3
2	\mathbf{Pre}	limina	ries	6
	2.1	Basic	notation, terminology, and background	7
		2.1.1	Alphabets, symbols, and strings	7
		2.1.2	Vectors, operators, and mappings	7
		2.1.3	Operator decompositions and vector decompositions	14
		2.1.4	Convexity and semidefinite programming	15
	2.2	Quant	tum information theory	18
		2.2.1	Quantum states, operations, and measurements	18
		2.2.2	Entanglement and separability	20
		2.2.3	Teleportation	23
	2.3	The n	onlocal game model	24
		2.3.1	Strategies for nonlocal games	26
		2.3.2	Relationships between different strategies and values	31

3	Ext	Extended Nonlocal Games 34		
	3.1	The extended nonlocal game model		
	3.2	Strategies for extended nonlocal games		
		3.2.1	Extended nonlocal games and assemblage operators	36
		3.2.2	Standard quantum strategies for extended nonlocal games	37
		3.2.3	Unentangled strategies for extended nonlocal games	40
		3.2.4	Commuting measurement strategies for extended nonlocal games	41
		3.2.5	Non-signaling strategies for extended nonlocal games	42
4	On	the pr	operties of the extended nonlocal game model	44
	4.1	Quant	um-classical games	45
	4.2	Constr	ructing extended nonlocal games from quantum-classical games	48
		4.2.1	Teleportation games and quantum-classical games	49
		4.2.2	Extended nonlocal games and teleportation games	55
	4.3	Variat	ions on the extended nonlocal game model	62
		4.3.1	Quantum-classical-quantum extended nonlocal games	63
5	Βοι	ınding	the standard quantum value of extended nonlocal games	66
	5.1	Upper	bounds for extended nonlocal games: the extended QC hierarchy	67
		5.1.1	Intuitive description of the extended QC hierarchy	67
		5.1.2	Construction of the extended QC hierarchy	73
		5.1.3	Convergence of the extended QC hierarchy	75
		5.1.4	Examples: Upper-bounding the standard quantum values of extended nonlocal games	81
	5.2	Lower	bounds for extended nonlocal games: the see-saw method	85
		5.2.1	Examples: Lower-bounding the standard quantum values of extended nonlocal games	87

6	Mo	nogam	y-of-Entanglement Games	89
	6.1	Monog	gamy-of-entanglement games	90
		6.1.1	Strategies and values of monogamy-of-entanglement games	91
		6.1.2	The BB84 monogamy-of-entanglement game	93
		6.1.3	Comparing standard quantum and unentangled strategies for monogan of-entanglement games	ny- 94
	6.2	Parall	el repetition of monogamy-of-entanglement games	96
		6.2.1	Strong parallel repetition for certain monogamy-of-entanglement game with two questions	es 100
		6.2.2	No strong parallel repetition for monogamy-of-entanglement games with non-signaling provers	102
	6.3	Upper	and lower bounds on monogamy-of-entanglement games	103
		6.3.1	A monogamy-of-entanglement game with quantum advantage $\ . \ .$	103
		6.3.2	Synopsis of monogamy-of-entanglement games	104
7	Cor	nclusio	ns and open problems	106
R	e fere	nces		110
A	PPE	NDICI	ES	117
A	Sof	tware		118
	A.1	Softwa	are Listings	119
		A.1.1	The first level of the extended QC hierarchy for the BB84 extended nonlocal game	119
		A.1.2	The first level of the extended QC hierarchy for the CHSH extended nonlocal game	121
		A.1.3	The non-signaling value for the CHSH extended nonlocal game	125
		A.1.4	Implementation of the see-saw method for computing lower bounds on the BB84 extended nonlocal game	127
		A.1.5	The BB84 monogamy game (Example 6.1)	131

A.1.6	A monogamy-of-entanglement game defined by mutually unbiased bases (Example 6.8)	132
A.1.7	A counter-example to strong parallel repetition for monogamy-of- entanglement games with non-signaling provers (Proof of Theorem	
	6.7)	133
		135

Index

List of Tables

6.1	Results on	monogamy-of-entanglement	games	 105
-			0	

List of Figures

2.1	The teleportation protocol.	23
2.2	A two-player nonlocal game	28
3.1	A two-player extended nonlocal game.	38
4.1	A quantum strategy for a quantum-classical game	46
4.2	A quantum strategy for a teleportation game.	51
4.3	A teleportation game strategy	54
4.4	The extended nonlocal game H_t	59
4.5	A quantum-classical-quantum extended nonlocal game	65
5.1	Levels of the extended QC hierarchy.	72
6.1	A monogamy-of-entanglement game.	91
6.2	Parallel repetition of a monogamy-of-entanglement game	98

Chapter 1

Introduction

The model of two player games has served an important role in developing our understanding of theoretical computer science and quantum information. In such a game, we consider the players, referred to as *Alice* and *Bob*, who are not allowed to communicate to each other once the game begins, and who play cooperatively against a party referred to as the *referee*. The game begins when the referee asks questions to Alice and Bob to which they must respond. When Alice and Bob send back the responses to the referee, the referee evaluates the questions and answers against a criterion that is publicly known to the referee, Alice, and Bob that determines what constitutes a winning or losing outcome.

A primary challenge that arises when studying these games is to determine the maximum probability with which Alice and Bob are able to achieve a winning outcome. This probability is highly dependent on the type of *strategy* that Alice and Bob use in the game. Before the game begins, Alice and Bob are free to communicate with each other and decide on the type of strategy they will use.

A *classical strategy* is one in which Alice and Bob decide on a deterministic mapping of outputs for every possible combination of inputs they will receive in the game. The corresponding maximum probability achieved when Alice and Bob employ a classical strategy is referred to as the *classical value* of the game.

Another type of strategy called a *quantum strategy* is one in which Alice and Bob are allowed to use nonlocal resources. This type of strategy may involve Alice and Bob sharing an arbitrary entangled state prior to the start of the game along with sets of measurements that they may apply to their portions of the state after they each receive questions from the referee. The corresponding maximum probability achieved when Alice and Bob use a quantum strategy is referred to as the *quantum value* of the game. For certain games, the probability that Alice and Bob obtain a winning outcome is higher if they use a quantum strategy as opposed to a classical one. This striking separation is one primary motivation to study nonlocal games, as it provides examples of tasks that benefit from the manipulation of quantum information. Indeed, the model of nonlocal games have been widely studied, especially in recent years [CHTW04, BBT05, CSUU08, DLTW08, KR10, KRT10, KKM⁺11, JP11, BFS13, RV15, DSV13, Vid13, CM14].

The ability to calculate the quantum value for an arbitrary nonlocal game is a highly non-trivial task. Indeed, the quantum value is only known in special cases for certain nonlocal games. For an arbitrary nonlocal game, there exist approaches that place upper and lower bounds on the quantum value. One such approach (that we refer to as the QC hierarchy as done in [CV15] and was introduced in [DLTW08, NPA07]), is implemented as a hierarchy of optimization problems, referred to as *semidefinite programs*, which are optimization problems where the constraints are semidefinite. Convergence is guaranteed from the QC hierarchy, yet it may be intractable to compute. The lower bound approach is also calculated using the technique of semidefinite programming [LD07]. While this method is more efficient to carry out, it does not guarantee convergence to the quantum value (although in certain cases, it is attained).

In a nonlocal game, the referee is only responsible for sending questions, receiving answers, and evaluating whether the selection of questions and respective answers yields a winning or losing outcome. In this thesis, we consider a generalization of the nonlocal game model where the referee is provided with part of a quantum system prepared by Alice and Bob, and in addition, also has sets of measurements that he may apply to his portion of the quantum system to determine the outcome of the game. This type of game is referred to as an *extended nonlocal game*. Extended nonlocal games constitute a wider class of games of which nonlocal games are a subset. For instance, an extended nonlocal game where the dimension of the quantum system held by the referee is one-dimensional is precisely a nonlocal game. *Monogamy-of-entanglement games* are a special type of extended nonlocal game introduced in [TFKW13] that has been studied with respect to the problem of position-based cryptography.

1.1 Summary of the results

In addition to introducing the model of extended nonlocal games, we prove the following results:

• We prove that there exists a class of extended nonlocal game for which no finite-

dimensional quantum strategy can be optimal. This result further implies the existence of a tripartite steering inequality for which an infinite-dimensional quantum state is required in order to achieve maximal violation.

- We generalize the QC hierarchy, a technique for providing upper bounds on nonlocal games, to the case of extended nonlocal games. We also present a method based on the see-saw algorithm of Liang and Doherty [LD07] that provides lower bounds on the class of extended nonlocal games.
- We present a number of results about the class of *monogamy-of-entanglement games*, which are a specific type of extended nonlocal game. Specifically, we show that:
 - Monogamy-of-entanglement games obey strong parallel repetition when the size of the question set has 2 elements and the size of the answer set is arbitrary, and the sets of measurements used by the referee are projective.
 - Monogamy-of-entanglement games do not obey strong parallel repetition when the players use non-signaling strategies.
 - We present a class of monogamy-of-entanglement games where the size of the question set has 2 elements and the size of the answer set is arbitrary where Alice and Bob can always achieve the quantum value of such a game by using a strategy that does not require them to store quantum information.
 - There exists a monogamy-of-entanglement game in which the size of the question set has 4 elements and the answer set has 3 elements, for which Alice and Bob must store quantum information to play optimally.

1.2 Overview

We assume familiarity with the basic notions of quantum computation and quantum information as can be found in [NC00]. It may also be helpful to have a familiarity with the terminology and mathematics in the first two chapters of [Wat15], although we shall also attempt a self-contained presentation of the necessary tools needed to understand the content herein. Throughout this thesis, we also make frequent use of the mathematical tool of semidefinite programming. Supplementary resources for the interested reader can be found in lecture 7 of [Wat04] as well as [BV04].

In Chapter 2, we review the basics of quantum information, nonlocal games, and relevant notation that will be used in the remainder of this thesis. In Chapter 3, we introduce the model of extended nonlocal games that is built upon the model of nonlocal games.

In Chapter 4, we present an analysis of certain properties of the extended nonlocal game model and give an example of an extended nonlocal game for which no finite-dimensional quantum strategy can be optimal.

In Chapter 5, we present a method that provides upper and lower bounds on the value of an extended nonlocal game.

In Chapter 6, we study the class of extended nonlocal games referred to as monogamyof-entanglement games and prove a number of properties that these games exhibit.

Finally, in Chapter 7, we present conclusions and pose open questions that may be of interest for future research. Supplementary software used in this thesis is also provided in Appendix A, as well as on the software repositories hosted here [Rus15] and here [Rus16].

The following is a list of existing work directly related to the content in this document:

- V. Russo and J. Watrous. Extended nonlocal games from quantum-classical games. 2016, [RW16].
- N. Johnston, R. Mittal, V. Russo, and J. Watrous. Extended nonlocal games and monogamy-of-entanglement games. *Proc. R. Soc. A* 472:20160003, 2016, [JMRW16].

The following is a list of existing work completed during my Ph.D., but not directly related to my thesis work:

- S. Bandyopadhyay, A. Cosentino, N. Johnston, V. Russo, J. Watrous, and N. Yu. Limitations on separable measurements by convex optimization. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 2015, [BCJ⁺15].
- S. Arunachalam, N. Johnston, and V. Russo. Is absolute separability determined by the partial transpose?. *Quantum Information & Computation*, 2015, [AJR15].
- D. Gosset, V. Kliuchinikov, M. Mosca, and V. Russo. An algorithm for the Tcount. *Quantum Information & Computation*, 2014, [GKMR14].
- A. Cosentino and V. Russo. Small sets of locally indistinguishable orthogonal maximally entangled states. *Quantum Information & Computation*, 2014, [CR14].

• S. Arunachalam, A. Molina, and V. Russo. Quantum hedging in two-round prover-verifier interactions. arXiv:1310.7954, 2013, [AMR13].

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

In this chapter, we present an overview of the relevant subject matter of quantum information theory that will be used for the remainder of this thesis. We further establish basic terminology and notation. We shall make gratuitous use of the notation conventions for quantum information theory from [Wat15]. The reader is assumed to be familiar with the basic underpinnings of quantum information theory, as may be found, for instance, in the following references [NC00, KLM07, Wil13].

We also introduce the subject of convex optimization, which as we shall see, acts as a Swiss army knife for many problems of interest in quantum information, and indeed many that we will encounter in this thesis. For further information on convex optimization, the reader is referred to [BV04].

We shall then introduce the nonlocal game formalism. This model provides an excellent venue to abstractly study one of the most crucial features of quantum information: entanglement. We shall formally define the nonlocal game model and present relevant background work, making our treatment of the subject as self-contained as possible.

Contents

2.1 Basi	c notation, terminology, and background	7
2.1.1	Alphabets, symbols, and strings	7
2.1.2	Vectors, operators, and mappings	7
2.1.3	Operator decompositions and vector decompositions $\ldots \ldots$	14
2.1.4	Convexity and semidefinite programming	15
2.2 Qua	ntum information theory	18

	2.2.1 Quantum states, operations, and measurements			
	2.2.2	Entanglement and separability	20	
	2.2.3	Teleportation	23	
2.3	The	nonlocal game model	24	
	2.3.1	Strategies for nonlocal games	26	

2.1 Basic notation, terminology, and background

2.1.1 Alphabets, symbols, and strings

We use capital Greek letters Σ , Γ , Δ , etc. to denote finite and nonempty sets that we refer to as *alphabets*. We shall often use lower case characters such as x, y, a, b, etc. to denote elements of alphabets called *symbols*. For an alphabet Σ , a *string* over Σ is a finite sequence of symbols from Σ . The *length* of a string is the number of symbols in the sequence. We will typically use lower case characters s and t to refer to strings. For every string s, we denote the length of s as |s|. We define the *empty string*, denoted by ε , to represent the string where $|\varepsilon| = 0$, or in other words, the string that has length 0. For some nonnegative integer $n \ge 0$, we say that $\Sigma^{\leq n}$ denotes all strings of length at most n and we say that Σ^n denotes all strings of length n over the alphabet Σ . Note that for any alphabet Σ , one has that $\Sigma^0 = {\varepsilon}$. We denote the set of all strings over an alphabet Σ as Σ^* , that is

$$\Sigma^* = \Sigma^0 \cup \Sigma^1 \cup \cdots . \tag{2.1}$$

For strings s and t, we represent the *concatenation* of s and t as st, which is the string composed of s followed by t. The *reversal* of a string s is denoted as s^{R} .

2.1.2 Vectors, operators, and mappings

Vectors

We shall use $\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}, \mathbb{N}$, and \mathbb{Z} to denote the sets of real numbers, complex numbers, natural numbers (including 0), and integers respectively. We use \mathbb{Z}_n to denote the integers modulo n as denoted by

$$\mathbb{Z}_n = \{0, 1, \dots, n-1\}.$$
 (2.2)

For some alphabet Σ , we define a *complex Euclidean space* as the set \mathbb{C}^{Σ} , which refers to the space of all complex vectors indexed by Σ . These complex Euclidean spaces will be denoted as scripted capital letters, $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{Z}$, etc. We use lower case characters u, v, w, z to represent elements in a complex Euclidean space.

For some alphabet Σ and any vectors $u, v \in \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$, the inner product is defined as

$$\langle u, v \rangle = \sum_{a \in \Sigma} \overline{u(a)} v(a),$$
 (2.3)

where u(a) and v(a) refer to the entry of vectors u and v indexed by a for every $u, v \in \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$. We say that two vectors $u, v \in \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$ are *orthogonal* if and only if $\langle u, v \rangle = 0$. We say that a set of vectors $\{u_a : a \in \Gamma\} \subset \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$ form an *orthogonal set* if $\langle u_a, u_b \rangle = 0$ for all $a, b \in \Gamma$ such that $a \neq b$.

The Euclidean norm of a vector $u \in \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$ is given by

$$\|u\| = \sqrt{\langle u, u \rangle}.$$
(2.4)

A vector u is called a *unit vector* if ||u|| = 1. The *unit sphere*, $S(\mathcal{X})$, for a complex Euclidean space, \mathcal{X} , is the collection of all unit vectors:

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{X}) = \{ u \in \mathcal{X} : \|u\| = 1 \}.$$

$$(2.5)$$

We say that two vectors $u, v \in \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$ are *orthonormal* if in addition to u and v being orthogonal, they are also unit vectors. We say that a set of vectors $\{u_a : a \in \Gamma\} \subset \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$ form an *orthonormal set* if u_a and u_b are orthonormal for all $a, b \in \Gamma$ with $a \neq b$. We refer to an *orthonormal basis* as an orthonormal set $\{u_a : a \in \Gamma\} \subset \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$, such that $|\Gamma| = |\Sigma|$. The standard basis of \mathbb{C}^{Σ} is the orthonormal basis given by $\{e_a : a \in \Sigma\}$, where

$$e_a(b) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } a = b, \\ 0 & \text{if } a \neq b, \end{cases}$$

for all $a, b \in \Sigma$. We say that two orthonormal bases

$$\mathcal{B}_0 = \{ u_a : a \in \Sigma \} \subset \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{B}_1 = \{ v_a : a \in \Sigma \} \subset \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$$
(2.6)

are mutually unbiased if and only if $|\langle u_a, v_b \rangle| = 1/\sqrt{\Sigma}$ for all $a, b \in \Sigma$. For $n \in \mathbb{N}$, a set of orthonormal bases $\{\mathcal{B}_0, \ldots, \mathcal{B}_{n-1}\}$ are mutually unbiased bases if and only if every basis is mutually unbiased with every other basis in the set, i.e. \mathcal{B}_x is mutually unbiased with $\mathcal{B}_{x'}$ for all $x \neq x'$ with $x, x' \in \Sigma$.

Operators

We use $L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ to denote the set of all linear operators from the space \mathcal{X} to \mathcal{Y} . When convenient, we use the shorthand $L(\mathcal{X})$ to denote $L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{X})$. We shall denote linear operators as capital letters A, B, C, etc. Linear operators and matrices have a natural correspondence, that is, for every operator $A \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ where $\mathcal{X} = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$ and $\mathcal{Y} = \mathbb{C}^{\Gamma}$, one may associate the matrix $M : \Gamma \times \Sigma \to \mathbb{C}$ defined as

$$M(a,b) = \langle e_a, Ae_b \rangle \tag{2.7}$$

for all $a \in \Gamma$ and $b \in \Sigma$. For an operator, A, when referring to the corresponding matrix, we will overload the symbol A instead of using M as above. For complex Euclidean spaces $\mathcal{X} = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$ and $\mathcal{Y} = \mathbb{C}^{\mathcal{Y}}$, we define the *standard basis of a space of operators* by the collection $\{E_{a,b} : a \in \Gamma, b \in \Sigma\}$ that forms a basis of $L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$. The operator $E_{a,b}$ is defined as

$$E_{a,b}(c,d) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } (c,d) = (a,b), \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

for all $c \in \Gamma$ and $d \in \Sigma$. The *identity operator*, $\mathbb{1} \in L(\mathcal{X})$, is the operator that obeys $\mathbb{1}u = u$ for all $u \in \mathcal{X}$. In terms of its matrix representation, the identity operator has ones along the diagonal, and zeros everywhere else. The identity operator acting on space \mathcal{X} may be written as $\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{X}}$ or as $\mathbb{1}$ if it is clear what space the operator is acting on from the context.

For any operator $A \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ with $\mathcal{X} = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$ and $\mathcal{Y} = \mathbb{C}^{\Gamma}$, the *conjugate* of A is denoted as $\overline{A} \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ where the matrix representation of \overline{A} has entries that are complex conjugates of the entries in the matrix representation of A, that is

$$\overline{A}(a,b) = \overline{A(a,b)},\tag{2.8}$$

for all $a \in \Gamma$ and $b \in \Sigma$. The *transpose* of $A \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$, denoted $A^{\mathrm{T}} \in L(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{X})$, is the operator whose matrix representation is defined by

$$A^{\mathrm{T}}(b,a) = A(a,b),$$
 (2.9)

for all $a \in \Gamma$ and $b \in \Sigma$. For any operator $A \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$, there exists a unique operator $A^* \in L(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{X})$ that is referred to as the *adjoint*, where A^* satisfies the equation

$$\langle v, Au \rangle = \langle A^* v, u \rangle, \tag{2.10}$$

for all $u \in \mathcal{X}$ and $v \in \mathcal{Y}$. In the matrix representation, A^* is the *conjugate transpose* of A, that is

$$A^* = \left(\overline{A}\right)^{\mathrm{T}} = \overline{(A^{\mathrm{T}})}.$$
 (2.11)

The trace of an operator $A \in L(\mathcal{X})$ is the sum of its diagonal elements, that is

$$\operatorname{Tr}(A) = \sum_{a \in \Sigma} A(a, a).$$
(2.12)

For operators $A, B \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ we denote the *Hilbert-Schmidt inner product* as

$$\langle A, B \rangle = \operatorname{Tr}(A^*B). \tag{2.13}$$

For any operators $A, B \in L(\mathcal{X})$ we define the *Lie bracket* [A, B] as

$$[A,B] = AB - BA. \tag{2.14}$$

We say that operators A and B commute if and only if [A, B] = 0.

For any space \mathcal{X} , we define the following types of operators acting on the space \mathcal{X} :

- Hermitian operators. An operator $H \in L(\mathcal{X})$ is Hermitian if $H = H^*$. We use $\operatorname{Herm}(\mathcal{X})$ to denote the set of all Hermitian operators.
- Positive semidefinite operators. An operator $P \in L(\mathcal{X})$ is positive semidefinite if and only if it holds that $P = X^*X$ for some operator $X \in L(\mathcal{X})$. We use $Pos(\mathcal{X})$ to denote the set of all positive semidefinite operators.
- Density operators. An operator $\rho \in L(\mathcal{X})$ is a density operator if $\rho \in Pos(\mathcal{X})$ and $Tr(\rho) = 1$. We use $D(\mathcal{X})$ to denote the set of all density operators.
- Projection operators. An operator $\Pi \in \text{Pos}(\mathcal{X})$ is a projection operator if $\Pi^2 = \Pi$. We use $\text{Proj}(\mathcal{X})$ to denote the set of all projection operators.
- Unitary operators. An operator $U \in L(\mathcal{X})$ is a unitary operator if U is a linear isometry from \mathcal{X} to \mathcal{Y} , where a linear isometry is an operator $U \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ such that $U^*U = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{X}}$.

For any space \mathcal{X} , the aforementioned operators obey the following relationships

$$D(\mathcal{X}) \subset Pos(\mathcal{X}) \subset Herm(\mathcal{X}) \subset L(\mathcal{X}) \text{ and } Proj(\mathcal{X}) \subset Pos(\mathcal{X}),$$
 (2.15)

as well as

$$U(\mathcal{X}) \subset L(\mathcal{X}). \tag{2.16}$$

Norms

For any complex Euclidean spaces \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} and any operator $A \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$, we define a *norm* of A, denoted as ||A||, as a function which satisfies the following conditions:

- 1. $||A|| \ge 0$ for all $A \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$,
- 2. ||A|| = 0 if and only if A = 0 for all $A \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$,
- 3. $\|\alpha A\| = |\alpha| \|A\|$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ and for all $A \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$,
- 4. $||A + B|| \le ||A|| + ||B||$ for all $A, B \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$.

For any operator $A \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ and any real number $p \ge 1$, one may define the *Schatten p*-norms as

$$||A||_p = \left(\operatorname{Tr} \left((A^* A)^{\frac{p}{2}} \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$
 (2.17)

In particular, we focus on the Schatten *p*-norms for p = 1 and $p = \infty$ which are given the special names of the trace norm and the spectral norm, respectively.

• Trace norm. The trace norm of an operator $A \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ is defined by

$$||A||_1 = \left(\operatorname{Tr}\left((A^*A)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{1}} = \operatorname{Tr}(\sqrt{A^*A}), \qquad (2.18)$$

where \sqrt{A} is the unique positive semidefinite operator called the *square root* of A that has the property $\left(\sqrt{A}\right)^2 = A$.

• Spectral norm. The spectral norm of an operator $A \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ is defined by

$$||A||_{\infty} = \max\{||Au|| : u \in \mathcal{X}, ||u|| = 1\}.$$
(2.19)

When referring to the spectral norm, we often will drop the ∞ subscript from $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$ to just $\|\cdot\|$.

The tensor product

For a set of *n* complex Euclidean spaces, $\mathcal{X}_1 = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma_1}, \ldots, \mathcal{X}_n = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma_n}$, the *tensor product* of these spaces is given by

$$\mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{X}_n = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma_1 \times \cdots \times \Sigma_n}.$$
 (2.20)

One may consider the tensor product acting on vectors $u_1 \in \mathcal{X}_1, \ldots, u_n \in \mathcal{X}_n$ denoted as

$$u_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes u_n \in \mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{X}_n, \tag{2.21}$$

which refers to the vector

$$(u_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes u_n) (a_1, \dots, a_n) = u_1(a_1) \cdots u_n(a_n).$$
(2.22)

One may also consider the tensor product acting on operators. For complex Euclidean spaces $\mathcal{X}_1 = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma_1}, \ldots, \mathcal{X}_n = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma_n}$ and $\mathcal{Y}_1 = \mathbb{C}^{\Gamma_1}, \ldots, \mathcal{Y}_n = \mathbb{C}^{\Gamma_n}$, for alphabets $\Sigma_1, \ldots, \Sigma_n$ and $\Gamma_1, \ldots, \Gamma_n$, define a set of operators

$$A_1 \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X}_1, \mathcal{Y}_1), \dots, A_n \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X}_n, \mathcal{Y}_n).$$
 (2.23)

We then define the tensor product acting on operators A_1, \ldots, A_n as

$$A_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes A_n \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{X}_n, \mathcal{Y}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{Y}_n),$$
 (2.24)

where the tensor product of A_1, \ldots, A_n is the unique operator that satisfies

$$(A_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes A_n) (u_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes u_n) = (A_1 u_1) \otimes \cdots \otimes (A_n u_n), \qquad (2.25)$$

for all $u_1 \in \mathcal{X}_1, \ldots, u_n \in \mathcal{X}_n$.

For any complex Euclidean space \mathcal{X} , we may also use the shorthand $\mathcal{X}^{\otimes n}$ to denote the *n*-fold tensor product of \mathcal{X} with itself, that is

$$\mathcal{X}^{\otimes n} = \underbrace{\mathcal{X} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{X}}_{n\text{-times}}.$$
(2.26)

Mappings

We denote linear mappings acting on operators as $\Phi : L(\mathcal{X}) \to L(\mathcal{Y})$. We use $T(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ to denote the set of all such mappings. Each $\Phi \in T(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ has a unique adjoint mapping $\Phi^* \in T(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{X})$ defined as

$$\langle Y, \Phi(X) \rangle = \langle \Phi^*(Y), X \rangle,$$
 (2.27)

for all $X \in L(\mathcal{X})$ and $Y \in L(\mathcal{Y})$. For instance, for an operator $X \in L(\mathcal{X})$ where $\mathcal{X} = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$, the trace function from equation (2.12) may be described as a mapping of the following form

$$\operatorname{Tr}: \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X}) \to \mathbb{C}.$$
 (2.28)

For operators $X \in L(\mathcal{X})$ and $Y \in L(\mathcal{Y})$, the *partial trace* is a map defined as $\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{Y}} \in T(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{X})$

$$\mathrm{Tr}_{\mathcal{Y}} = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{X}} \otimes \mathrm{Tr} \,. \tag{2.29}$$

For a space \mathcal{X} , the *identity map*, $\mathbb{1}_{L(\mathcal{X})} \in T(\mathcal{X})$, is given as

$$\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X})}(X) = X \tag{2.30}$$

for all $X \in L(\mathcal{X})$.

We shall make use of a correspondence between $L(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{X})$ and $\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{Y}$ for spaces $\mathcal{X} = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$ and $\mathcal{Y} = \mathbb{C}^{\Gamma}$. This serves as a correspondence between operators and vectors, and is denoted by the "vec" linear mapping

$$\operatorname{vec}: \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{X}) \to \mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{Y} \tag{2.31}$$

defined by

$$\operatorname{vec}(E_{a,b}) = e_a \otimes e_b \tag{2.32}$$

for all $a \in \Sigma$ and $b \in \Gamma$. Using the matrix representation of $A \in L(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{X})$, the vec mapping can be thought of as stacking the rows of A to form a single vector. For example, for the matrix

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} a_{1,1} & \cdots & a_{1,n} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{n,1} & \cdots & a_{n,n} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{X}),$$
(2.33)

the vec mapping has the following effect

$$\operatorname{vec}\left(A\right) = \left(a_{1,1}, \dots, a_{1,n}, \dots, a_{n,1}, \dots, a_{n,n}\right)^{\mathrm{T}} \in \mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{Y}.$$
(2.34)

For arbitrary spaces \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} , we consider the following useful sets of linear mappings:

• Completely positive. A mapping $\Phi \in T(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ is completely positive if

$$\Phi \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{Z}}(X) \in \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{Y} \otimes \mathcal{Z}), \tag{2.35}$$

for each complex Euclidean space \mathcal{Z} and for any $X \in \text{Pos}(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{Z})$.

• Trace preserving. A mapping $\Phi \in T(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ is trace preserving if

$$Tr(\Phi(X)) = Tr(X)$$
(2.36)

for all $X \in L(\mathcal{X})$.

• Hermiticity preserving. A mapping $\Phi \in T(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ is Hermiticity preserving if

$$\Phi(H) \in \operatorname{Herm}(\mathcal{Y}) \tag{2.37}$$

for every Hermitian operator $H \in \text{Herm}(\mathcal{X})$.

2.1.3 Operator decompositions and vector decompositions

The following operator and vector decompositions are fundamental to many proofs that appear in quantum information, and indeed also appear as essential steps in the proofs in this thesis.

The singular value theorem states that for any nonzero operator $A \in L(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ with $r = \operatorname{rank}(A)$, that there exists positive real numbers $s_1, \ldots, s_r \in \mathbb{R}$ and orthonormal sets $\{x_1, \ldots, x_r\} \subset \mathcal{X}$ and $\{y_1, \ldots, y_r\} \subset \mathcal{Y}$ such that

$$A = \sum_{i=1}^{r} s_i y_i x_i^*.$$
 (2.38)

Such a decomposition is referred to as a singular value decomposition. We refer to the real numbers s_1, \ldots, s_r as the singular values of A and the sets y_1, \ldots, y_r and x_1, \ldots, x_r are usually called the *left singular vectors* and *right singular vectors* of A, respectively.

The spectral theorem states that an operator $A \in L(\mathcal{X})$ with $r = \operatorname{rank}(A)$ is Hermitian if and only if there exists real numbers $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_r \in \mathbb{R}$, and an orthonormal set $\{x_1, \ldots, x_r\} \subset \mathcal{X}$ such that

$$A = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \lambda_i x_i x_i^*. \tag{2.39}$$

Such a decomposition is called a *spectral decomposition*. We refer to the numbers $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_r$ as the *eigenvalues* of A and the vectors x_1, \ldots, x_r as the *eigenvectors* of A.

The Schmidt decomposition of an arbitrary nonzero vector $u \in \mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{Y}$ consists of a positive integer $r \geq 1$ and orthonormal sets $\{x_1, \ldots, x_r\} \subset \mathcal{X}$ and $\{y_1, \ldots, y_r\} \subset \mathcal{Y}$ such that u may be expressed as

$$u = \sum_{i=1}^{r} s_i x_i \otimes y_i. \tag{2.40}$$

2.1.4 Convexity and semidefinite programming

Convexity

We shall denote finite-dimensional real or complex vector spaces as either \mathcal{V} or \mathcal{W} . In this section, the space \mathcal{V} will typically denote either \mathbb{R}^n or \mathbb{C}^n , for some finite n > 1, and \mathcal{W} shall be a subset of \mathcal{V} . We say that a set $\mathcal{W} \subseteq \mathcal{V}$ is *convex* if for all $u, v \in \mathcal{W}$ and all $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ it is true that

$$\lambda u + (1 - \lambda)v \in \mathcal{W}.$$
(2.41)

Otherwise, we say that \mathcal{W} is *non-convex* or *not convex*. We say that a set $\mathcal{W} \subseteq \mathcal{V}$ is *open* if and only if for all elements $w \in \mathcal{W}$ there exists a real number $\epsilon > 0$ such that

$$\{v \in \mathcal{V} : \|w - v\| < \epsilon\} \subseteq \mathcal{W}.$$
(2.42)

We say that a set $\mathcal{W} \subseteq \mathcal{V}$ is *closed* if and only if it is the complement of an open set. For $\mathcal{W} \subseteq \mathcal{V}$ we refer to a *sequence* of vectors in \mathcal{W} as a function

$$s: \mathbb{N} \to \mathcal{W}$$
 (2.43)

where a sequence is denoted as $s(n) = u_n$ with $u_n \in \mathcal{W}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. A subsequence is a sequence that is obtainable from some sequence by removing elements without altering the order of the elements that remain. For $\mathcal{W} \subseteq \mathcal{V}$, we say that a sequence $s(n) \in \mathcal{W}$ is a *convergent sequence* or converges to $v \in \mathcal{V}$ if for any real number $\epsilon > 0$ there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\|s(n) - v\| < \epsilon \tag{2.44}$$

for all n > N. We say that a set is *compact* if and only if every sequence in \mathcal{W} has a convergent subsequence.

We define a probability vector $p \in \mathbb{R}^{\Sigma}$ for some alphabet Σ if it satisfies the property

$$p(a) \ge 0 \tag{2.45}$$

for all $a \in \Sigma$ as well as

$$\sum_{a\in\Sigma} p(a) = 1. \tag{2.46}$$

We use $p \in \mathcal{P}(\Sigma)$ to denote the set of all such probability vectors. We define a *convex* combination of vectors in \mathcal{W} as

$$\sum_{a\in\Sigma} p(a)u_a,\tag{2.47}$$

where Σ is some alphabet, $p \in \mathcal{P}(\Sigma)$ is a probability vector, and

$$\{u_a : a \in \Sigma\} \subseteq \mathcal{W},\tag{2.48}$$

is a collection of vectors in \mathcal{W} .

Hilbert spaces

In this thesis, we will be primarily concerned with finite-dimensional complex Euclidean spaces, however, we will encounter a few results that will require the use of a possibly infinite-dimensional space. We, therefore, introduce the notion of a *Hilbert space*, which generalizes finite-dimensional complex Euclidean spaces to spaces with any finite or infinite number of dimensions. Specifically, we will restrict our attention to *separable Hilbert spaces*, that is a Hilbert space that has a countable orthonormal basis. In this thesis, whenever we refer to a Hilbert space, it is assumed that we are referring to a separable Hilbert space. We will always refer to such Hilbert spaces as \mathcal{H} to distinguish them from finite-dimensional complex Euclidean spaces. Much of the discussion thus far on finite-dimensional complex Euclidean spaces may be ported over to infinite-dimensional Hilbert spaces, but we make note of a few key differences between them.

Let $\{e_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ be a countable orthonormal basis of a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . Then we can write each element $v \in \mathcal{H}$ as

$$v = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle v, e_n \rangle e_n.$$
(2.49)

We may also consider operators acting on a (possibly) infinite-dimensional Hilbert space. Given Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}_1 and \mathcal{H}_2 , one writes $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_1, \mathcal{H}_2)$ to refer to the collection of all *bounded operators* of the form

$$A: \mathcal{H}_1 \to \mathcal{H}_2, \tag{2.50}$$

such that

$$\|Av\| \le c \|v\| \tag{2.51}$$

for all $v \in \mathcal{H}_1$ and for some constant c > 0. We use the shorthand $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ to refer to the collection of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H})$ bounded operators. Every bounded operator $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ has a unique adjoint operator $A^* \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ satisfying

$$\langle u, Av \rangle = \langle A^*u, v \rangle, \tag{2.52}$$

for all $u, v \in \mathcal{H}$, behaving in a similar fashion to adjoints on finite-dimensional complex Euclidean spaces. A positive semidefinite operator $P \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is defined in an analogous way to positive semidefinite operators over finite-dimensional spaces, namely that

$$P = X^* X \tag{2.53}$$

for some operator $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. Given an orthonormal basis $\{e_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} \subset \mathcal{H}$, we say that $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is a *trace class* operator if and only if

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \langle |A| \, e_n, e_n \rangle < \infty, \tag{2.54}$$

where $|A| = \sqrt{A^*A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. For $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, define

$$||A||_1 = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \langle |A| e_n, e_n \rangle.$$
(2.55)

We may therefore say that a bounded operator $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is also trace class if $||A||_1 < \infty$. A density operator $\rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is both a bounded operator and a trace class operator.

Let \mathcal{Y} be a Banach space and let $\mathcal{X} = \mathcal{Y}^*$. Then we say that a sequence *converges* weak-* to a vector $f \in \mathcal{X}$ if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(v) = f(v), \tag{2.56}$$

for all $v \in \mathcal{Y}$. A consequence of the so-called *Banach-Alaoglu theorem* [Rud91] that we will use in Chapter 5 is that every bounded sequence has a weak-* convergent subsequence provided \mathcal{Y} is separable.

Semidefinite programming

Let \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} be complex Euclidean spaces, $A \in \text{Herm}(\mathcal{X})$ and $B \in \text{Herm}(\mathcal{Y})$ be Hermitian operators, and $\Phi \in T(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ be a Hermiticity preserving mapping. A *semidefinite* program (SDP) is defined by the triple (A, B, Φ) and is identified with the following pair of optimization problems.

Primal problem		Dual	Dual problem	
maximize:	$\langle A, X \rangle$	minimize:	$\langle B, Y \rangle$	
subject to:	$\Phi(X) = B,$	subject to:	$\Phi^*(Y) \ge A,$	
	$X \in \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{X}).$		$Y \in \operatorname{Herm}(\mathcal{Y}).$	

An equivalent formulation of the above primal and dual problems is the so called "standard form" which is written as

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\underline{\operatorname{Primal \ problem}} & \underline{\operatorname{Dual \ problem}} \\
\text{maximize:} & \langle A, X \rangle & \text{minimize:} & \sum_{j=1}^{m} \gamma_j y_j \\
\text{subject to:} & \langle B_1, X \rangle = \gamma_1, & \text{subject to:} & \sum_{j=1}^{m} y_j B_j \ge A, \\
& \vdots & & \\ & \langle B_m, X \rangle = \gamma_m, & & \\ & X \in \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{X}). & & y_1, \dots, y_m \in \mathbb{R}.
\end{array}$$

$$(2.57)$$

In this case, $B_1, \ldots, B_m \in \text{Herm}(\mathcal{X})$ replace the Φ operators and $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_m \in \mathbb{R}$ replace the *B* operators. A proof of the equivalence between the two SDP formulations may be found in [Wat04]. One may prefer to use either form depending on the specifics of the problem and convenience of representation.

2.2 Quantum information theory

2.2.1 Quantum states, operations, and measurements

We shall refer to the class of density operators interchangeably as quantum states. For some state $\rho \in D(\mathcal{X})$, we refer to ρ as a *pure state* if ρ additionally satisfies the constraint that

rank(ρ) = 1. Equivalently, the state ρ is pure if there exists some vector $u \in \mathcal{X}$ such that $\rho = uu^*$. Otherwise, if ρ is not pure, then we refer to ρ as a *mixed state*. From the spectral theorem, it follows that every quantum state may be written as a convex combination of pure states.

For some state $\rho \in D(\mathcal{X})$, one may consider a *register*, denoted as X, as a computational abstraction in which the actions on the state ρ are carried out. For spaces \mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y} , and \mathcal{Z} , we shall denote the corresponding registers as X, Y, and Z, respectively. For a register X, we use |X| to denote the size of the register X, where the size is indicative of the dimension of \mathcal{X} . We refer to registers of the binary values, $\{0, 1\}$, as *qubits*.

For some register X, we may consider *measurements* on this register as being described by a set of positive semidefinite operators $\{P_a : a \in \Gamma\} \subset \text{Pos}(\mathcal{X})$ indexed by the alphabet Γ of measurement outcomes satisfying the constraint that

$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma} P_a = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{X}}.$$
(2.58)

Performing a measurement on X in state ρ , the outcome $a \in \Gamma$ results with probability $\langle P_a, \rho \rangle$. We call a measurement $\{\Pi_a : a \in \Gamma\}$ a projective measurement if and only if all of the measurement operators are projection operators, i.e. $\Pi_a \in \operatorname{Proj}(\mathcal{X})$ for all $a \in \Gamma$. For a projective measurement $\{\Pi_a : a \in \Gamma\} \subset \operatorname{Proj}(\mathcal{X})$ and associated real number outcomes $\{\lambda_a : a \in \Gamma\}$ the observable corresponding to this measurement is

$$A = \sum_{a \in \Gamma} \lambda_a \Pi_a. \tag{2.59}$$

We define a quantum channel as a linear mapping $\Phi \in T(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$ that is completely positive and trace preserving. The set of all channels is denoted by $C(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y})$.

For some complex Euclidean space \mathcal{X} , any state $\rho \in D(\mathcal{X})$ may be *purified*, that is, we are guaranteed that there exists a complex Euclidean space, \mathcal{Y} , with dim $(\mathcal{Y}) = \operatorname{rank}(\rho)$, and a unit vector $u \in \mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{Y}$ such that

$$\rho = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{Y}}(uu^*). \tag{2.60}$$

We refer to the state uu^* as a *purification* of ρ . A proof that a purification can be performed for any state can be seen by writing ρ in terms of its spectral decomposition for some basis $\{x_1, \ldots, x_r\} \subset \mathcal{X}$ and set of nonnegative real numbers $s_1, \ldots, s_r \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\rho = \sum_{i=1}^{r} s_i x_i x_i^*.$$
(2.61)

Define a state $u \in \mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{Y}$, which can be written in terms of its Schmidt decomposition as

$$u = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \sqrt{s_i} x_i \otimes y_i, \tag{2.62}$$

where $\{y_1, \ldots, y_r\}$ is orthonormal. Equation (2.60) then follows from a routine calculation

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{Y}}(uu^{*}) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{Y}}\left(\left(\sum_{i=1}^{r} \sqrt{s_{i}} x_{i} \otimes y_{i}\right) \left(\sum_{j=1}^{r} \sqrt{s_{j}} x_{j} \otimes y_{j}\right)^{*}\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{Y}}\left(\sum_{i,j}^{r} \sqrt{s_{i}} x_{j} x_{i} x_{j}^{*} \otimes y_{i} y_{j}^{*}\right)$$
$$= \sum_{i,j}^{r} \delta_{i,j} \sqrt{s_{i}} x_{j} x_{i} x_{j}^{*} = \rho,$$

$$(2.63)$$

where we use $\delta_{i,j}$ to denote the Kronecker delta function defined as

$$\delta_{i,j} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } i \neq j, \\ 1 & \text{if } i = j. \end{cases}$$

2.2.2 Entanglement and separability

For complex Euclidean spaces $\mathcal{X} = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$ and $\mathcal{Y} = \mathbb{C}^{\Gamma}$, we say that a pure state $u \in \mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{Y}$ is *separable*, or equivalently that u is a *product state*, if it can be written as

$$u = v \otimes w, \tag{2.64}$$

for some $v \in \mathcal{X}$ and $w \in \mathcal{Y}$. Otherwise, we say that u is *entangled*. Equation (2.64) is over two systems, \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} . We refer to such a system as a *bipartite system*. However the notion of separability extends to multipartite systems. For an integer n > 1 and complex Euclidean spaces $\mathcal{X}_1 = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma_1}, \ldots, \mathcal{X}_n = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma_n}$, we say that a pure state $u \in \mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{X}_n$ is separable if it can be written as

$$u = v_1 \otimes \dots \otimes v_n \tag{2.65}$$

for some $v_1 \in \mathcal{X}_1, \ldots, v_n \in \mathcal{X}_n$. Otherwise, u is entangled. A pure state $u \in \mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{Y}$ with $\mathcal{X} = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma}$ and $\mathcal{Y} = \mathbb{C}^{\Gamma}$ such that $|\Sigma| \ge |\Gamma|$ is maximally entangled if

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{X}}(uu^*) = \frac{\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{Y}}}{|\Gamma|}.$$
(2.66)

For some positive integer m, the canonical bipartite maximally entangled state is written as

$$u = \frac{1}{\sqrt{m}} \sum_{c \in \mathbb{Z}_m} e_c \otimes e_c.$$
(2.67)

The notions of entanglement and separability also apply to operators. For n > 1 and complex Euclidean spaces $\mathcal{X}_1 = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma_1}, \ldots, \mathcal{X}_n = \mathbb{C}^{\Sigma_n}$, the operator $R \in \text{Pos}(\mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{X}_n)$ is *separable* if there exists *n* collections of positive semidefinite operators

$$\{P_{a,1}: a \in \Sigma_1\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{X}_1), \dots, \{P_{a,n}: a \in \Sigma_n\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{X}_n),$$
(2.68)

such that

$$R = \sum_{a \in \Sigma} P_{a,1} \otimes \dots \otimes P_{a,n}.$$
 (2.69)

For complex Euclidean spaces \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} , we refer to the bipartite system described by operators $P \in \text{Pos}(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{Y})$ satisfying the condition in equation (2.69) as being contained in the set $\text{Sep}(\mathcal{X}_1 : \ldots : \mathcal{X}_n)$. We refer to such elements in this set as *separable operators*. If the P operators are also density matrices, that is if

$$P \in \operatorname{Sep}(\mathcal{X} : \mathcal{Y}) \cap \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{Y}), \tag{2.70}$$

then we say that $P \in \text{SepD}(\mathcal{X} : \mathcal{Y})$. We refer to such elements in this set as *separable density operators*. In contrast to being separable, if instead we have that $P \notin \text{Sep}(\mathcal{X} : \mathcal{Y})$, then we refer to P as an *entangled operator*.

The following state

$$\tau = \frac{1}{2} \left(E_{0,0} \otimes E_{0,0} + E_{0,1} \otimes E_{0,1} + E_{1,0} \otimes E_{1,0} + E_{1,1} \otimes E_{1,1} \right), \tag{2.71}$$

is an example of an entangled operator, $\tau \notin \text{Sep}(\mathcal{X} : \mathcal{Y})$, since τ cannot be written as a convex combination of tensor products. The entangled operator from equation (2.71) is also maximally entangled, and is one state that is composed from an important class of states referred to as the *Bell states*,

$$u_{0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (e_{0} \otimes e_{0} + e_{1} \otimes e_{1}), \quad u_{1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (e_{0} \otimes e_{1} + e_{1} \otimes e_{0}),$$

$$u_{2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (e_{0} \otimes e_{1} - e_{1} \otimes e_{0}), \quad u_{3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (e_{0} \otimes e_{0} - e_{1} \otimes e_{1}),$$
(2.72)

where the state from equation (2.71) is given by $\tau = u_0 u_0^*$.

An important class of unitary operators are the so called *Pauli operators* defined by the matrices

$$\mathbb{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad X = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad Y = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad Z = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (2.73)$$

where $1, X, Y, Z \in U(\mathbb{C}^2)$. For any positive integer m, the generalizations for the Pauli-X and Pauli-Z operators are defined as

$$X_m = \sum_{c \in \mathbb{Z}_m} e_{c+1} e_c^* \quad \text{and} \quad Z_m = \sum_{c \in \mathbb{Z}_m} \gamma_m(c) e_c e_c^*, \tag{2.74}$$

where

$$\gamma_m(c) = \exp(2\pi i c/m). \tag{2.75}$$

From this, we define the generalized Pauli operators in $U(\mathbb{C}^m)$ as the set

$$\left\{ W_{k_1,k_2}^{(m)} : k_1, k_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_m \right\}.$$
(2.76)

where $W_{k_1,k_2}^{(m)} = X_m^{k_1} Z_m^{k_2}$. For instance, for m = 2, writing the generalized Pauli operators as

$$\mathbb{1} = W_{0,0}^{(2)}, \quad X = W_{1,0}^{(2)}, \quad Y = iW_{1,1}^{(2)}, \quad Z = W_{0,1}^{(2)}, \tag{2.77}$$

recovers the standard Pauli operators from equation (2.73). One may also consider a generalization of the Bell states to higher dimensions. We define the *generalized Bell basis* density operators as a set, $\left\{\phi_{k_1,k_2}^{(m)}: k_1, k_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_m\right\}$, where

$$\phi_{k_1,k_2}^{(m)} = \frac{1}{m} \operatorname{vec} \left(W_{k_1,k_2}^{(m)} \right) \operatorname{vec} \left(W_{k_1,k_2}^{(m)} \right)^*.$$
(2.78)

A quick calculation reveals that for m = 2, equation (2.78) gives

$$\phi_{0,0}^{(2)} = u_0 u_0^*, \quad \phi_{0,1}^{(2)} = u_3 u_3^*,
\phi_{1,0}^{(2)} = u_1 u_1^*, \quad \phi_{1,1}^{(2)} = u_2 u_2^*,$$
(2.79)

which are the density operators that correspond to the Bell states from equation (2.72).
2.2.3 Teleportation

One of the most intriguing protocols in quantum information is that of *teleportation*: a process in which one party transmits a qubit to another party using resources consisting of a pair of maximally entangled qubits and two bits of communication [BBC⁺93]. The traditional teleportation process may be generalized.



Figure 2.1: The teleportation protocol. Alice's goal is to teleport the state ρ to Bob. The dashed line in the center separates the actions of Alice and Bob. Alice and Bob prepare a maximally entangled state where part of the state is contained in Alice's register X and the other part is contained in Bob's register Y. Alice performs a Bell measurement and sends $k_1, k_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_m$, from this measurement to Bob. Bob receives k_1 and k_2 and applies of the generalized Pauli operators to his register Y. The end result is that Bob now possesses the state ρ .

Suppose that Alice and Bob prepare registers (X, Y) where Alice holds X and Bob holds Y such that

$$\mathsf{X}| = m = |\mathsf{Y}|, \qquad (2.80)$$

where the contents of (X, Y) corresponds to the maximally entangled state $\phi_{0,0}^{(m)}$. Alice obtains a new state, ρ , contained in register Z that she desires to send to Bob. In order to do so, both parties abide by the generalized teleportation protocol, that is depicted in Figure 2.1.

 Alice measures (Z, X) with respect to the generalized Bell basis as defined from equation (2.78)

$$\left\{\phi_{k_1,k_2}^{(m)}:k_1,k_2\in\mathbb{Z}_m\right\},\tag{2.81}$$

where the outcomes of performing this measurement are given by $(k_1, k_2) \in \mathbb{Z}_m \times \mathbb{Z}_m$.

- 2. Alice then sends measurement outcomes (k_1, k_2) to Bob.
- 3. Bob receives (k_1, k_2) from Alice and applies the generalized Pauli operator

$$W_{k_1,k_2}^{(m)},$$
 (2.82)

as defined in equation (2.76) to his register, Y, which completes the protocol, and teleports Z to Bob.

To see why the state ρ from Alice is teleported to Bob, one may consider a generalization of the case for m = 2. The scenario where m = 2 is the most standard teleportation setup, and has been covered, for instance, in [NC00], whereas the generalization is covered in [Wil13].

2.3 The nonlocal game model

The nonlocal game model is built upon the notion of *interactive proof systems*, initially introduced in [GMR85] and independently in [Bab85], and further studied in classical complexity theory [BOGKW88, For89, BFL91, Fei91, FK94, Raz98]. Informally, an interactive proof system is an abstract model of computation where two parties, referred to as the prover and the verifier, exchange messages to determine the validity of a mathematical statement. The interactive proof system model was made more powerful in [BOGKW88], where the authors introduced a multi-prover interactive proof system that consisted of at least two independent provers, and one verifier. When considering two provers, we refer to them by the names of *Alice* and *Bob*, and we call the verifier the *referee*. We refer to a one-round multi-prover interactive proof system with at least two provers (Alice and Bob) that play cooperatively against a referee as a *nonlocal game*. In [CHTW04], the authors formally introduced the notion of a nonlocal game where the provers may share entanglement. The nonlocal game model served to embody the notion of a *Bell inequality*. an inequality that illustrated the inability of a local hidden variable theory to account for certain consequences of entanglement [Bel64]. In [CHSH69], the authors Clauser, Horne, Shimony, and Holt presented a special type of Bell inequality that has since been named after the authors as the CHSH inequality. In [CHTW04], the CHSH inequality was first formulated in the language of nonlocal games. Nonlocal games have since been studied in the context of quantum information, and the result has been an active topic of research [CHTW04, BBT05, CSUU08, DLTW08, KR10, KRT10, KKM⁺11, JP11, BFS13, RV15, DSV13, Vid13, CM14].

More formally, a nonlocal game begins by the referee selecting a pair of questions (x, y) according to a fixed probability distribution that is known to all parties. The referee then sends question x to Alice and question y to Bob. While we assume that Alice and Bob may confer prior to the start of the game, when the game begins, the players are forbidden from communicating with each other. So Alice is unaware of the question that Bob received, and vice versa. Alice and Bob then respond to the referee with answers a and b, respectively. Upon receiving these answers, the referee evaluates some predicate based on the questions and answers to determine whether Alice and Bob win or lose. In addition to having complete knowledge of the probability distribution used to select x and y, we also assume that Alice and Bob have complete knowledge of the predicate.

The goal of Alice and Bob is to maximize their probability of obtaining a winning outcome. Prior to the start of the game, Alice and Bob may corroborate on a joint *strategy* to achieve this goal. One may consider a number of strategies for nonlocal games. For example, if Alice and Bob make use of classical resources, we call this a *classical strategy*. In such a strategy, the players answer *deterministically* with answers a and b determined by functions of x and y respectively. The players may also make use of randomness, but doing so provides no advantage over simply playing deterministically.

Another type of strategy that the players may adopt are quantum strategies. In a quantum strategy, Alice and Bob prepare and share a joint quantum system prior to the start of the game. We also assume that the players have local sets of measurement operators that they perform on their share of the state after the game has begun and they have received their questions from the referee to determine their answers a and b.

One may consider a number of sub-classifications of quantum strategies as well. For instance, the size of the shared quantum system may make a difference in how well Alice and Bob can perform, and indeed one can ask whether or not the size of the state yields any advantage. Another sub-classification of a quantum strategy is referred to as a *commuting measurement strategy*. In this type of strategy, the bipartite tensor product structure of a shared quantum system between Alice and Bob is relaxed to one in which the local measurements of Alice and Bob pairwise commute.

An even more general type of strategy that Alice and Bob may adopt is referred to as a *non-signaling strategy*. In this type of strategy, the only constraint on Alice and Bob is that they cannot communicate during the game, but may make use of any type of resource, even possibly those outside of the scope of resources described by quantum mechanics.

We refer to the *value* of a nonlocal game as the supremum value of the probability for the players to win over all strategies of a specified type.

2.3.1 Strategies for nonlocal games

Nonlocal games and correlation functions

We specify a nonlocal game, G, as a pair (π, V) where π is a probability distribution of the form

$$\pi: \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to [0, 1] \tag{2.83}$$

on the Cartesian product of two alphabets Σ_A and Σ_B , and V is a function of the form

$$V: \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to [0, 1], \qquad (2.84)$$

for Σ_A and Σ_B as above and Γ_A and Γ_B being alphabets. We use

$$\Sigma = \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \quad \text{and} \quad \Gamma = \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}$$
 (2.85)

to denote the respective sets of questions asked to Alice and Bob and the sets of answers sent from Alice and Bob to the referee.

For any type of strategy, the output probability distributions produced by Alice and Bob may be described by a function

$$C: \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to [0, 1], \tag{2.86}$$

where the function C is referred to as a *correlation function*. The entry C(a, b|x, y) corresponds to the probability that Alice and Bob output $a \in \Gamma_A$ and $b \in \Gamma_B$ given the input $x \in \Sigma_A$ and $y \in \Sigma_B$. Since a correlation function represents a collection of probability distributions, the operator C must satisfy

$$\sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} C(a,b|x,y) = 1$$
(2.87)

for all $x \in \Sigma_A$ and $y \in \Sigma_B$. In particular, Alice and Bob's winning probability is represented as

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} V(a,b|x,y)C(a,b|x,y),$$
(2.88)

where the correlation function is defined with respect to the corresponding strategy implemented by Alice and Bob.

In the coming sections, we shall make the notions of the value of a nonlocal game and their corresponding strategies more concrete.

Quantum strategies for nonlocal games

A quantum strategy for a nonlocal game consists of complex Euclidean spaces \mathcal{U} for Alice and \mathcal{V} for Bob, a quantum state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{V})$ contained in registers (U, V), and two collections of measurements,

$$\{A_a^x : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{U}) \quad \text{and} \quad \{B_b^y : b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{V}),$$
(2.89)

for each $x \in \Sigma_A$ and $y \in \Sigma_B$ respectively. The measurement operators satisfy the constraint that

$$\sum_{a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}} A_a^x = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}} \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} B_b^y = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{V}}$$
(2.90)

for each $x \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}$ and $y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}$.

At the beginning of the game, Alice and Bob prepare a quantum system represented by the bipartite state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{V})$. The referee then selects questions $(x, y) \in \Sigma$ according to the probability distribution π that is known to Alice, Bob, and the referee. The referee then sends x to Alice and y to Bob. Alice and Bob then generate answers $a \in \Gamma_A$ and $b \in \Gamma_B$, by making measurements on their portion of the state σ . That is to say, Alice makes a measurement on her part of σ with respect to the measurement operators $\{A_a^x : a \in \Gamma_A\}$. Similarly, Bob also performs a measurement on his part of σ using the set of measurement operators $\{B_b^y : b \in \Gamma_B\}$. The answers (a, b) are then sent to the referee. The referee now possesses the questions (x, y) in addition to the responses sent by Alice and Bob, (a, b). The referee uses this information to evaluate the predicate V(a, b|x, y), resulting in either a winning or losing outcome, represented by a 1 or a 0, respectively. A depiction of a nonlocal game is given in Figure 2.2.

The winning probability for such a strategy in this game $G = (\pi, V)$ is given by equation (2.88) where C is a quantum correlation function defined as

$$C(a,b|x,y) = \left\langle A_a^x \otimes B_b^y, \sigma \right\rangle, \tag{2.91}$$

for all $x \in \Sigma_A$, $y \in \Sigma_B$, $a \in \Gamma_A$, and $b \in \Gamma_B$.

The quantum value of a nonlocal game G, denoted as $\omega^*(G)$, is the supremum value of the winning probability of G taken over all quantum strategies for Alice and Bob. We may also write $\omega_N^*(G)$ to denote the quantum value of G when the dimension of Alice's space and the dimension of Bob's space is equal to N. Note that we can make the assumption on Alice and Bob's spaces that

$$\dim(\mathcal{A}) = \dim(\mathcal{B}), \tag{2.92}$$



Figure 2.2: A two-player nonlocal game. In a nonlocal game, the players, Alice and Bob, first select a strategy. In the case of a quantum strategy, Alice and Bob may share a state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{V})$ in registers (U, V). We assume that after this point, Alice and Bob are spacelike separated and unable to communicate with each other for the remainder of the game. The referee then selects and sends questions $x \in \Sigma_A$ for Alice and $y \in \Sigma_B$ for Bob according to the publicly known probability distribution, π . The referee also keeps a copy of x and y after sending. Alice and Bob generate their answers $a \in \Gamma_A$ and $b \in \Gamma_B$ respectively, and send their answers to the referee, where the predicate V(a, b|x, y) is computed to determine the probability that Alice and Bob win or lose.

since whichever strategy Alice and Bob use, the probability of winning is always going to be maximized when σ is a pure state. That is, Alice and Bob will not perform any better for any possible convex combination of σ , so we may as well assume σ to be pure, that is $\sigma = uu^*$ for some nonzero vector $u \in \mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{V}$. It holds that one can always take the Schmidt decomposition of u, where it can be observed that the state is supported on spaces of equal dimension.

We use $\mathcal{Q}_N(\Gamma_A, \Gamma_B | \Sigma_A, \Sigma_B)$ to denote the set of all quantum correlation functions when the dimension of Alice and Bob's system is equal to N.

Classical strategies for nonlocal games

A classical strategy for a nonlocal game consists of functions $f: \Sigma_A \to \Gamma_A$ and $g: \Sigma_B \to \Gamma_B$ that deterministically produce an output for every input. This type of classical strategy is referred to as a *deterministic strategy*, as the outputs are produced deterministically. Provided that we are interested in maximizing the winning probability, there is no loss in generality in restricting our attention to deterministic strategies for any classical strategy, as the classical value of any nonlocal game will always be obtained by such a deterministic strategy. This can be observed by the fact that any probabilistic strategy may be expressed as a convex combination of deterministic strategies, so Alice and Bob gain no benefit from using randomness. In other words, the average is never bigger than the maximum. The winning probability for such a strategy in this game $G = (\pi, V)$ is given by

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} V(a,b|x,y) C(a,b|x,y),$$
(2.93)

where C is the *deterministic correlation function* defined as

$$C(a, b|x, y) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } a = f(x) \text{ and } b = g(y), \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

for all $x \in \Sigma_A$, $y \in \Sigma_B$, $a \in \Gamma_A$, and $b \in \Gamma_B$. We use $\mathcal{L}(\Gamma_A, \Gamma_B | \Sigma_A, \Sigma_B)$ to denote the set of all deterministic correlation functions, including all convex combinations of deterministic correlation functions as well.

The classical value of a nonlocal game G, denoted as $\omega(G)$ is the supremum value of the winning probability of G taken over all classical strategies for Alice and Bob. As argued above the supremum value is necessarily achieved by some deterministic strategy, and therefore we may write $\omega(G)$ as

$$\omega(G) = \max_{f,g} \sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) V(f(x),g(y)|x,y),$$
(2.94)

where the maximum is over all functions $f: \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \to \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}$ and $g: \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}$.

Commuting measurement strategies for nonlocal games

A commuting measurement strategy consists of a single (possibly infinite-dimensional) Hilbert space, \mathcal{H} , a quantum state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{H})$, and two collections of measurements,

$$\{A_a^x : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{H}) \quad \text{and} \quad \{B_b^y : b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{H}),$$
(2.95)

such that

$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}} A_a^x = \sum_{b\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} B_b^y = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{H}}$$
(2.96)

for all $x \in \Sigma_A$ and $y \in \Sigma_B$, and that satisfy

$$[A_a^x, B_b^y] = 0 (2.97)$$

for all $x \in \Sigma_A, y \in \Sigma_B, a \in \Gamma_A$, and $b \in \Gamma_B$. For a nonlocal game, $G = (\pi, V)$, the winning probability for a commuting measurement strategy is given by equation (2.88) where C is a *commuting measurement correlation function* defined as

$$C(a,b|x,y) = \left\langle A_a^x B_b^y, \sigma \right\rangle \tag{2.98}$$

for all $x \in \Sigma_A$, $y \in \Sigma_B$, $a \in \Gamma_A$, and $b \in \Gamma_B$. We use $\mathcal{C}(\Gamma_A, \Gamma_B | \Sigma_A, \Sigma_B)$ to denote the set of all commuting measurement correlation function.

The commuting measurement value of a nonlocal game G, denoted as $\omega_c(G)$, is the supremum value of the winning probability of G taken over all commuting measurement strategies for Alice and Bob. Elsewhere in the literature, the commuting measurement value is also referred to as the field-theoretic value [DLTW08].

Non-signaling strategies for nonlocal games

For a nonlocal game $G = (\pi, V)$, the winning probability for a non-signaling strategy is given by equation (2.88) where C is a non-signaling correlation function that satisfies the following non-signaling properties

$$\sum_{b\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} C(a,b|x,y) = \sum_{b\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} C(a,b|x,y'),\tag{2.99}$$

for all $a \in \Gamma_A$, $x \in \Sigma_A$, $y \in \Sigma_B$, and $y' \in \Sigma_B$ and

$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}} C(a,b|x,y) = \sum_{a\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}} C(a,b|x',y), \qquad (2.100)$$

for all $b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}$, $x \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}$, $x' \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}$, and $y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}$ and where C is normalized and nonnegative. We use $\mathcal{NS}(\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}, \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}|\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}, \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}})$ to denote the set of all non-signaling correlation functions.

The non-signaling value of a nonlocal game, G, denoted as $\omega_{ns}(G)$, is the supremum value of the winning probability of G taken over all non-signaling strategies for Alice and Bob.

If one wishes, one may even consider a more general type of strategy, indeed the most general strategy one may consider in the realm of nonlocal games. This most general type of strategy, referred to as a *global strategy* is one in which the correlation functions need only satisfy

$$\sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} C(a,b|x,y) = 1,$$
(2.101)

for all $x \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}$ and $y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}$ and that the entries of C be nonnegative. Indeed, these two constraints are in all of the strategies we have considered thus far, as they are implicit from the definition of a correlation function from Section 2.3.1. Another way to think about non-signaling strategies therefore is to consider them as strategies that satisfy these two implicit restrictions of a global strategy, as well as the non-signaling constraints from equations (2.99) and (2.100).

2.3.2 Relationships between different strategies and values

In order to determine how well the players can expect to do for a particular choice of strategy, we consider the corresponding values for each strategy. There exist algorithms that allow one to calculate the classical and non-signaling values of an arbitrary nonlocal game by optimizing over the respective classical and non-signaling correlation functions [BCP⁺14]. These algorithms are not particularly efficient however, as there are exponentially many possible functions for Alice and Bob to consider. In general, with the exception of a specific class of nonlocal games [CSUU08], there is no known efficient algorithm to exactly compute the quantum value of an arbitrary nonlocal game. There is, however, an approach that allows one to approximate the quantum values of arbitrary nonlocal games [DLTW08, NPA07, NPA08], a technique we will investigate in greater detail in Chapter 5.

The sets of correlation functions for the strategies we have covered thus far have the following relationship

$$\mathcal{L}(\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}},\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}|\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}},\Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}) \subseteq \mathcal{Q}(\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}},\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}|\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}},\Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}) \subseteq \mathcal{C}(\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}},\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}|\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}},\Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}) \subseteq \mathcal{NS}(\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}},\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}|\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}},\Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}),$$
(2.102)

for alphabets Γ_{A} , Γ_{B} , Σ_{A} and Σ_{B} . The relationship of $\mathcal{L}(\Gamma_{A}, \Gamma_{B}|\Sigma_{A}, \Sigma_{B}) \subseteq \mathcal{Q}(\Gamma_{A}, \Gamma_{B}|\Sigma_{A}, \Sigma_{B})$ follows since Alice and Bob could use their shared entangled state only as a source of shared randomness. Recall, that Alice and Bob gain no benefit from using randomness in a classical strategy, so one may restrict attention to classical strategies defined in terms of deterministic ones. Should Alice and Bob use their quantum state in a quantum strategy as a source of shared randomness, this is no better than having them use a classical strategy, and gives the relationship between correlation functions. The relationship that $\mathcal{Q}(\Gamma_{A}, \Gamma_{B}|\Sigma_{A}, \Sigma_{B}) \subseteq \mathcal{C}(\Gamma_{A}, \Gamma_{B}|\Sigma_{A}, \Sigma_{B})$ holds due to the fact that bipartite operators where the identity operator is on either side of the operator obey the commutation relationship, that is

$$[A_a^x \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{B}}, \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes B_b^y] = 0 \tag{2.103}$$

for sets of operators $\{A_a^x : a \in \Gamma_A\}$ and $\{B_b^y : b \in \Gamma_B\}$ over all $x \in \Sigma_A$, $y \in \Sigma_B$, $a \in \Gamma_A$, and $b \in \Gamma_B$. The relationship that $\mathcal{Q}(\Gamma_A, \Gamma_B | \Sigma_A, \Sigma_B) \subseteq \mathcal{NS}(\Gamma_A, \Gamma_B | \Sigma_A, \Sigma_B)$ comes from observing that for a commuting measurement correlation function

$$C(a,b|x,y) = \left\langle A_a^x B_b^y, \sigma \right\rangle \tag{2.104}$$

we have that

$$\sum_{b\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} C(a,b|x,y) = \sum_{b\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} \langle A_a^x B_b^y, \sigma \rangle = \langle A_a^x, \sigma \rangle, \qquad (2.105)$$

or in other words, that there is no dependence on y. Similarly, we have that

$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}} C(a,b|x,y) = \sum_{a\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}} \left\langle A_a^x B_b^y, \sigma \right\rangle = \left\langle B_b^y, \sigma \right\rangle.$$
(2.106)

Given that the correlation functions obey these relationships, it then follows that the corresponding values of these operators must also satisfy a similar inequality relationship

$$0 \le \omega(G) \le \omega^*(G) \le \omega_c(G) \le \omega_{\rm ns}(G) \le 1.$$
(2.107)

Chapter 3

Extended Nonlocal Games

In this chapter, we introduce the *extended nonlocal game* model. This model is a generalization of the nonlocal game model in which the referee now also holds a quantum system provided to it by Alice and Bob at the start of the game. In Section 3.1 we shall present the extended nonlocal game protocol, and in Section 3.2, we define the corresponding strategies that Alice and Bob may adopt during the course of the game.

The general notion of extended nonlocal games was previously considered by Fritz [Fri12]. In particular, Fritz considered a class of games, called *bipartite steering games*, which are essentially extended nonlocal games in which the referee randomly chooses to ask either Alice or Bob a question. Extended nonlocal games may also be viewed as being equivalent to multipartite steering inequalities, in a similar way to the equivalence between nonlocal games and Bell inequalities. Multipartite steering inequalities and related notions were studied in the papers $[CSA^+15]$ and $[SBC^+15]$. The term "extended nonlocal game" along with a treatment more focused in the nonlocal game setting was carried out in [JMRW16].

This chapter is based on joint work with Nathaniel Johnston, Rajat Mittal, and John Watrous [JMRW16]

Contents

3.1 Th	e extended nonlocal game model	35
3.2 Str	ategies for extended nonlocal games	36
3.2.1	Extended nonlocal games and assemblage operators $\ . \ . \ .$.	36
3.2.2	Standard quantum strategies for extended nonlocal games	37
3.2.3	Unentangled strategies for extended nonlocal games	40

3.2.5 Non-signaling strategies for extended nonlocal games 42

3.1 The extended nonlocal game model

Extended nonlocal games are a generalization of nonlocal games in which the *referee also holds a quantum system*, provided to it by Alice and Bob at the start of the game. Similar to an ordinary nonlocal game, one may consider a variety of possible strategies for Alice and Bob in an extended nonlocal game. In particular, there are classes of strategies that are analogous to classical, quantum, commuting measurement, and non-signaling strategies from the nonlocal game model. Further details on how these are adapted for the case of extended nonlocal games will be elaborated on in this chapter.

An extended nonlocal game is similar to a nonlocal game in the sense that it is a cooperative game played between two players, Alice and Bob, against a referee. The game begins much like a nonlocal game, with the referee selecting and sending a pair of questions (x, y) according to a fixed probability distribution. Once Alice and Bob receive x and y, they respond with respective answers a and b. Unlike a nonlocal game, the outcome of an extended nonlocal game is determined by measurements performed by the referee on its share of the state initially provided to it by Alice and Bob. Specifically, Alice and Bob's winning probability is determined by a collection of measurements, $V(a, b|x, y) \in \text{Pos}(\mathcal{R})$, where $\mathcal{R} = \mathbb{C}^m$ is a complex Euclidean space with m denoting the dimension of the referee's quantum system—so if Alice and Bob's response (a, b) to the question pair (x, y) leaves the referee's system in the quantum state

$$\sigma_{a,b}^{x,y} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{R}),\tag{3.1}$$

then their winning and losing probabilities are given by

$$\left\langle V(a,b|x,y),\sigma_{a,b}^{x,y}\right\rangle$$
 and $\left\langle \mathbb{1}-V(a,b|x,y),\sigma_{a,b}^{x,y}\right\rangle$. (3.2)

3.2 Strategies for extended nonlocal games

3.2.1 Extended nonlocal games and assemblage operators

An extended nonlocal game H is defined by a pair (π, V) , where π is a probability distribution of the form

$$\pi: \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to [0, 1] \tag{3.3}$$

on the Cartesian product of two alphabets Σ_A and Σ_B , and V is a function of the form

$$V: \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{R}), \tag{3.4}$$

for Σ_A and Σ_B as above, Γ_A and Γ_B being alphabets, and \mathcal{R} refers to the referee's space. Just as in the case for nonlocal games, we shall use the convention that

$$\Sigma = \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \quad \text{and} \quad \Gamma = \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}$$

$$(3.5)$$

to denote the respective sets of questions asked to Alice and Bob and the sets of answers sent from Alice and Bob to the referee.

When analyzing a strategy for Alice and Bob, it may be convenient to define a function

$$K: \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{R}).$$
(3.6)

We will refer to the function K as an *assemblage*. The operators output by this function represent the *unnormalized* states of the referee's quantum system when Alice and Bob respond to the question pair (x, y) with the answer pair (a, b).

We can however, if we wish, normalize these states by noting that the quantity Tr(K(a, b|x, y)) refers to the probability with which Alice and Bob answer (a, b) for the question pair (x, y). Assuming that Tr(K(a, b|x, y)) > 0, we define a set of normalized states

$$\sigma_{a,b}^{x,y} = \frac{K(a,b|x,y)}{\operatorname{Tr}\left(K(a,b|x,y)\right)}$$
(3.7)

of the referee's system conditioned on this question and answer pair. Note that the function K completely determines the performance of Alice and Bob's strategy for H as it encodes the probability that Alice and Bob obtain answers $a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}$ and $b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}$ given questions $x \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}$ and $y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}$ as

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(K(a,b|x,y)\right),\tag{3.8}$$

along with the conditional states from equation (3.7). In particular, Alice and Bob's winning probability is represented as

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y), K(a,b|x,y) \right\rangle.$$
(3.9)

3.2.2 Standard quantum strategies for extended nonlocal games

A standard quantum strategy for an extended nonlocal game consists of finite-dimensional complex Euclidean spaces \mathcal{U} for Alice and \mathcal{V} for Bob, a quantum state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{V})$, and two collections of measurements,

$$\{A_a^x : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{U}) \quad \text{and} \quad \{B_b^y : b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{V}),$$
(3.10)

for each $x \in \Sigma_A$ and $y \in \Sigma_B$ respectively. As usual, the measurement operators satisfy the constraint that

$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}} A_a^x = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}} \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{b\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} B_b^y = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{V}}, \tag{3.11}$$

for each $x \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}$ and $y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}$.

When the game is played, Alice and Bob present the referee with a quantum system so that the three parties share the state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{V})$. The referee selects questions $(x, y) \in \Sigma$ according to the distribution π that is known to all participants in the game. The referee then sends x to Alice and y to Bob. At this point, Alice and Bob make measurements on their respective portions of the state σ using their measurement operators to yield an outcome to send back to the referee. Specifically, Alice measures her portion of the state σ with respect to her set of measurement operators $\{A_a^x : a \in \Gamma_A\}$, and sends the result $a \in \Gamma_A$ of this measurement to the referee. Likewise, Bob measures his portion of the state σ with respect to his measurement operators $\{B_b^y : b \in \Gamma_B\}$ to yield the outcome $b \in \Gamma_B$, that is then sent back to the referee. At the end of the protocol, the referee measures its quantum system with respect to the measurement $\{V(a, b|x, y), \mathbb{1} - V(a, b|x, y)\}$.

The winning probability for such a strategy in this game $H = (\pi, V)$ is given by

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle A_a^x \otimes V(a,b|x,y) \otimes B_b^y, \sigma \right\rangle,$$
(3.12)



Figure 3.1: A two-player extended nonlocal game. Alice, Bob, and the referee all share a tripartite state, $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{V})$, contained in registers $(\mathsf{U},\mathsf{R},\mathsf{V})$. The referee selects questions $(x, y) \in \Sigma$ according to the probability distribution π , and sends x to Alice and y to Bob. Upon receiving x and y, Alice and Bob respond with answers $a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}$ and $b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}$. After receiving a and b, the referee performs a measurement on its system $\{V(a, b|x, y), \mathbb{1} - V(a, b|x, y)\}$ to determine the probability with which Alice and Bob win the game.

or equivalently the winning probability for such a strategy is given by

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y), K(a,b|x,y) \right\rangle, \tag{3.13}$$

where the operator $K : \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{R})$ is a standard quantum assemblage operator defined as

$$K(a,b|x,y) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{U}\otimes\mathcal{V}}\left(\left(A_a^x\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{R}}\otimes B_b^y\right)\sigma\right).$$
(3.14)

This may be observed by noting that

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y), K(a,b|x,y) \right\rangle$$
(3.15)

$$= \sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y), \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{U}\otimes\mathcal{V}}\left(\left(A_a^x\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{R}}\otimes B_b^y\right)\sigma\right)\right\rangle$$
(3.16)

$$= \sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \operatorname{Tr} \left(V(a,b|x,y) \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{U}\otimes\mathcal{V}} \left(\left(A_a^x \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{R}} \otimes B_b^y\right) \sigma \right) \right)$$
(3.17)

$$= \sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\left(A_a^x \otimes V(a,b|x,y) \otimes B_b^y \right) \sigma \right)$$
(3.18)

$$= \sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle A_a^x \otimes V(a,b|x,y) \otimes B_b^y, \sigma \right\rangle,$$
(3.19)

where in equations (3.17) and (3.19), we used the relationship between the inner product and trace operations, and in equation (3.18), we factor out the partial trace operator from the overall trace.

For any strategy, there is an equivalent strategy where σ is a pure state and the sets of measurements that Alice and Bob possess are projective operators. This can be shown through a two step process. First, either party may purify the state. It makes no difference whether Alice or Bob hold the purification, but for the sake of argument, we assume that Alice purifies the state. Second, the non-projective measurements can be simulated by projective measurements in a standard way that is described by Naimark's theorem [Pau03].

For a given extended nonlocal game $H = (\pi, V)$, we write $\omega^*(H)$ to denote the *standard* quantum value of H, which is the supremum value of Alice and Bob's winning probability over all standard quantum strategies for H. We may wish to consider the standard quantum value of H when the dimension on Alice's space and Bob's space are equal to N, which we denote as $\omega_N^*(H)$.

3.2.3 Unentangled strategies for extended nonlocal games

An unentangled strategy for an extended nonlocal game is simply a standard quantum strategy for which the state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{V})$ initially prepared by Alice and Bob is fully separable. Equivalently, there exists an alphabet Δ and collections of states

$$\{\sigma_j^{\mathsf{U}}: j \in \Delta\} \subseteq \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{U}), \quad \{\sigma_j^{\mathsf{R}}: j \in \Delta\} \subseteq \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{R}), \text{ and } \{\sigma_j^{\mathsf{V}}: j \in \Delta\} \subseteq \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{V}), \quad (3.20)$$

and a probability vector $p \in \mathcal{P}(\Delta)$ such that

$$\sigma = \sum_{j \in \Delta} p(j) \sigma_j^{\mathsf{U}} \otimes \sigma_j^{\mathsf{R}} \otimes \sigma_j^{\mathsf{V}}.$$
(3.21)

Note that any unentangled strategy is equivalent to a strategy where Alice and Bob store only classical information after the referee's quantum system has been provided to it. This is because the state that Alice and Bob share between themselves and the referee is fully separable, that is, there are no quantum correlations that may arise between the constituent subsystems held by the parties. Alice and Bob are therefore justified in following a deterministic strategy on their local systems in a similar way that was considered in classical strategies for nonlocal games.

Furthermore, any such strategy is equivalent to one given by a convex combination of deterministic strategies, in which Alice and Bob initially provide the referee with a fixed pure state $\sigma = uu^* \in D(\mathcal{R})$, and respond to questions deterministically, with Alice responding to $x \in \Sigma_A$ with a = f(x) and Bob responding to $y \in \Sigma_B$ with b = g(y) for functions $f : \Sigma_A \to \Gamma_A$ and $g : \Sigma_B \to \Gamma_B$.

For a given extended nonlocal game $H = (\pi, V)$, we write $\omega(H)$ to denote the *unentangled value* of H, which is the supremum value for Alice and Bob's winning probability in H over all unentangled strategies. It follows by convexity and compactness that this supremum value is necessarily achieved by some deterministic strategy. The unentangled value for such a game is therefore given by

$$\omega(G) = \max_{f,g} \left\| \sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) V(f(x),g(y)|x,y) \right\|,\tag{3.22}$$

where the maximum is over all functions $f: \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \to \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}$ and $g: \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}$.

3.2.4 Commuting measurement strategies for extended nonlocal games

A commuting measurement strategy for an extended nonlocal game consists of a single (possibly infinite-dimensional) Hilbert space, \mathcal{H} , a quantum state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{H})$, and two collections of measurements,

$$\{A_a^x : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{H}) \quad \text{and} \quad \{B_b^y : b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{H}),$$
(3.23)

such that

$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}} A_a^x = \sum_{b\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} B_b^y = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{H}}$$
(3.24)

for all $x \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}$ and $y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}$ and that

$$[A_a^x, B_b^y] = 0 (3.25)$$

for all $x \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}, y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}, a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}$, and $b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}$.

For an extended nonlocal game, $H = (\pi, V)$, the winning probability for a commuting measurement strategy is given by

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y) \otimes A^x_a B^y_b, \sigma \right\rangle,$$
(3.26)

or equivalently the winning probability for such a strategy is given by

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y), K(a,b|x,y) \right\rangle, \tag{3.27}$$

where the operator $K : \Gamma_A \times \Gamma_B \times \Sigma_A \times \Sigma_B$ is a *commuting measurement assemblage* operator defined as

$$K(a,b|x,y) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}}\left(\left(\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{R}} \otimes A_a^x B_b^y\right)\sigma\right).$$
(3.28)

This may be observed by noting that

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y), K(a,b|x,y) \right\rangle$$
(3.29)

$$= \sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y), \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}}\left(\left(\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{R}}\otimes A_{a}^{x}B_{b}^{y}\right)\sigma\right)\right\rangle$$
(3.30)

$$= \sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \operatorname{Tr}\left(V(a,b|x,y)\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}}\left(\left(\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{R}}\otimes A_{a}^{x}B_{b}^{y}\right)\sigma\right)\right)$$
(3.31)

$$= \sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\left(V(a,b|x,y)\otimes A_a^x B_b^y\right)\sigma\right)$$
(3.32)

$$= \sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y) \otimes A^x_a B^y_b, \sigma \right\rangle,$$
(3.33)

where the analysis follows in a similar manner to the case of standard quantum strategies for extended nonlocal games as described in Section 3.2.2.

The commuting measurement value of H, which is denoted $\omega_c(H)$, is the supremum value of the winning probability of H taken over all commuting measurement strategies for Alice and Bob.

3.2.5 Non-signaling strategies for extended nonlocal games

A non-signaling strategy for an extended nonlocal game consists of a function

$$K: \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{R})$$
(3.34)

such that

$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}} K(a,b|x,y) = \xi_b^y \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{b\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} K(a,b|x,y) = \rho_a^x, \tag{3.35}$$

for all $x \in \Sigma_A$ and $y \in \Sigma_B$ where $\{\xi_b^y : y \in \Sigma_B, b \in \Gamma_B\}$ and $\{\rho_a^x : x \in \Sigma_A, a \in \Gamma_A\}$ are collections of operators satisfying

$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}}\rho_a^x = \tau = \sum_{b\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}}\xi_b^y,\tag{3.36}$$

for every choice of $x \in \Sigma_A$ and $y \in \Sigma_B$ and where $\tau \in D(\mathcal{R})$ is a density operator. We refer to the function K satisfying equation (3.35) as a *non-signaling assemblage*. For any extended nonlocal game, $H = (\pi, V)$, the winning probability for a non-signaling strategy is given by

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y), K(a,b|x,y) \right\rangle, \tag{3.37}$$

where K(a, b|x, y) is a non-signaling assemblage. The non-signaling value of H, which is denoted as $\omega_{ns}(H)$, is the supremum value of the winning probability of H taken over all non-signaling strategies for Alice and Bob. Note that the supremum is achieved since the set of non-signaling assemblages is compact which implies the that the supremum is achieved.

Relationships between different strategies and values

It is worth noting that the same inequality chain that holds for nonlocal games also holds for extended nonlocal games,

$$0 \le \omega(H) \le \omega^*(H) \le \omega_c(H) \le \omega_{\rm ns}(H) \le 1.$$
(3.38)

Due to the similarity in definitions of strategies, this line of reasoning is nearly identical to that of Section 2.3.2.

Chapter 4

On the properties of the extended nonlocal game model

This chapter is focused on studying the relationship between quantum-classical games and extended nonlocal games. In Section 4.1, we formally define the model of quantumclassical games, which is a variant of an ordinary nonlocal game, where now, in this model, the referee sends quantum registers to Alice and Bob in place of sending classical messages. This variant was considered by Buscemi [Bus12] under the name of *semi-quantum* games, and was also considered by Regev and Vidick [RV15], where they studied a class of quantum-classical games, referred to as quantum XOR games, where the winning condition is predicated upon an XOR function.

One of the main results of Regev and Vidick's paper was to show that there exists a class of quantum XOR games for which no finite-dimensional quantum strategy can be optimal. In Section 4.2, we analyze this result in the context of extended nonlocal games, and building on their framework, show that there also exists a class of extended nonlocal games where no finite-dimensional quantum strategy can be optimal. We then use the relationship between extended nonlocal games and tripartite steering to arrive at the result that there exists a tripartite steering inequality for which an infinite-dimensional quantum strategy can be optimal quantum state is required in order to achieve a maximal violation. From this, we conclude that there exists extended nonlocal games for which no finite-dimensional standard quantum strategy can be optimal.

Finally, in Section 4.3, we consider variants on the extended nonlocal game model. As we have covered, an extended nonlocal game is composed of three rounds of communication; where the type of communication in the first round from Alice and Bob to the referee is quantum, and the remaining two question and answer rounds are composed of classical communication. We ask here what happens if we exchange the type of communication for certain rounds and investigate these variations on the extended nonlocal game model.

This chapter is based on joint work with John Watrous in [RW16].

Contents

4.1	Quantum-classical games		45
4.2	2 Constructing extended nonlocal games from quantum-classical		
games			48
	4.2.1	Teleportation games and quantum-classical games $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	49
	4.2.2	Extended nonlocal games and teleportation games $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	55
4.3 Variations on the extended nonlocal game model		62	
	4.3.1	Quantum-classical-quantum extended nonlocal games \ldots .	63

4.1 Quantum-classical games

Quantum-classical games or QC games for short, differ from nonlocal games in that the referee begins the game by preparing a tripartite quantum state and sends one part of it to each player, keeping a part of the state for itself. (This step replaces the generation of a classical question pair (x, y) in an ordinary nonlocal game.) Once the players receive their portion of the tripartite state in a QC game, the players respond with classical answers a and b (as they would in a nonlocal game as well), and finally the referee determines whether the players win or lose by measuring its part of the original quantum state it initially prepared. (This step replaces the evaluation of a predicate V(a, b|x, y) in an ordinary nonlocal game.) Games of this form, with slight variations from the general class just described, were considered by Buscemi [Bus12] and Regev and Vidick [RV15].

Formally, a quantum-classical game (QC game) is specified by the following objects:

- A state $\rho \in D(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{Y})$ of a triple of registers (X, S, Y).
- A collection of measurement operators $\{Q_{a,b} : a \in \Gamma_A, b \in \Gamma_B\} \subset Pos(\mathcal{S})$, for alphabets Γ_A and Γ_B .

Viewing a QC game from the referee's perspective, it is played in the following manner:

- 1. The referee prepares (X, S, Y) in the state ρ , then sends X to Alice and Y to Bob.
- 2. Alice responds with $a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}$ and Bob responds with $b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}$.
- 3. The referee measures S with respect to the binary-valued measurement

$$\{Q_{a,b}, \mathbb{1} - Q_{a,b}\}.$$
(4.1)

The outcome corresponding to the measurement operator $Q_{a,b}$ indicates that Alice and Bob *win*, while the other measurement result indicates that they *lose*.



Figure 4.1: A quantum strategy for a quantum-classical game. Just as in a nonlocal game, if Alice and Bob are using a quantum strategy, they may prepare a state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{V})$ prior to the start of the game. Unlike a nonlocal game where the referee sends classical information, the referee in a quantum-classical game prepares a state $\rho \in D(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{Y})$ in registers (X, S, Y) and sends registers X and Y to Alice and Bob. Alice and Bob perform measurements to generate their answers $a \in \Gamma_A$ and $b \in \Gamma_B$, which are then sent back to the referee. The referee then evaluates whether or not Alice and Bob win or lose by making a measurement on its register S.

Just as there are various strategies that one may consider for the class of extended nonlocal games, one may also consider various classes of strategies for QC games. We will, however, restrict our attention to *quantum strategies* for a QC game. That is, a strategy that consists of a shared quantum state between Alice and Bob, as well as respective sets of measurement operators for Alice and Bob. This type of strategy is similar to a quantum strategy for a nonlocal game, but where now we take into account the fact that the questions that Alice and Bob receive in a QC game are provided via quantum registers.

More precisely, a quantum strategy for a QC game specified by

$$\rho \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{Y}) \quad \text{and} \quad \{Q_{a,b} : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \ b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{S})$$
(4.2)

as above, consists of the following objects:

- 1. A state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{V})$, for \mathcal{U} being the space corresponding to a register U held by Alice and \mathcal{V} being the space corresponding to a register V held by Bob.
- 2. A measurement $\{A_a : a \in \Gamma_A\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{X})$ for Alice, performed on the pair (U, X) after she receives X from the referee, and a measurement $\{B_b : b \in \Gamma_B\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{Y} \otimes \mathcal{V})$ for Bob, performed on the pair (Y, V) after he receives Y from the referee.

A quantum-classical game where Alice and Bob use a quantum strategy is depicted in Figure 4.1.

One may express the winning probability for a QC game when Alice and Bob adopt a quantum strategy as

$$\sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\times\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} \left\langle A_a \otimes Q_{a,b} \otimes B_b, W\left(\sigma \otimes \rho\right) W^* \right\rangle,\tag{4.3}$$

where W is the unitary operator that corresponds to the natural re-ordering of registers consistent with each of the tensor product operators $A_a \otimes Q_{a,b} \otimes B_b$ (i.e. the permutation $(\mathsf{U},\mathsf{V},\mathsf{X},\mathsf{S},\mathsf{Y}) \mapsto (\mathsf{U},\mathsf{X},\mathsf{S},\mathsf{Y},\mathsf{V})$). The quantum value of a QC game represents the supremum of the winning probabilities, taken over all quantum strategies. If G_{qc} is the name assigned to a QC game having a specification as above, then we write $\omega_N^*(G_{qc})$ to denote the maximum winning probability taken over all quantum strategies for which $\dim(\mathcal{U}) = N = \dim(\mathcal{V})$, so that the quantum value of G_{qc} is

$$\omega^*(G_{qc}) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \omega_N^*(G_{qc}). \tag{4.4}$$

Regev and Vidick [RV15] proved that certain QC games have the following peculiar property: if Alice and Bob make use of an entangled state of two finite-dimensional quantum systems, initially shared between them, they can never achieve perfect optimality—it is always possible for them to do better (meaning that they win with a strictly larger probability) using some different shared entangled state on two larger quantum systems. Thus, it is only in the limit, as the local dimensions of their shared entangled states goes to infinity, that they can approach an optimal performance in these specific examples of games. This was previously established for analogues of nonlocal games for which both the questions and answers are quantum [LTW13], and it is an open question to determine if the same property holds for any ordinary nonlocal game, where both the questions and answers must be classical.

In particular, Regev and Vidick considered a specific class of QC games called *quantum* $XOR \ games$, where the winning condition in such a game is predicated on an XOR function. Regev and Vidick showed that there exists a family of quantum XOR games such that if the dimension of Alice and Bob's quantum system, N, is finite, then the quantum value will be strictly less than 1. However, taking the limit as N goes to infinity, the quantum value approaches 1. A restatement of their result follows.

Theorem 4.1 (Theorem 1.2 of [RV15]). There exists a quantum-classical game G_{qc} such that

$$\omega^*(G_{qc}) = 1, \tag{4.5}$$

and for every positive integer N it holds that

$$\omega_N^*(G_{qc}) < 1. \tag{4.6}$$

4.2 Constructing extended nonlocal games from quantum-classical games

In this section, we will state and prove an analogous theorem to Theorem 4.1 for an extended nonlocal game. That is, we will show that there exists an extended nonlocal game where the standard quantum value approaches 1 when the dimension of the quantum systems shared by Alice and Bob approach infinity.

Theorem 4.2. Given a quantum-classical game, G_{qc} with question registers X and Y, there exists an extended nonlocal game, labelled as H_t , such that

$$\omega_N^*(G_{qc}) \le 1 - |\mathsf{X}| \, |\mathsf{Y}| \left(1 - \omega_{N|\mathsf{X}||\mathsf{Y}|}^*(H_t) \right) \quad \text{and} \quad \omega_N^*(H_t) \le 1 - \frac{1 - \omega_{N|\mathsf{X}||\mathsf{Y}|}^*(G_{qc})}{|\mathsf{X}| \, |\mathsf{Y}|}.$$
(4.7)

The main idea for proving Theorem 4.2 will involve a successive reduction from a quantum-classical game to an intermediate type of game, called a *teleportation game* (that

we will define formally in the next section), and finally to an extended nonlocal game. Sections 4.2.1 and 4.2.2 are dedicated to proving Theorem 4.2. Specifically, in Section 4.2.1, we will show how quantum-classical games are related to teleportation games, and in Section 4.2.2, we will show how teleportation games are related to extended nonlocal games. Once these relationships are established, we will be able to prove Theorem 4.2.

4.2.1 Teleportation games and quantum-classical games

In this section we will introduce *teleportation games*. A teleportation game is similar to an extended nonlocal game in that the referee receives a state prepared by Alice and Bob, the referee sends questions to Alice and Bob, and the referee receives answers from them as well. The one key difference now is that after the referee receives the state from Alice and Bob, it will produce registers and perform a Bell measurement on the parts of the state sent by Alice and Bob along with the registers that it produced. The reason we refer to this class of games as teleportation games is because the registers that the referee produces are the registers that the referee desires to teleport to Alice and Bob. A teleportation game is depicted in Figure 4.2.

Formally, a *teleportation game* is specified by the following objects:

- A state $\rho \in D(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{Y})$ of a triple of registers (X, S, Y).
- A collection of measurement operators $\{Q_{a,b} : a \in \Gamma_A, b \in \Gamma_B\} \subset Pos(\mathcal{S})$, where Γ_A and Γ_B are alphabets and \mathcal{S} is the space corresponding to register S.

From the referee's perspective, such a game is played as follows:

- 1. The referee is presented with the register $R = (X_1, Y_1)$ where X_1 and Y_1 , are copies of the registers X and Y. (The register R might, for instance, be entangled with systems possessed by Alice and Bob.)
- 2. The referee prepares (X, S, Y) in the state ρ and performs Bell measurements

$$\left\{\phi_x^{(|\mathsf{X}|)} : x \in \Sigma_\mathsf{A}\right\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{X}_1) \quad \text{and} \quad \left\{\phi_y^{(|\mathsf{Y}|)} : y \in \Sigma_\mathsf{B}\right\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{Y} \otimes \mathcal{Y}_1) \quad (4.8)$$

and where

$$\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} = \mathbb{Z}_{|\mathsf{X}|} \times \mathbb{Z}_{|\mathsf{X}|} \quad \text{and} \quad \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} = \mathbb{Z}_{|\mathsf{Y}|} \times \mathbb{Z}_{|\mathsf{Y}|},$$

$$(4.9)$$

on the respective pairs (X, X_1) and (Y, Y_1) yielding outcomes $x \in \Sigma_A$ and $y \in \Sigma_B$ which are sent to Alice and Bob.

- 3. Alice and Bob respond with $a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}$ and $b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}$.
- 4. The referee measures S with respect to the binary-valued measurement

$$\{Q_{a,b}, \mathbb{1} - Q_{a,b}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{S}).$$
(4.10)

The outcome corresponding to the measurement operator $Q_{a,b}$ indicates that Alice and Bob *win*, while the other measurement result indicates that they *lose*.

Just as is the case for both extended nonlocal games and quantum-classical games, one may consider various types of strategies for Alice and Bob. For the purposes of this discussion, we will be focusing on *quantum strategies* in which Alice and Bob begin the game in possession of finite-dimensional quantum systems that have been initialized as they choose. They may then measure these systems in order to obtain answers to the referee's questions.

In more precise terms, a quantum strategy for a teleportation game, specified by

$$\rho \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{Y}) \quad \text{and} \quad \{Q_{a,b} : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}, \ b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{S}) \tag{4.11}$$

as above, consists of these objects:

- 1. A state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes (\mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \mathcal{Y}_1) \otimes \mathcal{V})$ where $(\mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \mathcal{Y}_1)$ is the space corresponding to registers (X_1, Y_1) presented to the referee at the start of the game, where \mathcal{U} is the space corresponding to register U held by Alice, and where \mathcal{V} is the space corresponding to register V held by Bob.
- 2. A measurement $\{A_a^x : a \in \Gamma_A\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{U})$ for each $x \in \Sigma_A$, performed by Alice, when she receives the question x, and a measurement $\{B_b^y : b \in \Gamma_B\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{V})$ for each $y \in \Sigma_B$, performed by Bob when he receives the question y.

If G_t is the name assigned to a teleportation game having the specifications as above, then we write $\omega_N^*(G_t)$ to denote the *maximum* winning probability taken over all quantum strategies for which dim $(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{V}) = N$, so that the quantum value of G_t is

$$\omega^*(G_t) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \omega_N^*(G_t).$$
(4.12)

Lemma 4.3. Given any quantum-classical game, G_{qc} , with question registers X and Y, there exists a teleportation game G_t such that

$$\omega_N^*(G_{qc}) \le \omega_{N|\mathbf{X}||\mathbf{Y}|}^*(G_t) \quad \text{and} \quad \omega_N^*(G_t) \le \omega_{N|\mathbf{X}||\mathbf{Y}|}^*(G_{qc}), \tag{4.13}$$

for all $N \geq 1$.



Figure 4.2: A quantum strategy for a teleportation game. Prior to the start of the game, the state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes (\mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \mathcal{Y}_1) \otimes \mathcal{V})$ is prepared. The referee obtains registers (X_1, Y_1) . The referee prepares a state $\rho \in D(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{Y})$ contained in registers (X, S, Y) and performs a generalized Bell measurement on registers (X, X_1) and (Y, Y_1) . The outcomes of this measurement, $x \in \Sigma_A$ is sent to Alice and $y \in \Sigma_B$ is sent to Bob, who in turn respond with answers $a \in \Gamma_A$ and $b \in \Gamma_B$ to the referee. The referee then performs a measurement on the register S to determine whether Alice and Bob win or lose.

Prior to proceeding to the proof, we give a brief sketch to provide some intuition. In order to prove Lemma 4.3, we must prove both that $\omega_N^*(G_{qc}) \leq \omega_{N|\mathbf{X}||\mathbf{Y}|}^*(G_t)$ and that $\omega_N^*(G_t) \leq \omega_{N|\mathbf{X}||\mathbf{Y}|}^*(G_{qc})$.

In the first inequality, we assume that Alice and Bob play honestly. That is to say, we assume that Alice and Bob play along and allow the referee to teleport registers to Alice and Bob. For this to happen, the initial state is prepared as a maximally entangled state and Alice and Bob also apply the appropriate Pauli teleportation corrections on their respective systems after they receive the questions from the referee. This direction of the proof is simply illustrating how such a strategy is carried out when Alice and Bob play honestly and is depicted in Figure 4.3.

In the second inequality, we remove the assumption that Alice and Bob play honestly. That is to say that we are not guaranteed that Alice and Bob prepare maximally entangled states, nor are we to assume that the registers they possess are not entangled in some arbitrarily complex manner. In other words, we are concerned now with the possibility that Alice and Bob may attempt to cheat, and play dishonestly. The general idea of this direction is that Alice and Bob will perform what may be thought of a teleportation protocol to themselves. That is, after Alice and Bob perform measurements in the Bell basis on their registers, they will use the outcome of these measurements to apply the appropriate generalized Pauli correction operator to their systems.

Proof. Let G_t be the teleportation game that is defined in terms of the same state and measurement operators

$$\rho \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{Y}) \quad \text{and} \quad \{Q_{a,b} : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \ b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{S}) \tag{4.14}$$

that also define G_{qc} .

Let us first show that $\omega_N^*(G_{qc}) \leq \omega_{N|\mathsf{X}||\mathsf{Y}|}^*(G_t)$. Consider an arbitrary strategy for any quantum-classical game G_{qc} . We show how one may adapt this strategy into a strategy for the teleportation game G_t . The following strategy is depicted in Figure 4.3

The state σ is prepared in the following manner

$$\sigma \in \mathcal{D}((\mathcal{U}_1 \otimes \mathcal{X}_0) \otimes (\mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \mathcal{Y}_1) \otimes (\mathcal{Y}_0 \otimes \mathcal{V}_1))$$

$$(4.15)$$

in registers $(U_1, X_0, X_1, Y_1, Y_0, V_1)$ such that

$$|X_0| = |X| = |X_1|$$
 and $|Y_0| = |Y| = |Y_1|$, (4.16)

where the contents of (X_0, X_1) and (Y_0, Y_1) are respective maximally entangled states

$$\psi_{\mathsf{X}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\mathsf{X}|}} \sum_{c \in \mathbb{Z}_{|\mathsf{X}|}} e_c \otimes e_c \quad \text{and} \quad \psi_{\mathsf{Y}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\mathsf{Y}|}} \sum_{d \in \mathbb{Z}_{|\mathsf{Y}|}} e_d \otimes e_d.$$
(4.17)

When the referee receives X_1 and Y_1 , it prepares the quantum state $\rho \in D(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{Y})$ contained in registers (X, S, Y).

The referee then measures each pair (X, X_1) and (Y, Y_1) with respect to the Bell basis as from equation (4.8) and obtains outcomes x and y, where

$$x = (k_1, k_2) \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \quad \text{and} \quad y = (l_1, l_2) \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}, \tag{4.18}$$

which are then sent to Alice and Bob. Alice and Bob then apply one of the generalized Pauli operators

$$\left\{ W_{k_1,k_2}^{(|\mathsf{X}|)} : (k_1,k_2) \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \right\} \quad \text{and} \quad \left\{ W_{l_1,l_2}^{(|\mathsf{Y}|)} : (l_1,l_2) \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \right\},$$
(4.19)

to their registers X_0 and Y_0 . This completes the teleportation protocol, and teleports the register X to Alice and Y to Bob. Finally, Alice and Bob respond with $a \in \Gamma_A$ and $b \in \Gamma_B$ by performing measurements from the sets

$$\{A_a^x : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{U}_1 \otimes \mathcal{X}_0) \quad \text{and} \quad \{B_b^y : b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{V}_1 \otimes \mathcal{Y}_0),$$
(4.20)

for each $x \in \Sigma_A$ and $y \in \Sigma_B$. The referee then performs a measurement from the set

$$\{Q_{a,b}, \mathbb{1} - Q_{a,b}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{S}).$$
(4.21)

Since Alice and Bob receive registers X and Y by the teleportation protocol, it is clear that they win with at least the same probability as in G_{qc} . It follows that $\omega_N^*(G_{qc}) \leq \omega_{N|X||Y|}^*(G_t)$.

Now we show that $\omega_N^*(G_t) \leq \omega_{N|\mathbf{X}||\mathbf{Y}|}^*(G_{qc})$. Consider an arbitrary strategy for the teleportation game G_t from above. We show how one may adapt this strategy into a strategy for a quantum-classical game G_{qc} .

Let the referee prepare a quantum state $\rho \in D(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{Y})$ contained in registers (X, S, Y), and let

$$\sigma \in \mathcal{D}((\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{X}_1) \otimes (\mathcal{Y}_1 \otimes \mathcal{V})) \tag{4.22}$$

be the state shared between Alice, Bob, and the referee contained in registers (U, X_1, Y_1, V) . The registers X and Y are sent to Alice and Bob respectively. Once Alice and Bob receive X and Y, they prepare a two step measurement:



Figure 4.3: The strategy that Alice and Bob abide by for a teleportation game when they play honestly. Alice and Bob prepare registers (U_1, X_0, X_1) and (V_1, Y_0, Y_1) where register pairs (X_0, X_1) and (Y_0, Y_1) consist of pairs of maximally entangled states. The referee receives registers (X_1, Y_1) and prepares registers (X, S, Y) and performs a measurement in the Bell basis on register pairs (X, X_1) and (Y, Y_1) in order to teleport X to Alice and Y to Bob. The outcome of these measurements result in (x, y) where x is sent to Alice and y is sent to Bob. Alice and Bob then apply the appropriate Pauli corrections on their registers X_0 and Y_0 , which teleports the registers X and Y into their possession. Finally, Alice and Bob respond with answers a and b to the referee, which is followed by the referee performing a measurement $\{Q_{a,b}, 1 - Q_{a,b}\} \subset Pos(S)$.

1. Alice and Bob measure $(\mathsf{X},\mathsf{X}_1)$ and $(\mathsf{Y},\mathsf{Y}_1)$ in the Bell basis yielding measurement outcomes

$$x \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \quad \text{and} \quad y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}.$$
 (4.23)

2. Alice and Bob perform measurements

$$\{A_a^x : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{U}) \quad \text{and} \quad \{B_b^y : b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{V})$$
(4.24)

and obtain respective outcomes $a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}$ and $b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}$.

The two-step measurement operators corresponding to outcomes a and b are written as

$$\sum_{x \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}} A_a^x \otimes \phi_x^{|\mathsf{X}|} \in \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \mathcal{X}) \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}} B_b^y \otimes \phi_y^{|\mathsf{Y}|} \in \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{Y}_1 \otimes \mathcal{Y}), \quad (4.25)$$

where $\phi_x^{|\mathbf{X}|}$ and $\phi_y^{|\mathbf{Y}|}$ are Bell measurements. Finally, the referee performs a measurement from the set

$$\{Q_{a,b}, \mathbb{1} - Q_{a,b}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{S}).$$
(4.26)

It is evident from the above procedure that the information stored in $x \in \Sigma_A$ and $y \in \Sigma_B$ is precisely what the referee would have sent in G_t . Furthermore, the cost of this procedure is given by the dimension of the state σ , that is

$$N |\mathsf{X}| |\mathsf{Y}| = \dim(\mathcal{U} \otimes (\mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \mathcal{Y}_1) \otimes \mathcal{V}).$$
(4.27)

It then follows that $\omega_{N|\mathbf{X}||\mathbf{Y}|}^*(G_t) \leq \omega_N^*(G_{qc}).$

4.2.2 Extended nonlocal games and teleportation games

In the previous section, we established a relationship between certain quantum-classical games and teleportation games. Building on this, we now show how teleportation games and certain extended nonlocal games are related. Once we have this chain of relationships, we will be able to prove Theorem 4.2. The following lemma establishes a relationship between teleportation games and extended nonlocal games.

Lemma 4.4. Given any teleportation game, G_t , with teleported registers X and Y, there exists an extended nonlocal game, H_t , such that

$$\omega_N^*(H_t) = 1 - \frac{1 - \omega_N^*(G_t)}{|\mathsf{X}|^2 |\mathsf{Y}|^2},\tag{4.28}$$

for all N.

In order to prove Lemma 4.4, as was done previously in the proof of Lemma 4.3, we assume that G_t is defined by

$$\rho \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{Y}) \quad \text{and} \quad \{Q_{a,b} : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}, \ b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{S}).$$
(4.29)

We shall also define a specific extended nonlocal game, H_t , that consists of a teleportation procedure. From the referee's perspective, such a game is played as follows:

1. Alice and Bob present the referee with the register $\mathsf{R} = (\mathsf{X}_1, \mathsf{Y}_1)$ such that

$$|X_1| = |X|$$
 and $|Y_1| = |Y|$. (4.30)

Note that the register R may be entangled with systems possessed by Alice and Bob, as is the case for ordinary extended nonlocal games.

2. The referee randomly generates a pair $(x, y) \in \Sigma_A \times \Sigma_B$ where

$$\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} = \mathbb{Z}_{|\mathsf{X}|} \times \mathbb{Z}_{|\mathsf{X}|} \quad \text{and} \quad \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} = \mathbb{Z}_{|\mathsf{Y}|} \times \mathbb{Z}_{|\mathsf{Y}|}$$
(4.31)

according to the uniform distribution and sends $x \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}$ to Alice and $y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}$ to Bob. Alice responds with $a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}$ and Bob responds with $b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}$.

3. The referee prepares a state $\rho \in D(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{Y})$ and then performs a measurement with respect to the binary-valued measurement $\{P_{a,b,x,y}, \mathbb{1} - P_{a,b,x,y}\}$ where

$$P_{a,b,x,y} = 1 - \phi_x^{(|\mathbf{X}|)} \otimes (1 - Q_{a,b}) \otimes \phi_y^{(|\mathbf{Y}|)},$$

$$1 - P_{a,b,x,y} = \phi_x^{(|\mathbf{X}|)} \otimes (1 - Q_{a,b}) \otimes \phi_y^{(|\mathbf{Y}|)},$$
(4.32)

where $\{Q_{a,b}, \mathbb{1} - Q_{a,b}\} \subset \text{Pos}(\mathcal{S})$. The outcome corresponding to the measurement $P_{a,b,x,y}$ indicates that Alice and Bob win, while the other measurement indicates that they lose.

As further intuition for the above protocol, we shall see that the last step may be thought of as a form of *post-selcted teleportation* where the randomly selected questions x and yare compared to x_1 and y_1 which are hypothetical measurement results that would be obtained if the referee were to perform teleportation. Implicit in the winning and losing measurements is the relationship between (x, y) and (x_1, y_1) that

- 1. If $x \neq x_1$ or $y \neq y_1$: The referee immediately accepts, and therefore Alice and Bob win.
- 2. If $x = x_1$ and $y = y_1$: The referee performs a measurement with respect to the binary-valued measurement $\{Q_{a,b}, \mathbb{1} Q_{a,b}\}$ on register S.

That is, in the event where $x \neq x_1$ or $y \neq y_1$, this corresponds to a failure to teleport X or Y to Alice or Bob. Likewise, the event where $x = x_1$ and $y = y_1$ corresponds to the event where teleportation protocol would have succeeded, since if the referee *were* to teleport, it would have sent x_1 and y_1 to Alice and Bob, which would influence the measurement that they would apply to their system. Since in this case $x = x_1$ and $y = y_1$ it is as if the referee were to teleport X to Alice and Y to Bob.

Proof of Lemma 4.4. Let H_t be the extended nonlocal game as introduced above, and let it be defined in terms of the same state and measurement operators

$$\rho \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{Y}) \quad \text{and} \quad \{Q_{a,b} : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \ b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{S}) \tag{4.33}$$

that also define G_t such that the measurement operators $\{P_{a,b,x,y}, \mathbb{1} - P_{a,b,x,y}\}$ in H_t are defined in terms of $\{Q_{a,b}, \mathbb{1} - Q_{a,b}\}$ as in equation (4.32).

Note that in both games G_t and H_t , Alice and Bob's strategy is defined by the state

$$\sigma \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{U} \otimes (\mathcal{X}_1 \otimes \mathcal{Y}_1) \otimes \mathcal{V}), \tag{4.34}$$

as well as their respective measurement operators

$$\{A_a^x : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{U}) \quad \text{and} \quad \{B_b^y : b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{V}).$$
 (4.35)

Let p denote the winning probability for Alice and Bob in G_t

$$p = \sum_{\substack{(x,y)\in\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}\times\Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}\\(a,b)\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\times\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}}} \left\langle A_{a}^{x}\otimes\phi_{x}^{|\mathsf{X}|}\otimes Q_{a,b}\otimes\phi_{y}^{|\mathsf{Y}|}\otimes B_{b}^{y}, W(\rho\otimes\sigma)W^{*}\right\rangle,\tag{4.36}$$

where W is the unitary operator that corresponds to the permutation of registers

$$(\mathsf{X},\mathsf{S},\mathsf{Y},\mathsf{U},\mathsf{X}_1,\mathsf{Y}_1,\mathsf{V})\mapsto (\mathsf{U},\mathsf{X},\mathsf{X}_1,\mathsf{S},\mathsf{Y},\mathsf{Y}_1,\mathsf{V}). \tag{4.37}$$

The losing probability for G_t may be derived from the above equation by considering the losing measurement, that is

$$1 - p = \sum_{\substack{(x,y)\in\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}\times\Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}\\(a,b)\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\times\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}}} \left\langle A_{a}^{x}\otimes\phi_{x}^{|\mathsf{X}|}\otimes(\mathbb{1}-Q_{a,b})\otimes\phi_{y}^{|\mathsf{Y}|}\otimes B_{b}^{y}, W(\rho\otimes\sigma)W^{*}\right\rangle.$$
(4.38)

We will show how the losing probability of H_t may be written in terms of the losing probability of G_t .

Consider an arbitrary strategy for any teleportation game G_t . We show how one may adapt this strategy into a strategy for the extended nonlocal game H_t .

Let $(\mathsf{X}_0,\mathsf{X}_1)$ and $(\mathsf{Y}_0,\mathsf{Y}_1)$ be quantum registers such that

$$|X_0| = |X| = |X_1|$$
 and $|Y_0| = |Y| = |Y_1|$, (4.39)

where the contents of (X_0, X_1) and (Y_0, Y_1) are respective maximally entangled states

$$\psi_{\mathsf{X}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\mathsf{X}|}} \sum_{c \in \mathbb{Z}_{|\mathsf{X}|}} e_c \otimes e_c \quad \text{and} \quad \psi_{\mathsf{Y}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\mathsf{Y}|}} \sum_{d \in \mathbb{Z}_{|\mathsf{Y}|}} e_d \otimes e_d.$$
(4.40)

Registers X_1 and Y_1 are sent to the referee.

The referee then chooses $(x, y) \in \Sigma_A \times \Sigma_B$ at random, according to the uniform probability distribution. The referee makes a local copy of x and y as usual, and then sends x to Alice and y to Bob. Alice and Bob then perform measurements from the sets

$$\{A_a^x : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{U}) \quad \text{and} \quad \{B_b^y : b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{V}),$$
(4.41)

for each $x \in \Sigma_A$ and $y \in \Sigma_B$ yielding outcomes $a \in \Gamma_A$ and $b \in \Gamma_B$, which are then sent to the referee.

Once the referee receives $a \in \Gamma_A$ and $b \in \Gamma_B$, it prepares a state $\rho \in D(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{Y})$ in registers (X, S, Y) such that

$$|\mathsf{X}| = |\mathsf{X}_1|$$
 and $|\mathsf{Y}| = |\mathsf{Y}_1|$. (4.42)


Figure 4.4: The extended nonlocal game H_t , an extended nonlocal game where the referee initiates a teleportation procedure. That is, once the referee sends questions $(x, y) \in \Sigma_A \times$ Σ_B to Alice and Bob and receives registers (X_1, Y_1) , it shall create a state $\rho \in D(\mathcal{X} \otimes \mathcal{S} \otimes \mathcal{Y})$ in registers (X, S, Y) and perform teleportation using (X, X_1) and (Y, Y_1) . The outcome of these teleportation procedures will yield x_1 and y_1 . If both $x_1 = x$ and $y_1 = y$, the referee will perform a measurement on his system, S, to determine the outcome of the game. Otherwise if $x_1 \neq x$ or $y_1 \neq y$, Alice and Bob automatically win. The dark gray shapes correspond to actions performed by the referee.

The referee now measures $(\mathsf{X},\mathsf{X}_1)$ and $(\mathsf{Y},\mathsf{Y}_1)$ in the Bell basis, which yields respective outcomes of

$$x_1 = (k_1, k_2) \in \Sigma_A$$
 and $y_1 = (l_1, l_2) \in \Sigma_B$. (4.43)

We now consider the post-selected teleportation protocol to be a success if $x = x_1$ and $y = y_1$. For each x_1 there is a $1/|\mathsf{X}|^2$ chance that the referee obtains a matching outcome in x. Similarly, for each y_1 , there is a $1/|\mathsf{Y}|^2$ chance that the referee obtains a matching outcome for y. Therefore, the total probability with which the post-selected teleportation protocol is performed successfully is with probability $1/|\mathsf{X}|^2 |\mathsf{Y}|^2$.

Depending on the outcome of the referee's measurement, the game proceeds accordingly:

- 1. If $x \neq x_1$ or $y \neq y_1$, this implies that at least of the two teleportation protocols has failed. In this case, the referee accepts, and Alice and Bob win the game.
- 2. If $x = x_1$ and $y = y_1$, this implies that both teleportation protocols are successful.

The referee proceeds to perform the measurement $\{P_{a,b,x,y}, \mathbb{1} - P_{a,b,x,y}\}$ defined as in equation (4.32). Let q denote the winning probability of H_t

$$q = \frac{1}{\left|\mathsf{X}\right|^{2}\left|\mathsf{Y}\right|^{2}} \sum_{\substack{(x,y)\in\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}\times\Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}\\(a,b)\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\times\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}}} \left\langle A_{a}^{x}\otimes P_{x,y,a,b}\otimes B_{b}^{y}, W(\rho\otimes\sigma)W^{*} \right\rangle,$$
(4.44)

where again W is the unitary operator that corresponds to the permutation

$$(\mathsf{X},\mathsf{S},\mathsf{Y},\mathsf{U},\mathsf{X}_1,\mathsf{Y}_1,\mathsf{V})\mapsto(\mathsf{U},\mathsf{X},\mathsf{X}_1,\mathsf{S},\mathsf{Y},\mathsf{Y}_1,\mathsf{V}). \tag{4.45}$$

We may write the losing probability of H_t as

$$1 - q = \frac{1}{|\mathsf{X}|^{2} |\mathsf{Y}|^{2}} \sum_{\substack{(x,y) \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \\ (a,b) \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}}} \left\langle A_{a}^{x} \otimes (\mathbb{1} - P_{x,y,a,b}) \otimes B_{b}^{y}, W(\rho \otimes \sigma) W^{*} \right\rangle$$
$$= \frac{1}{|\mathsf{X}|^{2} |\mathsf{Y}|^{2}} \sum_{\substack{(x,y) \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \\ (a,b) \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}}} \left\langle A_{a}^{x} \otimes \phi_{x}^{|\mathsf{X}|} \otimes (\mathbb{1} - Q_{a,b}) \otimes \phi_{y}^{|\mathsf{Y}|} \otimes B_{b}^{y}, W(\rho \otimes \sigma) W^{*} \right\rangle \quad (4.46)$$
$$= \frac{1}{|\mathsf{X}|^{2} |\mathsf{Y}|^{2}} (1 - p).$$

Since in both cases we have that $N = \dim(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{V})$, optimizing over strategies of cost N gives

$$\omega_N^*(H_t) = 1 - \frac{1 - \omega_N^*(G_t)}{|\mathsf{X}|^2 |\mathsf{Y}|^2},\tag{4.47}$$

which concludes the proof.

Proof of Theorem 4.2

Proof of Theorem 4.2. Recall from Lemma 4.3 we have that

$$\omega_N^*(G_{qc}) \le \omega_{N|\mathbf{X}||\mathbf{Y}|}^*(G_t) \quad \text{and} \quad \omega_N^*(G_t) \le \omega_{N|\mathbf{X}||\mathbf{Y}|}^*(G_{qc}), \tag{4.48}$$

for all $N \ge 1$. From Lemma 4.4 it follows that

$$1 - \frac{1 - \omega_N^*(G_t)}{|\mathsf{X}|^2 |\mathsf{Y}|^2} = \omega_N^*(H_t).$$
(4.49)

It then follows that the inequalities from equation (4.7) hold. Furthermore, it follows from Theorem 4.1 that there exists a quantum-classical game G_{qc} where $\omega_N^*(G_{qc}) = 1$ is achieved in the limit as N goes to infinity. It then follows that there also exists an extended nonlocal game H_t , where $\omega_N^*(H_t) = 1$ as N approaches infinity. \Box

Implications and discussion of Theorem 4.2

We briefly discuss the broader context of Theorem 4.2. As previously mentioned, Regev and Vidick [RV15] proved that a certain class of QC games have the property that if Alice and Bob make use of an entangled state initially shared between them, they can never achieve perfect optimality, it is always possible for them to do better (meaning that they win with a strictly larger probability) using some different shared entangled state on larger quantum systems. We found in the previous section that there also exists a class of extended nonlocal games with this property as well.

We can also ask whether or not the above property holds more generally for some class of nonlocal games. Formally, Question 4.5. Does there exist a nonlocal game G such that

$$\omega^*(G) = 1, \tag{4.50}$$

and for every positive integer N it holds that

$$\omega_N^*(G) < 1. \tag{4.51}$$

For the traditional nonlocal game case with classical questions and classical answers, this question remains open. The so-called *I3322 inequality*, when formulated as a nonlocal game, has been conjectured to have the property just described, in which increasing degrees of entanglement admit strategies with strictly increasing success rates [PV09].

It is also worth noting that Theorem 4.2 implies the existence of a tripartite steering inequality for which an infinite-dimensional quantum state is required in order to achieve a maximal violation. This follows from the fact that extended nonlocal games may be equivalently viewed as a tripartite steering scenario (as considered in [CSA⁺15] and [SBC⁺15]), as was mentioned in Chapter 3.

4.3 Variations on the extended nonlocal game model

Recall that a nonlocal game consists of two rounds of communication: one from the referee to the players and one from the players to the referee. The standard definition of a nonlocal game assumes that both rounds of communication consist of classical messages. We saw a variation on that model in Section 4.1, in which the question round was replaced with the referee sending quantum questions to both Alice and Bob. In a similar manner, we may also consider such variations on the extended nonlocal game model. The standard extended nonlocal game consists of three rounds of communication, that is

- 1. (Quantum): Alice and Bob prepare a state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{V})$ shared between themselves and the referee.
- 2. (Classical): The referee randomly generates classical questions for Alice and Bob, $(x, y) \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}$, respectively.
- 3. (Classical): Alice and Bob respond with answers $a \in \Gamma_A$ and $b \in \Gamma_B$.

In complete generality, any variation on the type of communication used in an extended nonlocal game may be specified in terms of a tuple $(t_1, t_2, t_3) \in \{q, c\}$ where each round of communication consists of either a transmission of classical or quantum information as denoted by either c or q in the tuple. For instance, the type of communication in each round of a standard extended nonlocal game corresponds to the tuple (q, c, c). We therefore equivalently may refer to the standard definition of an extended nonlocal game as a quantum-classical-classical extended nonlocal game or just a QCC extended nonlocal game for short.

4.3.1 Quantum-classical-quantum extended nonlocal games

Consider the class of quantum-classical-quantum extended nonlocal games or QCQ extended nonlocal games for short. This class of game is defined precisely as a standard extended nonlocal game, only now the last round of communication is replaced with Alice and Bob sending quantum registers in place of the classical message $a \in \Gamma_A$ and $b \in \Gamma_B$ to the referee.

Specifically, a QCQ extended nonlocal game is specified by the following objects:

- A probability distribution $\pi: \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to [0, 1]$, for alphabets Σ_{A} and Σ_{B} .
- A collection of measurement operators $\{P_{x,y} : x \in \Sigma_A, y \in \Sigma_B\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{B})$ where \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} , and \mathcal{R} are complex Euclidean spaces corresponding to registers A, B, and R.

From the referee's perspective, such a game is played as follows:

- 1. Alice and Bob present the referee with the register R, which has been initialized in a state of Alice and Bob's choosing. (The register R might, for instance, be entangled with systems possessed by Alice and Bob.)
- 2. The referee randomly generates a pair $(x, y) \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}$ according to the distribution π , and sends x to Alice and y to Bob. Alice and Bob then send registers A and B corresponding to spaces \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} to the referee.
- 3. The referee measures registers (A, R, B) with respect to the binary-valued measurement $\{P_{x,y}, \mathbb{1} - P_{x,y}\} \subset \text{Pos}(\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{B})$. The outcome corresponding to the measurement operator $P_{x,y}$ indicates that Alice and Bob win, while the other measurement result indicates that they lose.

For any QCQ extended nonlocal game, there are various classes of strategies that may be adapted from the standard extended nonlocal game case for Alice and Bob, including unentangled strategies, standard quantum strategies, commuting measurement strategies, and non-signaling strategies. In this section, we only consider standard quantum strategies for QCQ extended nonlocal games.

A standard quantum strategy for a QCQ extended nonlocal game, specified by

$$\pi: \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to [0, 1] \quad \text{and} \quad \{P_{x, y}: x \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}, \ y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{B}) \tag{4.52}$$

as above, consists of these objects:

- 1. A state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{V})$, for \mathcal{U} being the space corresponding to a register U held by Alice and \mathcal{V} being the space corresponding to a register V held by Bob. This state represents Alice and Bob's initialization of the tripe (U, R, V) immediately before R is sent to the referee.
- 2. A collection of channels $\{\Phi^x\} \subset C(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{A})$ for each $x \in \Sigma_A$, applied by Alice when she receives the question x, and a collection of channels $\{\Phi^y\} \subset C(\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{B})$ for each $y \in \Sigma_B$, applied by Bob when he receives the question y. Alice and Bob then send their portions of the state after they have applied their channels to the referee.

When Alice and Bob utilize such a strategy, their winning probability may be expressed as

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}\times\Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}} \left\langle P_{x,y}, \left(\Phi^{x}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathrm{L}(\mathcal{R})}\otimes\Phi^{y}\right)(\sigma)\right\rangle.$$
(4.53)

Using a similar teleportation trick that we have used in Section 4.2.2, one may show that an arbitrary strategy for a QCC extended nonlocal game may be adapted for a QCQ extended nonlocal game. There is not much to be gained from going through the explicit details of this, as they are nearly identical to the process we have seen in the section already.

It is, however, relevant to note that in Lemma 32 of [KGN15], the authors use a similar teleportation trick to prove a relationship between two different subclasses of complexity classes arising from what they refer to as the "generalized-QAM" complexity class. These two subclasses are similar in some sense to the QCC extended nonlocal game model and the QCQ extended nonlocal game model, as the authors also analyze variants of the QAM complexity class with similar properties.



Figure 4.5: A quantum-classical-quantum extended nonlocal game. The referee selects questions $(x, y) \in \Sigma_A \times \Sigma_B$ according to the probability distribution π , and sends x to Alice and y to Bob. Upon receiving (x, y), Alice and Bob apply channels Φ^x and Φ^y to their respective systems and respond with answers in the form of quantum registers (A, B) over complex Euclidean spaces \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} . After receiving (A, B) from Alice and Bob, the referee performs a measurement on $\{P_{x,y}, \mathbb{1} - P_{x,y}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{B})$ to determine the probability with which Alice and Bob win or lose.

Chapter 5

Bounding the standard quantum value of extended nonlocal games

In this chapter, we shall present a number of heuristic methods that obtain bounds on the standard quantum value of an extended nonlocal game. For placing upper bounds, we take inspiration from the QC hierarchy [DLTW08, NPA07, NPA08]; a hierarchy of semidefinite programs that yield progressively better upper bounds on the quantum value for nonlocal games as one computes higher levels of the hierarchy. Indeed, we adopt these results and provide what we refer to as the *extended QC hierarchy* and apply this technique to the class of extended nonlocal games to obtain upper bounds on the standard quantum value.

In Section 5.1, we present the extended QC hierarchy in greater detail. We begin in Section 5.1.1 by giving an informal description of how the extended QC hierarchy is structured. In Section 5.1.2, we make this description more formal and show in Section 5.1.3 that the extended QC hierarchy has a similar convergence property as does the original QC hierarchy. In Section 5.1.4, we shall provide some explicit examples of how one may apply the extended QC hierarchy to extended nonlocal games.

In Section 5.2, we present our method to lower bound the value of extended nonlocal games which is inspired by the work of Liang and Doherty [LD07], where they consider a method that can be applied to lower bound the quantum value in the nonlocal game setting. We adopt their technique and apply it to the case of extended nonlocal games. In Section 5.2.1, we provide explicit examples of applying this lower bound technique to an extended nonlocal game.

This chapter is based on joint work with Nathaniel Johnston, Rajat Mittal, and John

Watrous [JMRW16].

Contents

5.1 Up	per bounds for extended nonlocal games: the extended				
QC	hierarchy	67			
5.1.1	Intuitive description of the extended QC hierarchy	67			
5.1.2	Construction of the extended QC hierarchy $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	73			
5.1.3	Convergence of the extended QC hierarchy	75			
5.1.4	Examples: Upper-bounding the standard quantum values of ex- tended nonlocal games	81			
5.2 Lower bounds for extended nonlocal games: the see-saw method 85					
5.2.1	Examples: Lower-bounding the standard quantum values of ex- tended nonlocal games	87			

5.1 Upper bounds for extended nonlocal games: the extended QC hierarchy

In this section we describe how the original QC hierarchy [DLTW08, NPA07, NPA08], may be generalized to extended nonlocal games. The QC hierarchy is a method that allows one to obtain upper bounds on the quantum value of a nonlocal game. Specifically, for a finite level, the commuting measurement value of a nonlocal game is guaranteed to be obtained, which serves as a natural upper bound to the quantum value of a nonlocal game. Directly calculating the quantum value of a nonlocal game is probably intractable, but in most cases, the first few levels of the QC hierarchy are numerically tractable to compute on current hardware, and in many cases the first few levels are sufficient [PV09].

5.1.1 Intuitive description of the extended QC hierarchy

In this section, we shall provide some intuition on how one may interpret and use the extended QC hierarchy. Many of these ideas are also found in the QC hierarchy for nonlocal games. First, let us establish what the extended QC hierarchy is used for: it is a technique to allow one to place upper bounds on the standard quantum value of a given extended nonlocal game. More precisely, it is a method that allows us to obtain the commuting

measurement value of a given extended nonlocal game, where it may be recalled from Chapter 3, that the commuting measurement value is an upper bound on the standard quantum value for every extended nonlocal game, that is $\omega^*(G) \leq \omega_c(G)$ holds for any extended nonlocal game G.

Recall that the commuting measurement value of an extended nonlocal game is given by a maximization over the following equation

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y), K(a,b|x,y) \right\rangle, \tag{5.1}$$

where K is a commuting measurement assemblage operator. What the extended QC hierarchy allows us to do is to consider the following equation instead to compute the commuting measurement value

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y), M^{(k)}(a,b|x,y) \right\rangle,$$
(5.2)

where now $M^{(k)}$ is some matrix parametrized by some integer k with entries indexed by $a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}, b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}, x \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}$, and $y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}$ satisfying certain constraints, which we will elaborate on shortly. The benefit of this is that we can optimize over the matrix $M^{(k)}$ and these constraints for some level k by way of a semidefinite program, and thereby compute the commuting measurement value of an extended nonlocal game. Of course, showing that such a correspondence exists between equations (5.1) and (5.2) is the difficult part, and is what we will be showing in Theorem 5.1 in Section 5.1.3.

Assuming that there does exist such a correspondence though, let us consider what the $M^{(k)}$ matrices look like, and how to compute the constraints on these matrices as the level k increases. These matrices can be thought to embody certain properties that one would expect from a commuting measurement strategy. That is to say that the entries in the matrices $M^{(k)}$ are indexed by strings which correspond to operators coming from a commuting measurement strategy. It may be recalled that the measurements for such a strategy obey pair-wise commutative properties, sum to the identity when summing over the outputs, and may be considered to be projective without any loss of generality. The strings within these matrices possess these qualities in ways that we will describe.

Assume that question and answer alphabets Σ_A , Σ_B , Γ_A , and Γ_B , as well as a positive integer *m* representing the dimension of the referee's quantum system, have been fixed. The symbol \cup denotes the disjoint union, meaning that $\Sigma_A \times \Gamma_A$ and $\Sigma_B \times \Gamma_B$ are to be treated as disjoint sets when forming

$$\Delta = (\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}) \cup (\Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}).$$
(5.3)

We write Δ^* to denote the set of all strings (of finite length) over Δ , and we write ε to denote the empty string.

For simplicity, we will restrict our attention to k = 1, the first level of the extended QC hierarchy, and consider an extended nonlocal game where the dimension of the referee's space is r and the game consists of n possible questions and m possible answers for each player. The matrix $M^{(1)}$ consists $r \times r$ blocks

$$M^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} M_{1,1}^{(1)} & \cdots & M_{1,r}^{(1)} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ M_{m,1}^{(1)} & \cdots & M_{r,r}^{(1)} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.4)

We construct each block $M_{i,j}^{(1)}$ by lining all tuples of strings that correspond to measurement operators and the identity operator used in the extended nonlocal game. For instance, the tuple (x, a) can be thought of a string pair that corresponds to Alice's measurement operator A_a^x . We use ϵ as the empty string that relates to the identity operator. More specifically, for k = 1, we consider all strings of length at most one from the set

$$\Delta^{\leq 1} = \{\varepsilon\} \cup \{(x,a)\} \cup \{(y,b)\}.$$

$$(5.5)$$

The block matrices are then formed from this set as $M_{i,j}^{(1)} : \Delta^{\leq 1} \times \Delta^{\leq 1}$ where $1 \leq i, j \leq r$. This is a bit clearer if we simply write out what we have described thus far

	(ϵ	(x_1, a_1)	•••	(x_{nm}, a_{nm})	(y_1,b_1)	•••	(y_{nm}, b_{nm})
$M_{i,j}^{(1)} =$	ϵ							
	(x_1, a_1)							
	$\frac{(x_{nm}, a_{nm})}{(u_1, b_1)}$							
	(91,01)							
	(y_{nm}, b_{nm}))

Now we have not actually placed an entry into this matrix yet. The outer row and outer column are simply guides we will use to fill in the matrix. Specifically, we fill the matrix by composing the outer row element with the outer column element. Again, writing this out explicitly may enhance the explanation,

	(ε	(x_1, a_1)		(x_{nm}, a_{nm})	(y_1, b_1)		(y_{nm}, b_{nm})
$M_{i,j}^{(1)} =$	$\frac{\epsilon}{(x_1,a_1)}$	$\epsilon (x_1, a_1)$	$egin{array}{c} (x_1,a_1)\ (x_1,a_1) \end{array}$		$egin{array}{l} (x_{nm},a_{nm})\ (x_1,a_1)(x_{nm},a_{nm}) \end{array}$	$(y_1, b_1) \ (x_1, a_1)(y_1, b_1)$		$(y_{nm}, b_{nm}) \ (x_1, a_1)(y_{nm}, b_{nm})$
				·			۰.	÷
	(x_{nm}, a_{nm})	(x_{nm}, a_{nm})	$(x_{nm}, a_{nm})(x_1, a_1)$		(x_{nm}, a_{nm})	$(x_{nm}, a_{nm})(y_1, b_1)$		$(x_{nm}, a_{nm})(y_{nm}, b_{nm})$
	(y_1, b_1)	(y_1, b_1)	$(y_1, b_1)(x_1, a_1)$		$(y_1, b_1)(x_{nm}, a_{nm})$	(y_1, b_1)		$(y_1, b_1)(y_{nm}, b_{nm})$
	:	:	:	·	:	:	·	:
	(y_{nm}, b_{nm})	(y_{nm}, b_{nm})	$(y_{nm}, b_{nm})(x_1, a_1)$		$(y_{nm}, b_{nm})(x_{nm}, a_{nm})$	$(y_{nm}, b_{nm})(y_1, b_1)$		(y_{nm}, b_{nm})

Consider the last entry in the second row with entry $(x_1, a_1)(y_{nm}, b_{nm})$. To obtain this entry, we multiplied, or more precisely, concatenated string pairs (x_1, a_1) , coming from the outer column, with the pair (y_{nm}, b_{nm}) , coming from the outer row.

It is also essential to consider the first row, first column, and diagonal of $M_{i,j}^{(1)}$. Note how there is just a single element in these spots instead of two concatenated tuples. The reasoning behind this is that, as mentioned before, the properties of this matrix are meant to embody those of commuting measurement strategy. Take for instance the first entry in $M_{i,j}^{(1)}$ which is equal to just ϵ . We would expect an entry of $\epsilon\epsilon$, but recall ϵ corresponds to the identity operator and $\mathbb{11} = \mathbb{1}$. In a similar way, the second entry in the second row is just (x_1, a_1) . Again, we would expect an entry of $(x_1, a_1)(x_1, a_1)$, however since we may assume that strings representing the measurements are projective, that is $A_{a_1}^{x_1}A_{a_1}^{x_1} = A_{a_1}^{x_1}$, this property is conveyed in a similar way. The same idea applies to the entire diagonal of $M_{i,j}^{(1)}$.

We now consider how the commutation relationships are conveyed in this matrix. In $M_{i,i}^{(1)}$, this property is represented as enforcing that

$$M_{i,j}^{(1)}((x,a),(y,b)) = M_{i,j}^{(1)}((y,b),(x,a)),$$
(5.6)

for all (i, j) blocks. For instance, consider the entries $(y_1, b_1)(x_1, a_1)$ and $(x_1, a_1)(y_1, b_1)$. These entries are equal since the strings represent operators coming from a commuting measurement strategy, that is to say they represent the property

$$\left[A_{a_1}^{x_1}, B_{b_1}^{y_1}\right] = \left[B_{b_1}^{y_1}, A_{a_1}^{x_1}\right] = 0.$$
(5.7)

We also need to convey the property that the measurements of Alice and Bob are equal to the identity when summing over all answers. This is conveyed by observing that

$$\sum_{a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}} M^{(1)}((x,a),(y,b)) = M^{(1)}(\epsilon,(y,b)),$$

$$\sum_{b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} M^{(1)}((x,a),(y,b)) = M^{(1)}((x,a),\epsilon).$$
(5.8)

The last constraint we place on the matrix $M^{(1)}$ is that it must be positive semidefinite. If this constraint, along with all of the other constraints regarding the blocks of $M^{(1)}$ are enforced, we refer to $M^{(1)}$ as a first-order admissible matrix, which will be formally defined in the coming sections for any k. Optimizing over such a matrix subject to the above conditions while attempting to maximize equation (5.2) will provide us with our desired upper bound on the standard quantum value for some extended nonlocal game. It may happen that the first level of the hierarchy is not sufficient in attaining the true commuting measurement value. Specifically, the value at the first level may be higher than the actual commuting measurement value. In this case, computing higher levels of k will help us in getting closer to the true commuting measurement value. When constructing the block matrices $M_{i,j}^{(k)}$ for some level k, each block will have the following form

$$M_{i,j}^{(k)}: \Delta^{\leq k} \times \Delta^{\leq k} \to \mathbb{C}, \tag{5.9}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta^{\leq 0} &= \{\varepsilon\}, \\ \Delta^{\leq 1} &= \Delta^{\leq 0} \cup \{(x, a)\} \cup \{(y, b)\}, \\ \Delta^{\leq 2} &= \Delta^{\leq 1} \cup \{(x, a)(x', a')\} \cup \{(x, a)(y, b)\} \cup \{(y, b)(y', b')\}, \end{aligned}$$
(5.10)

$$\vdots$$

where $x \neq x'$, $a \neq a'$, $y \neq y'$, and $b \neq b'$. It is apparent that as k increases, the alphabets have the following property that

$$\Delta^{\leq 0} \subseteq \Delta^{\leq 1} \subseteq \dots \subseteq \Delta^{\leq k}.$$
(5.11)

That is to say, the blocks in $M^{(k)}$ will consist of more and more entries as k increases. One of the main ideas of the extended QC hierarchy that is also similar to the original QC hierarchy is that as k increases, this leads to better and better approximations of the commuting measurement value of some extended nonlocal game G, that is

$$\omega_c^k(G) \le \dots \le \omega_c^2(G) \le \omega_c^1(G), \tag{5.12}$$

for some value of k. This relationship is depicted in Figure 5.1.

As previously mentioned, one nice property of the extended QC hierarchy that is also enjoyed by the QC hierarchy for nonlocal games is that obtaining the commuting measurement value is guaranteed for any extended nonlocal game for some finite level k. The downside to this, of course, is that k may be particularly large. From an algorithm analysis perspective, the original QC hierarchy scales exponentially with respect to the level computed, that is $(nm)^k$, where again n represents the total number of questions and mrepresents the total number of answers. Indeed, for the extended QC hierarchy, the complexity fares even worse as we also have the referee's space to be concerned about now. It is therefore sometimes helpful to consider intermediate levels that are between integer



Figure 5.1: A visual representation of computing levels of the extended QC hierarchy. The outermost ellipse corresponds to the value attained when one computes the first level of the extended QC hierarchy. We represent this as $\omega_c^1(G)$, where k = 1 represents the level computed. For certain games, this may indeed by equal to the true commuting measurement value of the game, that is $\omega_c(G)$.

values of k. For instance

$$\Delta^{\leq 0} = \{\varepsilon\}, \Delta^{\leq 1} = \Delta^{\leq 0} \cup \{(x, a)\} \cup \{(y, b)\}, \Delta^{\leq 1+AB} = \Delta^{\leq 1} \cup \{(x, a)(y, b)\},$$
(5.13)

where $x \neq x'$, $a \neq a'$, $b \neq b'$, and $y \neq y'$. The k = 1 + AB level is not quite as restrictive computationally as the complete second level of the hierarchy, and this may be enough in certain cases to obtain the commuting measurement value for a given extended nonlocal game. These intermediate levels have also been considered for the original QC hierarchy as well and serve a similar purpose.

In practice, for many nonlocal games and extended nonlocal games, the values emerging from low levels of the QC hierarchy and extended QC hierarchy agree with the true commuting measurement value of the game. While there do exist some exceptions to this property, such as the I3322 game (based on the I3322 inequality [CG04]), the authors here [PV09] for instance were able to show a wide variety of Bell inequalities (or nonlocal games) that the QC hierarchy was able to obtain the commuting measurement value at low levels of the hierarchy. In the next section, we will make our intuition developed in this section more formal, and we will further prove that the extended QC hierarchy allows one to obtain the commuting measurement value of any extended nonlocal game. Our proof technique for this follows very closely the technique used in [NPA07, NPA08] to prove convergence for the QC hierarchy for nonlocal games.

5.1.2 Construction of the extended QC hierarchy

Define ~ to be the equivalence relation on Δ^* generated by the following rules:

- 1. $s\sigma t \sim s\sigma\sigma t$ (for every $s, t \in \Delta^*$ and $\sigma \in \Delta$).
- 2. $s\sigma\tau t \sim s\tau\sigma t$ (for every $s, t \in \Delta^*, \sigma \in \Sigma_A \times \Gamma_A$, and $\tau \in \Sigma_B \times \Gamma_B$).

That is, two strings are equivalent with respect to the relation \sim if and only if one can be obtained from the other by a finite number of applications of the above rules.

Now, a function of the form

$$\phi: \Delta^* \to \mathbb{C} \tag{5.14}$$

will be said to be *admissible* if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:

1. For every choice of strings $s, t \in \Delta^*$ it holds that

$$\sum_{a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}} \phi(s(x, a)t) = \phi(st) \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} \phi(s(y, b)t) = \phi(st) \tag{5.15}$$

for every $x \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}$ and $y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}$.

2. For every choice of strings $s, t \in \Delta^*$, it holds that

$$\phi(s(x,a)(x,a')t) = 0$$
 and $\phi(s(y,b)(y,b')t) = 0$ (5.16)

for every choice of $x \in \Sigma_A$ and $a, a' \in \Gamma_A$ satisfying $a \neq a'$, and every choice of $y \in \Sigma_B$ and $b, b' \in \Gamma_B$ satisfying $b \neq b'$, respectively.

3. For all strings $s, t \in \Delta^*$ satisfying $s \sim t$ it holds that $\phi(s) = \phi(t)$.

Along similar lines, a function of the form

$$\phi: \Delta^{\leq k} \to \mathbb{C} \tag{5.17}$$

is said to be *admissible* if and only if the same conditions listed above hold, provided that s and t are sufficiently short so that ϕ is defined on the arguments indicated within each condition.

Finally, for each positive integer k (representing a level of approximation in the hierarchy to be constructed), we consider the set of all block matrices of the form

$$M^{(k)} = \begin{pmatrix} M_{1,1}^{(k)} & \cdots & M_{1,m}^{(k)} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ M_{m,1}^{(k)} & \cdots & M_{m,m}^{(k)} \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.18)

where each of the blocks takes the form

$$M_{i,j}^{(k)}: \Delta^{\leq k} \times \Delta^{\leq k} \to \mathbb{C},$$
(5.19)

and for which the following conditions are satisfied:

1. For every choice of $i, j \in \{1, ..., m\}$, there exists an admissible function

$$\phi_{i,j}: \Delta^{\leq 2k} \to \mathbb{C} \tag{5.20}$$

such that

$$M_{i,j}^{(k)}(s,t) = \phi_{i,j}(s^R t)$$
(5.21)

for every choice of strings $s, t \in \Delta^{\leq k}$. (Here, the notation s^R means the *reverse* of the string s.)

2. It holds that

$$M_{1,1}^{(k)}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon) + \dots + M_{m,m}^{(k)}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon) = 1.$$
(5.22)

3. The matrix $M^{(k)}$ is positive semidefinite.

Matrices of the form (5.18) obeying the listed constraints will be called *k*-th order admissible matrices. For such a matrix, we write $M^{(k)}(s,t)$ to denote the $m \times m$ complex matrix

$$M^{(k)}(s,t) = \begin{pmatrix} M_{1,1}^{(k)}(s,t) & \cdots & M_{1,m}^{(k)}(s,t) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ M_{m,1}^{(k)}(s,t) & \cdots & M_{m,m}^{(k)}(s,t) \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.23)

for each choice of strings $s, t \in \Delta^{\leq k}$. With respect to this notation, the second and third conditions on $M^{(k)}$ imply that $M^{(k)}(\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$ is an $m \times m$ density matrix.

We observe that an optimization over all k-th order admissible matrices can be represented by a semidefinite program: a matrix of the form (5.18) is a k-th order admissible matrix if and only if it is positive semidefinite and satisfies a finite number of linear constraints imposed by the first two conditions on $M^{(k)}$. In particular, for an extended nonlocal game $G = (\pi, V)$, where π is a distribution over $\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}$ and V is a function $V : \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to \operatorname{Pos}(\mathbb{C}^m)$, one may consider the maximization of the quantity

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}\times\Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\times\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y), M^{(k)}((x,a),(y,b)) \right\rangle$$
(5.24)

subject to $M^{(k)}$ being a k-th order admissible matrix.

We also note that the original QC hierarchy corresponds precisely to the m = 1 case of the hierarchy just described.

5.1.3 Convergence of the extended QC hierarchy

In this section, we show that the extended QC hierarchy converges to the set of commuting measurement assemblages. Our convergence proof follows a very similar trajectory to the convergence proof of the original QC hierarchy outlined in [NPA08]. The primary idea here, and in the original proof, is that for some finite k, there exists a k-th order admissible matrix that represents a commuting measurement assemblage. The beneficial property of this, as we have previously stated, is that the properties of this matrix are amenable to optimization via a semidefinite program. This is appealing from a computational standpoint, as we can leverage this property along with convex optimization software (such as CVX [GBY08]) to compute upper bounds on the standard quantum value of extended nonlocal games.

We now give some intuition for how the proof of convergence proceeds. The easier direction of the proof is to show that if you are given a commuting measurement assemblage, then this assemblage satisfies the properties specified by a k-th order pseudo commuting measurement assemblage for every level k. The harder and more interesting direction is the converse. The main idea of proving this direction is very similar to the idea presented in [NPA08], where one needs to show that there must exist collections of measurement operators $\{A_a^x\} \subset \text{Pos}(\mathcal{H})$ and $\{B_b^y\} \subset \text{Pos}(\mathcal{H})$ for some Hilbert space \mathcal{H} belonging to Alice and Bob, as well as a state $\rho \in D(\mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{H})$ that satisfy the conditions of a commuting measurement strategy arising from a k-th order pseudo commuting measurement assemblage. The basic idea here is to consider the k-th order pseudo commuting measurement assemblage as a matrix and show how the shared state and collections of measurements arise from the definition of this matrix. Now, for a fixed choice of alphabets Σ_A , Σ_B , Γ_A , and Γ_B , as well as positive integers m and k, let us consider the set of all functions of the form

$$K: \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{C}^m)$$
(5.25)

for which there exists a k-th order admissible matrix $M^{(k)}$ that satisfies

$$K(a, b|x, y) = M^{(k)}((x, a), (y, b))$$
(5.26)

for every $x \in \Sigma_A$, $y \in \Sigma_B$, $a \in \Gamma_A$, and $b \in \Gamma_B$.

The set of all such functions will be called k-th order pseudo commuting measurement assemblages.

Theorem 5.1. Let Σ_A , Σ_B , Γ_A , and Γ_B be alphabets, let m be a positive integer, let $\mathcal{R} = \mathbb{C}^m$ be a complex Euclidean space, and let

$$K: \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} \times \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{R})$$
(5.27)

be a function. The following statements are equivalent:

- 1. The function K is a commuting measurement assemblage.
- 2. The function K is a k-th order pseudo commuting measurement assemblage for every positive integer k.

We require the following lemma to prove Theorem 5.1. This lemma will allow us to claim that the entries of a k-th order admissible matrix, $M^{(k)}$, are bounded above by one.

Lemma 5.2. Let $m, k \ge 1$ be positive integers. Then a k-th order admissible matrix, $M^{(k)}$, satisfies

$$\left| M_{i,j}^{(k)}(s,t) \right| \le 1,$$
 (5.28)

for every $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ and all $s, t \in \Delta^{\leq k}$.

Proof. It follows that since $M^{(k)}$ is positive semidefinite, then the 2×2 principal submatrix of $M^{(k)}$, written as

$$\begin{pmatrix} M_{i,i}^{(k)}(s,s) & M_{i,j}^{(k)}(s,t) \\ M_{j,i}^{(k)}(t,s) & M_{j,j}^{(k)}(t,t) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(5.29)$$

must also be positive semidefinite for each $i, j \in \{1, ..., m\}$ and $s, t \in \Delta^*$. It follows then that

$$\left| M_{i,j}^{(k)}(s,t) \right| \le \sqrt{M_{i,i}^{(k)}(s,s)} \sqrt{M_{j,j}^{(k)}(t,t)}$$
(5.30)

for each $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ and $s, t \in \Delta^*$. It now remains to show that

$$M_{i,i}^{(k)}(s,s) \le 1 \tag{5.31}$$

for every $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ and $s \in \Delta^{\leq k}$. We prove equation (5.31) by induction on the length of s. For the base case, it holds that $M_{i,i}^{(k)}(\varepsilon, \varepsilon) \leq 1$ by the property of equation (5.22) that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} M_{i,i}^{(k)}(\varepsilon,\varepsilon) = 1, \qquad (5.32)$$

and that the diagonal entries of $M^{(k)}$ are nonnegative. For the general case, for any string $t \in \Delta^*$ and any choice of $(z, c) \in \Delta$, it holds that

$$M_{i,i}^{(k)}((z,c)t,(z,c)t) \le \sum_{d} M_{i,i}^{(k)}((z,d)t,(z,d)t)$$
(5.33)

$$=\sum_{d} \phi_{i,i}^{(k)}(t^{R}(z,d)(z,d)t)$$
(5.34)

$$=\sum_{d} \phi_{i,i}^{(k)}(t^{R}(z,d)t)$$
(5.35)

$$=\phi_{i,i}^{(k)}(t^{R}t)$$
(5.36)

$$=M_{i,i}^{(k)}(t,t), (5.37)$$

where $d \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}$ if $z \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}$ or $d \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}$ if $z \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}$ and where equation (5.34) follows from equation (5.21), equation (5.35) follows from the equivalence relation on strings that $s\sigma t \sim$ $s\sigma\sigma t$ for every $s, t \in \Delta^*$ and $\sigma \in \Delta$, equation (5.36) follows from equation (5.15), and equation (5.37) follows again from equation (5.21). The proof follows by the hypothesis of induction.

With Lemma 5.2 in hand, we proceed to the proof of Theorem 5.1.

Proof of Theorem 5.1. The simpler implication is that statement 1 implies statement 2. Under the assumption that statement 1 holds, it must be that K is defined by a strategy in which Alice and Bob use projective measurements,

$$\{A_a^x : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{H}) \quad \text{and} \quad \{B_b^y : b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{H}) \tag{5.38}$$

for Alice and Bob, on a shared (possibly infinite-dimensional) complex Euclidean space \mathcal{H} , along with a pure state $u \in \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{H}$. Let $u_1, \ldots, u_m \in \mathcal{H}$ be vectors for which

$$u = \sum_{j=1}^{m} e_j \otimes u_j. \tag{5.39}$$

Also let Π_c^z denote A_c^z if $z \in \Sigma_A$ and $c \in \Gamma_A$, or B_c^z if $z \in \Sigma_B$ and $c \in \Gamma_B$. With respect to this notation, one may consider the k-th order admissible matrix $M^{(k)}$ defined by

$$M_{i,j}^{(k)}(s,t) = \phi_{i,j}(s^R t), \qquad (5.40)$$

where the functions $\{\phi_{i,j}\}$ are defined as

$$\phi_{i,j}((z_1, c_1) \cdots (z_\ell, c_\ell)) = u_i^* \prod_{c_1}^{z_1} \cdots \prod_{c_\ell}^{z_\ell} u_j$$
(5.41)

for every string $(z_1, c_1) \cdots (z_\ell, c_\ell) \in \Delta^{\leq 2k}$. A verification reveals that this matrix is consistent with K, and therefore K is a k-th order pseudo commuting measurement assemblage.

The more difficult implication is that statement 2 implies statement 1. The basic methodology of the proof is similar to the m = 1 case proved in [NPA08], and we will refer to arguments made in that paper when they extend to the general case. For every positive integer k, let $M^{(k)}$ be a k-th order admissible matrix satisfying K(a, b|x, y) = $M^{(k)}((x, a), (y, b))$ for every $x \in \Sigma_A$, $y \in \Sigma_B$, $a \in \Gamma_A$, and $b \in \Gamma_B$. First, by Lemma 5.2 it follows that for every choice of $k \geq 1$ that

$$\left|M_{i,j}^{(k)}(s,t)\right| \le 1 \tag{5.42}$$

for every choice of $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ and $s, t \in \Delta^{\leq k}$.

Next, reasoning in the same way as [NPA08], we may assume that there exists an infinite matrix $\hat{M}^{(k)}$ created from $M^{(k)}$ by padding blocks $M_{i,j}^{(k)}$ to make them infinite. This sequence of infinite matrices { $\hat{M}^{(k)} : k = 1, 2, ...$ } admits a subsequence { k_l } that weak-* converges to a limit when l approaches infinity. Recall this fact follows from the Banach–Alaoglu theorem mentioned in Chapter 2. This implies that

$$\lim_{l \to \infty} \hat{M}^{(k_l)} \to M, \tag{5.43}$$

where M is an infinite matrix of the form

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} M_{1,1} & \cdots & M_{1,m} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ M_{m,1} & \cdots & M_{m,m} \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.44)

where

$$M_{i,j}: \Delta^* \times \Delta^* \to \mathbb{C} \tag{5.45}$$

for each $i, j \in \{1, ..., m\}$, satisfying similar constraints to the finite matrices $M^{(k)}$. In particular, it must hold that

$$M_{i,j}(s,t) = \phi_{i,j}(s^{R}t)$$
(5.46)

for a collection of admissible functions $\{\phi_{i,j}\}$ taking the form

$$\phi_{i,j}: \Delta^* \to \mathbb{C},\tag{5.47}$$

it must hold that all finite submatrices of M are positive semidefinite, and it must hold that $M_{1,1}(\varepsilon, \varepsilon) + \cdots + M_{m,m}(\varepsilon, \varepsilon) = 1$. Consequently, there must exist a collection of vectors

$$\left\{u_{i,s}: i \in \{1, \dots, m\}, s \in \Delta^*\} \subset \mathcal{H}$$

$$(5.48)$$

chosen from a separable Hilbert space \mathcal{H} for which it holds that

$$M_{i,j}(s,t) = \left\langle u_{i,s}, u_{j,t} \right\rangle \tag{5.49}$$

for every choice of $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ and $s, t \in \Delta^*$. Furthermore, it must hold that

$$K(a, b|x, y) = M((x, a), (y, b))$$
(5.50)

where, as for the matrices $M^{(k)}$, we write

$$M(s,t) = \begin{pmatrix} M_{1,1}(s,t) & \cdots & M_{1,m}(s,t) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ M_{m,1}(s,t) & \cdots & M_{m,m}(s,t) \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.51)

for each $s, t \in \Delta^*$. There is no loss of generality in assuming \mathcal{H} is spanned by the vectors (5.48), for otherwise \mathcal{H} can simply be replaced by the (possibly finite-dimensional) subspace spanned by these vectors.

Now we will define a commuting measurement strategy for Alice and Bob certifying that K is a commuting measurement assemblage. The state initially prepared by Alice and Bob, and shared with the referee, will be the pure state corresponding to the vector

$$u = \sum_{j=1}^{m} e_j \otimes u_{j,\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{H}.$$
 (5.52)

This is a unit vector, as a calculation reveals:

$$||u||^{2} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \langle u_{j,\varepsilon}, u_{j,\varepsilon} \rangle = M_{1,1}(\varepsilon, \varepsilon) + \dots + M_{m,m}(\varepsilon, \varepsilon) = 1.$$
(5.53)

Next, we define projective measurements on \mathcal{H} for Alice and Bob. For each $(z, c) \in \Delta$, define \prod_{c}^{z} to be the projection operator onto the span of the set

$$\{u_{j,(z,c)s} : j \in \{1, \dots, m\}, s \in \Delta^*\}.$$
 (5.54)

It must, of course, be proved that these projections do indeed form projective measurements, and that Alice's measurements commute with Bob's. Toward these goals, consider any choice of $i, j \in \{1, ..., m\}$, $s, t \in \Delta^*$, and $(z, c) \in \Delta$, and observe that

$$\langle u_{i,(z,c)t}, u_{j,s} \rangle = M_{i,j}((z,c)t,s)$$

$$= \phi_{i,j}(t^{R}(z,c)s)$$

$$= \phi_{i,j}(t^{R}(z,c)(z,c)s)$$

$$= M_{i,j}((z,c)t,(z,c)s)$$

$$= \langle u_{i,(z,c)t}, u_{j,(z,c)s} \rangle$$

$$(5.55)$$

It follows that $u_{j,s}$ and $u_{j,(z,c)s}$ have the same inner product with every vector in the image of Π_c^z . As every vector in the orthogonal complement of the image of Π_c^z is orthogonal to $u_{j,(z,c)s}$, as this vector is contained in the image of Π_c^z , if follows that

$$\Pi_c^z u_{j,s} = u_{j,(z,c)s}.$$
 (5.56)

This formula greatly simplifies the required verifications. For instance, one has

$$\langle u_{i,(z,c)t}, u_{j,(z,d)s} \rangle = M_{i,j}((z,c)t, (z,d)s)$$

= $\phi_{i,j}(t^R(z,c)(z,d)s)$ (5.57)
= 0

for all $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$, $s, t \in \Delta^*$, and $(z, c), (z, d) \in \Delta$ for which $c \neq d$, and therefore $\Pi_c^z \Pi_d^z = 0$ whenever $(z, c), (z, d) \in \Delta$ satisfy $c \neq d$. For each $x \in \Sigma_A$, and each $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ and $s, t \in \Delta^*$, it holds that

$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}} \left\langle u_{i,s}, \Pi_{a}^{x} u_{j,t} \right\rangle = \sum_{a\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}} \left\langle u_{i,s}, u_{j,(x,a)t} \right\rangle = \sum_{a\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}} \phi_{i,j}(s^{R}(x,a)t) = \phi_{i,j}(s^{R}t) = \left\langle u_{i,s}, u_{j,t} \right\rangle$$
(5.58)

and therefore

$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}}\Pi_a^x = \mathbb{1},\tag{5.59}$$

for each $x \in \Sigma_A$, and along similar lines one finds that

$$\sum_{b\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}}\Pi_b^y = 1 \tag{5.60}$$

for each $y \in \Sigma_A$. Finally, for every $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$, $s, t \in \Delta^*$, $(x, a) \in \Sigma_A \times \Gamma_A$, and $(y, b) \in \Sigma_B \times \Gamma_B$ we have

$$\left\langle u_{i,s}, \Pi_a^x \Pi_b^y u_{j,t} \right\rangle = \left\langle u_{i,(x,a)s}, u_{j,(y,b)t} \right\rangle$$

$$= \phi_{i,j} \left(s^R(x,a)(y,b)t \right)$$

$$= \phi_{i,j} \left(s^R(y,b)(x,a)t \right)$$

$$= \left\langle u_{i,(y,b)s}, u_{j,(x,a)t} \right\rangle$$

$$= \left\langle u_{i,s}, \Pi_b^y \Pi_a^x u_{j,t} \right\rangle,$$

$$(5.61)$$

and therefore $\left[\Pi_a^x, \Pi_b^y\right] = 0.$

It remains to observe that the strategy represented by the pure state u and the projective measurements $\{\Pi_a^x\}$ and $\{\Pi_b^y\}$ yields the commuting measurement assemblage K. This is also evident from the equation (5.56), as one has

$$M_{i,j}((x,a),(y,b)) = \left\langle u_{i,(x,a)}, u_{j,(y,b)} \right\rangle = \left\langle \Pi_a^x \Pi_b^y, u_{j,\varepsilon} u_{i,\varepsilon}^* \right\rangle, \tag{5.62}$$

and therefore

$$K(a,b|x,y) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}}\left(\left(\mathbb{1} \otimes \Pi_a^x \Pi_b^y\right) u u^*\right)$$
(5.63)

for every choice of $x \in \Sigma_A$, $y \in \Sigma_B$, $a \in \Gamma_A$, and $b \in \Gamma_B$.

5.1.4 Examples: Upper-bounding the standard quantum values of extended nonlocal games

The BB84 extended nonlocal game

Consider the following extended nonlocal game, G_{BB84} .

Example 5.3. Let $\Sigma_A = \Sigma_B = \Gamma_A = \Gamma_B = \{0, 1\}$, define

$$V(0,0|0,0) = E_{0,0} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$V(1,1|0,0) = E_{1,1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$V(0,0|1,1) = \frac{1}{2} \left(E_{0,0} + E_{0,1} + E_{1,0} + E_{1,1} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$V(1,1|1,1) = \frac{1}{2} \left(E_{0,0} - E_{0,1} - E_{1,0} + E_{1,1} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{1}{2} \\ -\frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix},$$

(5.64)

define

(

$$V(a,b|x,y) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.65)

for all $a \neq b$ or $x \neq y$, define $\pi(0,0) = \pi(1,1) = 1/2$, and define $\pi(x,y) = 0$ if $x \neq y$.

Alice and Bob win $G_{\mathsf{BB84}} = (\pi, V)$ if and only if the responses from Alice and Bob, a and b, are equal to the outcome of the measurement that the referee makes on its system. In the event where the referee sends x = y = 0 and Alice and Bob respond with either a = b = 0 or a = b = 1, the referee measures his state against either the measurement V(0,0|0,0) or V(1,1|0,0). These measurements correspond to the well known 0/1 basis, which is sometimes written in Dirac notation elsewhere in the literature as $|0\rangle\langle 0|$ and $|1\rangle\langle 1|$. Likewise, if the referee sends x = y = 1 to Alice and Bob and they respond with either a = b = 0 or a = b = 1, the referee measures his state against either V(0,0|1,1) or V(1,1|1,1). These measurements correspond to the +/- basis, which is typically denoted as $|+\rangle\langle +|$ and $|-\rangle\langle -|$ in Dirac notation elsewhere in the literature. This particular game is one that we will see again in Chapter 6 under the name of the BB84 monogamy-of-entanglement game, and it was initially introduced in [TFKW13].

Recall that the extended QC hierarchy states that an upper bound on the standard quantum value of any extended nonlocal game may be obtained by maximizing the following quantity

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}\times\Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}\times\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y), M^{(k)}((x,a),(y,b)) \right\rangle,$$
(5.66)

where $M^{(k)}$ is a k-th order admissible matrix. For the game G_{BB84} , this quantity may be

explicitly written as

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(\left\langle V(0,0|0,0), M^{(k)}((0,0),(0,0)) \right\rangle + \left\langle V(1,1|0,0), M^{(k)}((0,1),(0,1)) \right\rangle \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(\left\langle V(0,0|1,1), M^{(k)}((1,0),(1,0)) \right\rangle + \left\langle V(1,1|1,1), M^{(k)}((1,1),(1,1)) \right\rangle \right),$$
(5.67)

for some level k. For simplicity, we shall just consider the first level at k = 1 of the extended QC hierarchy for G_{BB84} . As it turns out, and as we shall see in the coming sections, the first level converges to the standard quantum value, and therefore going any higher in the hierarchy will not yield any better approximations.

The software listing A.1.1 in Appendix A maximizes the objective function from equation (5.66) subject to the constraints that the matrix $M^{(1)}$ is a first-order admissible matrix. Running the listing, one obtains the following matrix for $M^{(1)}$:

$$M^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} M_{1,1}^{(1)} & M_{1,2}^{(1)} \\ M_{2,1}^{(1)} & M_{2,2}^{(1)} \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.68)

where

$$M_{1,1}^{(1)} = M_{2,2}^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta_{+} & \beta_{-} & \alpha & \alpha & \beta_{+} & \beta_{-} & \alpha & \alpha \\ \beta_{+} & \beta_{+} & 0 & \alpha\beta_{+} & \alpha\beta_{+} & \beta_{+} & 0 & \alpha\beta_{+} & \alpha\beta_{+} \\ \beta_{-} & 0 & \beta_{-} & \alpha\beta_{-} & 0 & \beta_{-} & \alpha\beta_{-} & \alpha\beta_{-} \\ \alpha & \alpha\beta_{+} & \alpha\beta_{-} & 0 & \alpha & \alpha\beta_{+} & \alpha\beta_{-} & \alpha & 0 \\ \beta_{+} & \beta_{+} & 0 & \alpha\beta_{+} & \alpha\beta_{-} & 0 & \beta_{-} & \alpha\beta_{-} & \alpha\beta_{-} \\ \alpha & \alpha\beta_{+} & \alpha\beta_{-} & \alpha & 0 & \alpha\beta_{+} & \alpha\beta_{-} & \alpha & 0 \\ \alpha & \alpha\beta_{+} & \alpha\beta_{-} & \alpha & 0 & \alpha\beta_{+} & \alpha\beta_{-} & \alpha & 0 \\ \alpha & \alpha\beta_{+} & \alpha\beta_{-} & 0 & \alpha & \alpha\beta_{+} & \alpha\beta_{-} & 0 & \alpha \end{pmatrix},$$

$$M_{1,2}^{(1)} = M_{2,1}^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & \gamma & -\gamma & 0 & 0 & \gamma & -\gamma \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \alpha\gamma & -\alpha\gamma & 0 & 0 & \alpha\gamma & -\alpha\gamma \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \alpha\gamma & -\alpha\gamma & 0 & 0 & \alpha\gamma & -\alpha\gamma \\ \gamma & \alpha\gamma & \alpha\gamma & \gamma & 0 & \alpha\gamma & \alpha\gamma & \gamma & 0 \\ -\gamma & -\alpha\gamma & -\alpha\gamma & 0 & -\gamma & -\alpha\gamma & 0 & -\gamma & -\alpha\gamma \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \alpha\gamma & -\alpha\gamma & 0 & 0 & \alpha\gamma & -\alpha\gamma \\ \gamma & \alpha\gamma & \alpha\gamma & \gamma & 0 & \alpha\gamma & \alpha\gamma & \gamma & 0 \\ -\gamma & -\alpha\gamma & -\alpha\gamma & 0 & -\gamma & -\alpha\gamma & 0 & -\gamma \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.69)

where we define the constants

$$\alpha = 1/2, \quad \beta_{\pm} = \frac{1}{8} \left(2 \pm \sqrt{2} \right), \quad \text{and} \quad \gamma = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{8}.$$
(5.70)

One may verify that the matrix $M^{(1)}$ is a first-order admissible matrix and that the equation (5.67) for k = 1 yields the value of $\cos^2(\pi/8) \approx 0.8536$ where

$$M^{(1)}((0,0),(0,0)) = \begin{pmatrix} \beta_{+} & 0\\ 0 & \beta_{-} \end{pmatrix}, \quad M^{(1)}((0,1),(0,1)) = \begin{pmatrix} \beta_{-} & 0\\ 0 & \beta_{+} \end{pmatrix}, M^{(1)}((1,0),(1,0)) = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \gamma\\ \gamma & \alpha \end{pmatrix}, \quad M^{(1)}((1,1),(1,1)) = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & -\gamma\\ -\gamma & \alpha \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.71)

In Section 5.2, we will verify that $\cos^2(\pi/8)$ is indeed the standard quantum value as this value will also arise when calculating the lower bound of G_{BB84} .

The CHSH extended nonlocal game

Let us now consider another game, G_{CHSH} .

Example 5.4 (CHSH extended nonlocal game). Let $\Sigma_{\mathsf{A}} = \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}} = \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}} = \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}} = \{0, 1\}$, define a collection of measurements $\{V(a, b|x, y) : a \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{A}}, b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}, x \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{A}}, y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{R})$ such that

$$V(0,0|0,0) = V(0,0|0,1) = V(0,0|1,0) = E_{0,0},$$

$$V(1,1|0,0) = V(1,1|0,1) = V(1,1|1,0) = E_{1,1},$$

$$V(0,1|1,1) = \frac{1}{2} \left(E_{0,0} + E_{0,1} + E_{1,0} + E_{1,1} \right),$$

$$V(1,0|1,1) = \frac{1}{2} \left(E_{0,0} - E_{0,1} - E_{1,0} + E_{1,1} \right),$$
(5.72)

define

$$V(a,b|x,y) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.73)

for all $a \oplus b \neq x \land y$, and define $\pi(0,0) = \pi(0,1) = \pi(1,0) = \pi(1,1) = 1/4$.

In the event that $a \oplus b \neq x \wedge y$, the referee's measurement corresponds to the zero matrix from equation (5.73). If instead it happens that $a \oplus b = x \wedge y$, the referee then proceeds to measure with respect to one of the measurement operators from equation (5.72). This winning condition is reminiscent of the standard CHSH nonlocal game. For G_{CHSH} , we may again consider the equation (5.66) where the quantity may be explicitly written as

$$\frac{1}{4} \left(\left\langle V(0,0|0,0), M^{(k)}((0,0),(0,0)) \right\rangle + \left\langle V(1,1|0,0), M^{(k)}((0,1),(0,1)) \right\rangle \right) + \frac{1}{4} \left(\left\langle V(0,0|0,1), M^{(k)}((0,0),(1,0)) \right\rangle + \left\langle V(1,1|0,1), M^{(k)}((0,1),(1,1)) \right\rangle \right) + \frac{1}{4} \left(\left\langle V(0,0|1,0), M^{(k)}((1,0),(0,0)) \right\rangle + \left\langle V(1,1|1,0), M^{(k)}((1,1),(0,1)) \right\rangle \right) + \frac{1}{4} \left(\left\langle V(0,1|1,1), M^{(k)}((1,0),(1,1)) \right\rangle + \left\langle V(1,0|1,1), M^{(k)}((1,1),(1,0)) \right\rangle \right),$$
(5.74)

for some level k. Unlike G_{BB84} , the first level of the extended QC hierarchy is not sufficient for obtaining the standard quantum value of G_{CHSH} . Indeed, running the software listing A.1.2 that implements the first level of the extended QC hierarchy yields a value of ≈ 0.7578 , while the non-signaling value of this game yields a value of 3/4 (refer to software listing A.1.3) as does the lower bound on the standard quantum value of G_{CHSH} . The lower bound technique will be elaborated on further in Section 5.2.

5.2 Lower bounds for extended nonlocal games: the see-saw method

Our lower bound heuristic for the class of extended nonlocal games is based on the work of Liang and Doherty [LD07], where they provide a lower bound technique for Bell inequalities, or equivalently, nonlocal games. The primary idea of their algorithm is to note that fixing measurements on one system yields the optimal measurements of the other system via an SDP. The algorithm proceeds in an iterative manner between two SDPs. In the first SDP, we assume that Bob's measurements are fixed, and Alice's measurements are to be optimized over. In the second SDP, we take Alice's optimized measurements from the first SDP and now optimize over Bob's measurements. This method is repeated until the quantum value reaches a desired numerical precision. This "see-saw" type iteration was done in [WW01] by Werner and Wolf and served as a basis of inspiration for Liang and Doherty's method. It is also worthwhile to mention that in [IIA06] the authors showed concurrently with [LD07] that there exists an SDP that achieves a lower bound on the quantum value for a nonlocal game.

We must slightly adapt the Liang and Doherty lower bound algorithm to take into account the actions of the referee for our extended nonlocal game. In our scenario, we shall represent Alice's actions in terms of the residual states acting on the referee and Bob as the set $\{\rho_a^x : x \in \Sigma_A, a \in \Gamma_A\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{B})$ where

$$\rho_a^x = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{A}} \left(\left(\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{R}} \otimes A_a^x \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{B}} \right) \rho \right) \in \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{B}).$$
(5.75)

It is then necessary and sufficient that $\sum_{a\in\Gamma_A} \rho_a^x = \tau \in D(\mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{B})$ for all $x \in \Sigma_A$. It then holds that we can express the probability that Alice and Bob's standard quantum strategy wins in as

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle V(a,b|x,y) \otimes B_b^y, \rho_a^x \right\rangle.$$
(5.76)

Writing the above conditions in terms of an SDP, we have that

Lower bound SDP-1

maximize:
$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \langle V(a,b|x,y) \otimes B_b^y, \rho_a^x \rangle$$

subject to:
$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma_A} \rho_a^x = \tau, \qquad \forall x \in \Sigma_A, \qquad (5.77)$$
$$\rho_a^x \in \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{B}), \quad \forall x \in \Sigma_A, \forall a \in \Gamma_A, \\ \tau \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{B}), \qquad (5.77)$$

where the measurements of the referee represented as the collection $\{V(a, b|x, y)\}$ as well as the sets of measurements for Bob, represented as the collection $\{B_b^y\}$ are fixed where the collection of operators $\{\rho_a^x\}$ are the variables that we wish to optimize. Now we consider the second SDP. First, observe that we can write equation (5.76) as

$$\sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle \Phi(B_b^y), \rho_a^x \right\rangle, \tag{5.78}$$

where the mapping $\Phi \in T(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{B})$ is defined as

$$\Phi(B_b^y) = \pi(x, y) V(a, b|x, y) \otimes B_b^y.$$
(5.79)

We calculate the unique adjoint mapping $\Phi^* \in T(\mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{B})$, as

$$\Phi^*(\rho_a^x) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(\left(V(a, b | x, y)^* \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{B}}\right) \rho_a^x\right),\tag{5.80}$$

which may be verified from

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \Phi(B_b^y), \rho_a^x \right\rangle &= \left\langle V(a, b | x, y) \otimes B_b^y, \rho_a^x \right\rangle \\ &= \operatorname{Tr} \left(\left(V(a, b | x, y)^* \otimes (B_b^y)^* \right) \rho_a^x \right) \\ &= \operatorname{Tr} \left(\left(\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes (B_b^y)^* \right) \left(V(a, b | x, y)^* \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{B}} \right) \rho_a^x \right) \\ &= \operatorname{Tr} \left((B_b^y)^* \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}} \left(V(a, b | x, y)^* \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{B}} \right) \rho_a^x \right) \\ &= \left\langle B_b^y, \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{R}} \left(\left(V(a, b | x, y)^* \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{B}} \right) \rho_a^x \right) \right\rangle. \end{split}$$
(5.81)

From this, we can define the second SDP.

$$\underbrace{\text{Lower bound SDP-2}}_{\text{maximize:}} \qquad \sum_{(x,y)\in\Sigma} \pi(x,y) \sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} \left\langle B_b^y, \Phi^*(\rho_a^x) \right\rangle \\ \text{subject to:} \qquad \sum_{b\in\Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}} B_b^y = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{B}}, \qquad \forall y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}, \\ B_b^y \in \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{B}), \qquad \forall y \in \Sigma_{\mathsf{B}}, \ b \in \Gamma_{\mathsf{B}}.$$
(5.82)

While the optimization procedure is not guaranteed to converge to the actual quantum value, we can perform our extended QC hierarchy to check if the lower and upper bounds are in agreement to determine optimality. If this is indeed the case, we can extract the explicit strategy that Alice and Bob perform via this lower bound method.

Bob's measurements are given directly from the formulation of the SDP, while Alice's measurements may be obtained by the following equation

$$A_a^x = \tau^{-1/2} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{B}}(\rho_a^x) \tau^{-1/2}$$
(5.83)

for all $a \in \Gamma_A$ and $x \in \Sigma_A$.

5.2.1 Examples: Lower-bounding the standard quantum values of extended nonlocal games

The BB84 extended nonlocal game

We revisit G_{BB84} , the BB84 extended nonlocal game considered in Section 5.1.4. We observed that for k = 1, the extended QC hierarchy gave us a value of $\cos^2(\pi/8)$. We

also claimed that this value does indeed correspond to the standard quantum value of the game, and going any higher in the hierarchy would not yield any better approximations to this value. In this example, we shall compute the lower bound of G_{BB84} and verify that the lower and upper bounds agree, which confirms that computing for any higher levels of k in the extended QC hierarchy would not be useful.

The software listing A.1.4 in Appendix A computes the lower bound of G_{BB84} using the two semidefinite programs from equations (5.77) and (5.82). In the first semidefinite program, we are given the measurements that the referee uses (as defined in example 6.1) as well as some collection of measurements for Bob. When we start the see-saw algorithm, we simply generate random unitaries of appropriate dimension to represent the measurements that Bob may use. These measurement operators will change as we go back and forth between the semidefinite programs. The variable that we are optimizing with respect to is ρ_a^x , which represents Alice's actions.

We then plug in the variables that we obtain from the first semidefinite program into the second semidefinite program. We repeat this process until the desired threshold is reached. In this example, the value of $\cos^2(\pi/8)$ is obtained almost immediately, and therefore allows one to conclude that since the upper and lower bounds are in agreement, that $\omega^*(G_{\text{BB84}}) = \cos^2(\pi/8)$. Furthermore using equation (5.83), we can also obtain the strategy that Alice uses to obtain this value, where the measurement operators of Alice are given explicitly as

$$A_0^0 = A_1^1 = \begin{pmatrix} \cos^2(\pi/8) & -\sin(\pi/8)\cos(\pi/8) \\ -\sin(\pi/8)\cos(\pi/8) & \sin^2(\pi/8) \end{pmatrix},$$

$$A_1^0 = A_0^1 = \begin{pmatrix} \sin^2(\pi/8) & \sin(\pi/8)\cos(\pi/8) \\ \sin(\pi/8)\cos(\pi/8) & \cos^2(\pi/8) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.84)

In this particular example, Bob's measurement operators can take the form of any valid measurement operators.

Chapter 6

Monogamy-of-Entanglement Games

In this chapter, we shall consider a particular type of extended nonlocal game referred to as a *monogamy-of-entanglement game*, which was initially introduced in [TFKW13].

In Section 6.1, we formally present this model and prove a number of properties about this class of game. In particular, we will study the relationship between the standard quantum and unentangled strategies of certain monogamy-of-entanglement games. In Section 6.2 we will study the parallel repetition of monogamy-of-entanglement games, and in Section 6.3 we will present an example of a monogamy-of-entanglement game that Alice and Bob win with higher probability in the event that they use a standard quantum strategy in place of an unentangled strategy.

This chapter is based on joint work with Nathaniel Johnston, Rajat Mittal, and John Watrous [JMRW16].

Contents

6.1	Mor	nogamy-of-entanglement games	90
	6.1.1	Strategies and values of monogamy-of-entanglement games	91
	6.1.2	The BB84 monogamy-of-entanglement game	93
	6.1.3	Comparing standard quantum and unentangled strategies for monog of-entanglement games	amy- 94
6.2	Para	allel repetition of monogamy-of-entanglement games	96
	6.2.1	Strong parallel repetition for certain monogamy-of-entanglement games with two questions	100

	6.2.2	No strong parallel repetition for monogamy-of-entanglement games				
		with non-signaling provers				
3.3 Upper and lower bounds on monogamy-of-entanglement gam						
	6.3.1	A monogamy-of-entanglement game with quantum advantage 103				
	6.3.2	Synopsis of monogamy-of-entanglement games 104				

6.1 Monogamy-of-entanglement games

Monogamy-of-entanglement games are a special type of extended nonlocal game, and were originally introduced and studied by Tomamichel, Fehr, Kaniewski, and Wehner [TFKW13]. Monogamy-of-entanglement games received their namesake as they serve as a framework to conceptualize the fundamental monogamy property exhibited by entangled qubits [CKW00]. In short, this property states that for three possibly entangled qubits contained in the registers X₀, X₁, and X₂, that if X_i and X_j are maximally entangled, then X_k is completely unentangled with qubits X_i and X_j for $i \neq j \neq k$ where $i, j, k \in \{0, 1, 2\}$. This phenomena has been studied in a number of other works [Ter01, Ter04, KW04, OV06].

The manner in which a monogamy-of-entanglement game proceeds is similar to an extended nonlocal game. After Alice and Bob supply the referee with a quantum system, we now assume that the referee selects a single question at random, and sends this same question to both Alice and Bob. The winning condition of a monogamy-of-entanglement game is predicated on the ability for Alice and Bob to respond with the same answer, and that this answer must agree with the measurement outcome of the referee.

More formally, we specify a monogamy-of-entanglement game as $G = (\pi, R)$ where $\pi : \Sigma \to [0, 1]$ is a probability distribution defined over an alphabet Σ and where R is a function of the form $R : \Gamma \times \Sigma \to \text{Pos}(\mathcal{R})$ where $\mathcal{R} = \mathbb{C}^m$ is a complex Euclidean space of dimension m belonging to the referee and where Γ is an alphabet. The function R corresponds to a collection of measurement operators for the referee where R(a|x) is the measurement that corresponds to question $x \in \Sigma$ and answer $a \in \Gamma$. The function R must satisfy

$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma} R(a|x) = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{R}}$$
(6.1)

for every $x \in \Sigma$.

A monogamy-of-entanglement game closely follows the way in which an extended nonlocal game is played. First, Alice and Bob prepare a state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{V})$ and share it with the referee. The referee then selects a single question $x \in \Sigma$ according to the probability distribution π , and sends x to both Alice and Bob. Alice and Bob then produce and send respective responses a and b to the referee. When the referee receives a and b, it performs a measurement $\{R(c|x) : c \in \Gamma\}$ on its portion of the shared state, yielding some measurement outcome. The game is won if and only if the measurement outcomes aand b produced by Alice and Bob agree with the outcome of the referee's measurement. A monogamy-of-entanglement game is depicted in Figure 6.1.



Figure 6.1: A monogamy-of-entanglement game. The state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{V})$ contained in registers $(\mathsf{U},\mathsf{R},\mathsf{V})$ is prepared by Alice and Bob, where R is sent to the referee and U belongs to Alice and V belongs to Bob. The referee selects question x according to the π distribution, and sends x to both Alice and Bob. Alice and Bob then generate and send answers a and b to the referee. Alice and Bob win if and only if all measurement outcomes agree.

6.1.1 Strategies and values of monogamy-of-entanglement games

Since monogamy-of-entanglement games are a type of extended nonlocal game, one may also define unentangled strategies, standard quantum strategies, commuting measurement strategies, and non-signaling strategies as considered in Chapter 3 in a similar manner. We shall define some of these strategies and their corresponding values for the case of monogamy-of-entanglement games explicitly. For instance, a standard quantum strategy for a monogamy-of-entanglement game consists of finite-dimensional complex Euclidean spaces \mathcal{U} for Alice and \mathcal{V} for Bob, a quantum state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{V})$, and two collections of measurements

$$\{A_a^x : a \in \Gamma\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{U}) \quad \text{and} \quad \{B_a^x : a \in \Gamma\} \subset \operatorname{Pos}(\mathcal{V}),$$

$$(6.2)$$

for each $x \in \Sigma$. The measurement operators satisfy the constraint that

$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma} A_a^x = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}} \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{a\in\Gamma} B_a^x = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{V}}, \tag{6.3}$$

for each $x \in \Sigma$. For a monogamy-of-entanglement game, the winning probability for Alice and Bob when they use a standard quantum strategy is given by

$$\sum_{x \in \Sigma} \pi(x) \sum_{a \in \Gamma} \left\langle A_a^x \otimes R(a|x) \otimes B_a^x, \sigma \right\rangle.$$
(6.4)

In fact, we may simplify the above expression slightly. Recall from Section 3.2.2 that we may assume that $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{V})$ is pure for any extended nonlocal game, and the measurements of the referee are positive semidefinite, it follows by convexity that we may write the winning probability for Alice and Bob when they use a standard quantum strategy as

$$\left\|\sum_{x\in\Sigma}\pi(x)\sum_{a\in\Gamma}A_a^x\otimes R(a|x)\otimes B_a^x\right\|.$$
(6.5)

For a given monogamy-of-entanglement game $G = (\pi, R)$, we write $\omega^*(G)$ to denote the standard quantum value of G, which is the supremum winning value of Alice and Bob's winning probability over all standard quantum strategies for G.

An unentangled strategy for a monogamy-of-entanglement game is simply a standard quantum strategy for which the state $\sigma \in D(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{V})$ initially prepared by Alice and Bob is fully separable. The unentangled value of a monogamy-of-entanglement game, G, can be directly derived from the unentangled value of an extended nonlocal game from equation (3.22) as

$$\omega(G) = \max_{f:\Sigma \to \Gamma} \left\| \sum_{x \in \Sigma} \pi(x) R(f(x)|x) \right\|,\tag{6.6}$$

noting again that Alice and Bob only win in a monogamy-of-entanglement game when their measurement outcomes agree with the measurement outcome of the referee. A non-signaling strategy for a monogamy-of-entanglement game consists of a nonsignaling assemblage $K: \Gamma \times \Sigma \to \text{Pos}(\mathcal{R})$ such that

$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma} K(a,b|x,y) = \xi_b^y \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{b\in\Gamma} K(a,b|x,y) = \rho_a^x, \tag{6.7}$$

for all $x \in \Sigma$ and $y \in \Sigma$ where $\{\xi_b^y : y \in \Sigma, b \in \Gamma\}$ and $\{\rho_a^x : x \in \Sigma, a \in \Gamma\}$ are collections of operators satisfying

$$\sum_{a\in\Gamma}\rho_a^x = \tau = \sum_{b\in\Gamma}\xi_b^y,\tag{6.8}$$

for all $x \in \Sigma$ and $y \in \Sigma$ and where $\tau \in D(\mathcal{R})$ is a density operator. For any monogamyof-entanglement game the winning probability when Alice and Bob use a non-signaling strategy is given by

$$\sum_{x \in \Sigma} \pi(x) \sum_{a \in \Gamma} \left\langle R(a|x), K(a, a|x, x) \right\rangle.$$
(6.9)

For a monogamy-of-entanglement game, G, the non-signaling value, $\omega_{ns}(G)$ is the supremum value of the winning probability of G taken over all non-signaling strategies for Alice and Bob.

6.1.2 The BB84 monogamy-of-entanglement game

In the following example, we shall consider one type of monogamy-of-entanglement game referred to as the *BB84 monogamy-of-entanglement game*, denoted as G_{BB84} for short. As we shall see, the name of the game comes from the sets of measurements that the referee uses, which are defined from the BB84 measurement operators [BB84]. This game was initially introduced and studied in [TFKW13]. Note that we also already previously considered this game in Chapter 5 when we looked at the examples found in Sections 5.1.4 and 5.2.1.

Example 6.1 (BB84 monogamy-of-entanglement game [TFKW13]). Let $\Sigma = \Gamma = \{0, 1\}$,

define

$$R(0|0) = E_{0,0} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$R(1|0) = E_{1,1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$R(0|1) = \frac{1}{2} (E_{0,0} + E_{0,1} + E_{1,0} + E_{1,1}) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$R(1|1) = \frac{1}{2} (E_{0,0} - E_{0,1} - E_{1,0} + E_{1,1}) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{1}{2} \\ -\frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(6.10)

and define $\pi(0) = \pi(1) = 1/2$. Then the BB84 monogamy-of-entanglement game, denoted as G_{BB84} , is specified by $G_{BB84} = (\pi, R)$.

In [TFKW13], the authors also showed that even if Alice and Bob adopt a standard quantum strategy for G_{BB84} , they will perform *no better* than had they simply used an unentangled strategy,

$$\omega(G_{\mathsf{BB84}}) = \omega^*(G_{\mathsf{BB84}}) = \cos^2(\pi/8) \approx 0.8536. \tag{6.11}$$

That is to say, Alice and Bob gain no advantage in sharing entanglement with the referee. Recall that in Sections 5.1.4 and 5.2.1, we computed the lower and upper bound on the standard quantum value of G_{BB84} and found that both values agree and are equal to $\cos^2(\pi/8)$.

6.1.3 Comparing standard quantum and unentangled strategies for monogamy-of-entanglement games

Recall from Section 6.1.2 that $\omega(G_{\mathsf{BB84}}) = \omega^*(G_{\mathsf{BB84}})$, meaning that it makes no difference whether Alice and Bob adopt a standard quantum or unentangled strategy for G_{BB84} , as they will win with the same probability either way. A natural question then is whether this behavior persists in general for the class of monogamy-of-entanglement games. Specifically, is it the case that for any monogamy-of-entanglement game, G, that

$$\omega(G) = \omega^*(G)? \tag{6.12}$$

In this section, we shall show that for any monogamy-of-entanglement game where the size of the question set is two and the size of the answer set is arbitrary, the standard
quantum and unentangled values are indeed equal. However, in Section 6.3.1, we shall show that this behavior is *not true* for the entire class of monogamy-of-entanglement games and present an explicit example of a monogamy-of-entanglement game that yields a strictly higher standard quantum value than unentangled value.

Theorem 6.2. Let G be any monogamy-of-entanglement game for which the question set Σ satisfies $|\Sigma| = 2$. It holds that

$$\omega(G) = \omega^*(G). \tag{6.13}$$

Proof. It is evident that $\omega(G) \leq \omega^*(G)$, as this is the case for every extended nonlocal game (and therefore every monogamy-of-entanglement game), so it remains to prove the reverse inequality. Assume without loss of generality that $\Sigma = \{0, 1\}$, and that $G = (\pi, R)$ for $\pi(0) = \lambda$ and $\pi(1) = 1 - \lambda$. Consider any choice of projective measurements

$$\left\{A_a^0: a \in \Gamma\right\} \quad \text{and} \quad \left\{A_a^1: a \in \Gamma\right\} \tag{6.14}$$

on \mathcal{U} for Alice and

$$\{B_a^0: a \in \Gamma\}$$
 and $\{B_a^1: a \in \Gamma\}$ (6.15)

on \mathcal{V} for Bob. First, note that for an optimal choice of the initial state, we can write the standard quantum value of G in terms of the following equation

$$\omega^*(G) = \left\| \lambda \sum_{a \in \Gamma} A_a^0 \otimes R(a|0) \otimes B_a^0 + (1-\lambda) \sum_{b \in \Gamma} A_b^1 \otimes R(b|1) \otimes B_b^1 \right\|.$$
(6.16)

Note that the operator inside the norm of equation (6.16) is positive semidefinite since all of the measurement operators are also positive semidefinite.

Recall that for positive semidefinite operators $P \in \text{Pos}(\mathcal{U})$ and $Q \in \text{Pos}(\mathcal{V})$ that if $P \leq Q$ then it implies that $||P|| \leq ||Q||$. To observe this fact, note that for a positive semidefinite operator, X, the spectral norm yields the largest eigenvalue of that operator. An equivalent way to state that X is positive semidefinite is to say that X is Hermitian with nonnegative eigenvalues.

We can, therefore, upper bound $\omega^*(G)$ in the following way

$$\omega^*(G) \le \left\| \lambda \sum_{a \in \Gamma} A_a^0 \otimes R(a|0) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{V}} + (1-\lambda) \sum_{b \in \Gamma} \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}} \otimes R(b|1) \otimes B_b^1 \right\|.$$
(6.17)

Since we enforce that the operators A_a^x and B_b^y are valid measurement operators, it holds that

$$\sum_{a \in \Gamma} A_a^x = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{U}} \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{b \in \Gamma} B_b^y = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{V}}$$
(6.18)

for all $x \in \Sigma$ and $y \in \Sigma$. Let us now replace the identity operators from equation (6.17) with these sums to obtain

$$\omega^*(G) \le \left\| \lambda \sum_{a,b\in\Gamma} A^0_a \otimes R(a|0) \otimes B^1_b + (1-\lambda) \sum_{a,b\in\Gamma} A^0_a \otimes R(b|1) \otimes B^1_b \right\|.$$
(6.19)

Since $\{A_a^0 \otimes B_b^1 : a, b \in \Gamma\}$ are pairwise orthogonal projections, i.e. that $\langle A_a^0 \otimes B_b^1, A_{a'}^0 \otimes B_{b'}^1 \rangle = 0$ for $a \neq a'$ and $b \neq b'$ and also that it holds that

$$\left\|\sum_{k} A_k \otimes \Pi_k\right\| = \max_k \|A_k\|$$
(6.20)

for a projective measurement $\{\Pi_k\}$, we have that

$$\left\|\sum_{(a,b)\in\Gamma} A_a^0 \otimes \left(\lambda R(a|0) + (1-\lambda)R(b|1)\right) \otimes B_b^1\right\| \le \max_{a,b\in\Gamma} \left\|\lambda R(a|0) + (1-\lambda)R(b|1)\right\|.$$
(6.21)

It follows from equation (6.6) that

$$\omega(G) = \max_{a,b\in\Gamma} \left\| \lambda R(a|0) + (1-\lambda)R(b|1) \right\|.$$
(6.22)

Therefore $\omega^*(G) \leq \omega(G)$.

6.2 Parallel repetition of monogamy-of-entanglement games

For an integer $r \ge 1$ and some monogamy-of-entanglement game, G, the *r*-fold parallel repetition of a monogamy-of-entanglement game is when Alice and Bob play r copies of G, denoted as G^r , wherein the referee gives the players r independent and identically

distributed pairs of questions simultaneously and expects a response from Alice and Bob for each instance. The referee accepts if and only if all of the r responses satisfy the criteria for the initial game, and rejects otherwise. The parallel repetition of a monogamy-of-entanglement game is depicted in Figure 6.2.

Define the complex Euclidean spaces $\mathcal{R}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{R}_r$ and define alphabets

$$\Sigma = \Sigma_1 \times \dots \times \Sigma_r$$
 and $\Gamma = \Gamma_1 \times \dots \times \Gamma_r$ (6.23)

such that $x_1 \in \Sigma_1, \ldots, x_r \in \Sigma_r$ are selected from Σ according to

$$\pi^k : \Sigma_1 \times \dots \times \Sigma_k \to [0, 1] \tag{6.24}$$

where $\pi^k(x_1, \ldots, x_r) = \pi(x_1) \cdots \pi(x_r)$. Then the *r*-fold parallel repetition of *G* starts off with the referee accepting *r* registers $\mathsf{R}_1, \ldots, \mathsf{R}_r$ from Alice and Bob where the contents of the registers correspond to the state

$$\sigma \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{U} \otimes \mathcal{R}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{R}_r \otimes \mathcal{V}), \tag{6.25}$$

and selecting r questions $x_1 \in \Sigma, \ldots, x_r \in \Sigma$ according to π . The referee then sends x_1, \ldots, x_r to Alice and Bob. The players return r answers $a_1 \in \Gamma_1, \ldots, a_r \in \Gamma_r$ for each question. The referee then performs a measurement from the set

$$\{R(a_1,\ldots,a_r|x_1,\ldots,x_r)=R(a_1|x_1)\otimes\cdots\otimes R(a_r|x_r):a_i\in\Gamma,\ x_i\in\Sigma\}.$$
(6.26)

Alice and Bob win the parallel repetition of G if and only if their answers win each of the r instances of G^r . That is, for a monogamy-of-entanglement game, Alice and Bob win if and only if the outcomes of their measurements in every r instance of the game matches with the referee's measurement outcome for every r games.

One may ask how $\omega(G^r)$ depends on $\omega(G)$ and r. It is evident that $\omega(G^r) \geq \omega(G)^r$ since Alice and Bob can simply perform the same strategy in each instance. For any game that has the property $\omega(G) = 1$, it holds that $\omega(G^r) = 1$ for any r. One may also wish to ask the question of how $\omega(G^r)$ scales in the event that $\omega(G) < 1$. First note that $\omega(G^r) \leq \omega(G)$. This can be seen since, in order for the players to win all instances of the game, they must win the original game, G. Note also that $\omega(G)^r \leq \omega(G^r)$ and $\omega(G)^r \leq \omega(G)$. This holds since the players can simply play each game independently with the optimal strategy for the original game. We, therefore, have the following inequality relationship for the parallel repetition of G

$$\omega(G)^r \le \omega(G^r) \le \omega(G). \tag{6.27}$$



Figure 6.2: Parallel repetition of a monogamy-of-entanglement game. Alice and Bob prepare registers $(\mathsf{R}_1, \ldots, \mathsf{R}_r)$ and send to the referee. The referee then asks questions x_1, \ldots, x_r to Alice and y_1, \ldots, y_r to Bob. Alice and Bob respond to each question with answers a_1, \ldots, a_r and b_1, \ldots, b_r . Once the referee receives all the answers, it performs a measurement. Alice and Bob win the parallel repetition of the monogamy-of-entanglement game if and only if all their answers match the referee's measurement outcome for every r instance.

It may be tempting to conclude that $\omega(G^r) = \omega(G)^r$ for all games, however this was surprisingly disproven [FRS90, Fei91, Ver96, FV02]. Specifically in [FRS90], Fortnow introduced a game G for which $\omega(G^2) > \omega(G)^2$. This result was later improved by Feige [Fei91], by exhibiting an example of a game where $\omega(G^2) = \omega(G)$ with $\omega(G) < 1$.

We say that a game G exhibits the property of *strong parallel repetition* if the value of the game raised to the r power is equal to the value of running the game r times. For instance, a monogamy-of-entanglement game, G, where the players use a standard quantum strategy satisfies strong parallel repetition if and only if

$$\omega^*(G^r) = \omega^*(G)^r. \tag{6.28}$$

Strong parallel repetition has been also referred to as perfect parallel repetition elsewhere in the literature as in [CSUU08].

It is a fact proved in [TFKW13] that the BB84 game, G_{BB84} , exhibits the property of strong parallel repetition,

$$\omega^*(G^r_{\mathsf{BB84}}) = \omega^*(G_{\mathsf{BB84}})^r = \left(\cos^2(\pi/8)\right)^r,\tag{6.29}$$

where r is the number of rounds of repetition performed. A natural question for the general class of monogamy-of-entanglement games might be whether this behavior holds for any monogamy-of-entanglement game. In Section 6.2.1, we prove that for any monogamy-of-entanglement game $G = (\pi, R)$ where the set of measurements belonging to the referee, R, are projective, the distribution π is uniform, the size of the question set is $|\Sigma| = 2$, and the size of the answer set is $|\Gamma| = k$ for some integer $k \ge 1$, then strong parallel repetition holds.

This result of strong parallel repetition holds for the case when Alice and Bob use either an unentangled or a standard quantum strategy since we know from Section 6.1.3 that

$$\omega(G) = \omega^*(G) \tag{6.30}$$

for any monogamy-of-entanglement game G, with $|\Sigma| = 2$ and $|\Gamma| = k$ for some integer $k \ge 1$. Specifically, the result that is shown in Section 6.2.1 is that

$$\omega(G^r) = \omega(G)^r \quad \text{and} \quad \omega^*(G^r) = \omega^*(G)^r, \tag{6.31}$$

where r is the number of repetitions and $G = (\pi, R)$ is a monogamy-of-entanglement where $|\Sigma| = 2$, $|\Gamma| = k$, π is uniform, and R is a collection of projective measurement operators.

While strong parallel repetition holds for a specific class of monogamy-of-entanglement games when Alice and Bob use either an unentangled or standard quantum strategy, we can ask a similar question when Alice and Bob use a non-signaling strategy instead. As we shall see in Section 6.2.2, it turns out that strong parallel repetition does *not* hold in the non-signaling scenario. We shall illustrate this by showing a counter-example to strong parallel repetition by using a non-signaling version of the BB84 monogamy-of-entanglement game and showing that

$$\omega_{\rm ns}(G^r_{\sf BB84}) \neq \omega_{\rm ns}(G_{\sf BB84})^r. \tag{6.32}$$

for r = 2.

6.2.1 Strong parallel repetition for certain monogamy-of-entanglement games with two questions

We begin this section by recalling a theorem from [TFKW13].

Theorem 6.3 (Tomamichel, Fehr, Kaniewski, and Wehner (Theorem 4 of [TFKW13])). Let $G = (\pi, R)$ be a monogamy-of-entanglement game for which π is uniform over Σ , define

$$c(G) = \max_{\substack{x,y\in\Sigma\\x\neq y}} \max_{a,b\in\Gamma} \left\| \sqrt{R(a|x)} \sqrt{R(b|y)} \right\|^2,$$
(6.33)

and let G^r denote the game played r times in parallel. It holds that

$$\omega^*(G^r) \le \left(\frac{1}{|\Sigma|} + \frac{|\Sigma| - 1}{|\Sigma|}\sqrt{c(G)}\right)^r.$$
(6.34)

Equation (6.33) may be referred to as the maximal overlap of the referree's measurements. As was observed in [TFKW13], this quantity satisfies

$$\frac{1}{|\Gamma|} \le c(G) \le 1 \quad \text{and} \quad c(G^r) = c(G)^r.$$
(6.35)

For any monogamy-of-entanglement game, G, Theorem 6.3 provides an upper bound on the standard quantum value achieved when running G for r times in parallel as given by equation (6.34). In this section, we shall show that for $|\Sigma| = 2$ that the bound from equation (6.34) is indeed tight.

Theorem 6.4. Let $G = (\pi, R)$ be a monogamy-of-entanglement game for which π is uniform over Σ with $|\Sigma| = 2$. It holds that

$$\omega^*(G^r) = \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{c(G)}\right)^r.$$
(6.36)

In order to prove theorem 6.4, we first require the following proposition.

Proposition 6.5. Let $G = (\pi, R)$ be a monogamy-of-entanglement game for which $\Sigma = \{0, 1\}, \pi$ is uniform over Σ , and R(a|x) is a projection operator for each $x \in \Sigma$ and $a \in \Gamma$. It holds that

$$\omega(G) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \max_{a,b\in\Gamma} \left\| R(a|0)R(b|1) \right\|.$$
(6.37)

Proving this proposition requires the use of the following lemma.

Lemma 6.6. Let Π_0 and Π_1 be nonzero projection operators on \mathbb{C}^r . It holds that

$$\|\Pi_0 + \Pi_1\| = 1 + \|\Pi_0 \Pi_1\|.$$
(6.38)

Proof. For every choice of unit vectors $u_0, u_1 \in \mathbb{C}^r$, one has the formula

$$\left\| u_0 u_0^* + u_1 u_1^* \right\| = 1 + \left| \langle u_0, u_1 \rangle \right|, \qquad (6.39)$$

which follows from the observation that the Hermitian operator $u_0u_0^* + u_1u_1^*$ has (at most) two nonzero eigenvalues $1 \pm |\langle u_0, u_1 \rangle|$. Letting $\mathcal{S}, \mathcal{S}_0$, and \mathcal{S}_1 denote the unit spheres in the spaces \mathbb{C}^r , im(Π_0), and im(Π_1), respectively, one has

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \Pi_{0} + \Pi_{1} \right\| &= \max \left\{ v^{*} \left(\Pi_{0} + \Pi_{1} \right) v : v \in \mathcal{S} \right\} \\ &= \max \left\{ \left\| \Pi_{0} v \right\|^{2} + \left\| \Pi_{1} v \right\|^{2} : v \in \mathcal{S} \right\} \\ &= \max \left\{ \left| \langle u_{0}, v \rangle \right|^{2} + \left| \langle u_{1}, v \rangle \right|^{2} : v \in \mathcal{S}, \ u_{0} \in \mathcal{S}_{0}, \ u_{1} \in \mathcal{S}_{1} \right\} \\ &= \max \left\{ v^{*} \left(u_{0} u_{0}^{*} + u_{1} u_{1}^{*} \right) v : v \in \mathcal{S}, \ u_{0} \in \mathcal{S}_{0}, \ u_{1} \in \mathcal{S}_{1} \right\} \\ &= \max \left\{ \left\| u_{0} u_{0}^{*} + u_{1} u_{1}^{*} \right\| : u_{0} \in \mathcal{S}_{0}, \ u_{1} \in \mathcal{S}_{1} \right\} \\ &= \max \left\{ 1 + \left| \langle u_{0}, u_{1} \rangle \right| : u_{0} \in \mathcal{S}_{0}, \ u_{1} \in \mathcal{S}_{1} \right\} \\ &= 1 + \left\| \Pi_{0} \Pi_{1} \right\|, \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.40)$$

which proves the lemma.

Proof of Proposition 6.5. From equation (3.22), we have that the unentangled value of the game G is given by

$$\omega(G) = \max_{a,b\in\Gamma} \left\| \frac{1}{2}R(a|0) + \frac{1}{2}R(b|1) \right\| = \frac{1}{2} \max_{a,b\in\Gamma} \left\| R(a|0) + R(b|1) \right\|.$$
(6.41)

It follows from Lemma 6.6 that ||R(a|0) + R(b|1)|| = 1 + ||R(a|0)R(b|1)|| which allows us to write equation (6.41) as

$$\omega(G) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \max_{a,b\in\Gamma} \left\| R(a|0)R(b|1) \right\|,\tag{6.42}$$

proving the proposition.

Proof of Theorem 6.4. The upper bound

$$\omega^*(G^r) \le \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{c(G)}\right)^r,$$
(6.43)

follows from Theorem 6.3, initially shown in [TFKW13]. Showing the other direction

$$\omega^*(G^r) \ge \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{c(G)}\right)^r,$$
(6.44)

follows from Proposition 6.5 and Lemma 6.6. The reason that this direction holds for any number of repetitions r is that Alice and Bob can simply play an optimal strategy for each r games, r times in parallel. This implies that

$$\omega^*(G^r) \ge \omega(G^r) \ge \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \max_{a,b\in\Gamma} \left\| R(a|0)R(b|1) \right\| \right)^r = \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{c(G)}\right)^r, \quad (6.45)$$

which matches the upper bound from Theorem 6.3.

6.2.2 No strong parallel repetition for monogamy-of-entanglement games with non-signaling provers

Claim 6.7 (No strong parallel repetition for non-signaling provers). There exists a monogamyof-entanglement game, G, such that

$$\omega_{\rm ns}(G^2) \neq \omega_{\rm ns}(G)^2. \tag{6.46}$$

Proof of Claim 6.7. We shall verify equation (6.46) numerically using the convex optimization software CVX [GBY08] in addition to the software listing A.1.7 in Appendix A. The explicit monogamy-of-entanglement game that we shall use to verify this claim is G_{BB84} , the BB84 game as mentioned in Section 6.1.2. It may be checked by running the software listing A.1.7 that

$$\omega_{\rm ns}(G_{\rm BB84}^2) \approx 0.73826.$$
 (6.47)

However, we may also verify that a single repetition of G_{BB84} is $\cos^2(\pi/8)$, that is

$$\omega_{\rm ns}(G_{\sf BB84}) = \cos^2(\pi/8). \tag{6.48}$$

From this, it is clear that

$$\omega_{\rm ns}(G_{\rm BB84}^2) \neq \omega_{\rm ns}(G_{\rm BB84})^2 = \cos^4(\pi/8), \tag{6.49}$$

which concludes the proof.

6.3 Upper and lower bounds on monogamy-of-entanglement games

In this section, we apply the upper and lower bound techniques for extended nonlocal games from Chapter 5, and apply them to monogamy-of-entanglement games. In doing so, we are able to verify the existence of a monogamy-of-entanglement game where Alice and Bob perform better if they use a standard quantum strategy as opposed to an unentangled one.

6.3.1 A monogamy-of-entanglement game with quantum advantage

Example 6.8 (A monogamy-of-entanglement game with quantum advantage). Let $\zeta = \exp(\frac{2\pi i}{3})$ and consider the following four mutually unbiased bases:

$$\mathcal{B}_{0} = \{e_{0}, e_{1}, e_{2}\},\$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{1} = \left\{\frac{e_{0} + e_{1} + e_{2}}{\sqrt{3}}, \frac{e_{0} + \zeta^{2}e_{1} + \zeta e_{2}}{\sqrt{3}}, \frac{e_{0} + \zeta e_{1} + \zeta^{2}e_{2}}{\sqrt{3}}\right\},\$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{2} = \left\{\frac{e_{0} + e_{1} + \zeta e_{2}}{\sqrt{3}}, \frac{e_{0} + \zeta^{2}e_{1} + \zeta^{2}e_{2}}{\sqrt{3}}, \frac{e_{0} + \zeta e_{1} + e_{2}}{\sqrt{3}}\right\},\$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{3} = \left\{\frac{e_{0} + e_{1} + \zeta^{2}e_{2}}{\sqrt{3}}, \frac{e_{0} + \zeta^{2}e_{1} + e_{2}}{\sqrt{3}}, \frac{e_{0} + \zeta e_{1} + \zeta e_{2}}{\sqrt{3}}\right\}.$$
(6.50)

Define a monogamy-of-entanglement game $G = (\pi, R)$ so that

$$\pi(0) = \pi(1) = \pi(2) = \pi(3) = \frac{1}{4}$$
(6.51)

and R is such that

$$\{R(0|x), R(1|x), R(2|x)\}$$
(6.52)

represents a measurement with respect to the basis \mathcal{B}_x , for each $x \in \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$. In order to observe that $\omega(G) < \omega^*(G)$, first consider the following unentangled strategy. Alice and Bob prepare the state

$$u = \left(1 - i\sqrt{\frac{3}{4}}\right)e_0 + \left(1 + i\sqrt{\frac{3}{5}}\right)e_1 + \left(1 + \frac{3}{\sqrt{5}}\right)e_2,\tag{6.53}$$

and sends it to the referee. In the event that x = 0 or x = 1, Alice and Bob respond with a = b = 2. If instead x = 2 or x = 3, Alice and Bob respond with a = b = 0. The value of the game in this case is given by

$$\omega(G) = \frac{1}{4} \left\langle R(2|0) + R(2|1) + R(0|2) + R(0|3), \rho \right\rangle = \frac{3 + \sqrt{5}}{8} \approx 0.6545, \tag{6.54}$$

where $\rho = uu^* \in D(\mathcal{R} \otimes \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B})$. An exhaustive search over all unentangled strategies reveals that equation (6.54) is optimal. In contrast, a computer search over quantum strategies using the lower bound techniques from Section 5.2 has revealed that

$$\omega^*(G) \ge 0.660986,\tag{6.55}$$

which is strictly larger than the unentangled value of this game. This strategy is available for download from the software repository [JR15] and is also provided as a software example in Appendix A. It is uncertain what the optimal standard quantum strategy is for this game, but the value of such a strategy is bounded as follows

$$2/3 \ge \omega^*(G) \ge 0.660986. \tag{6.56}$$

6.3.2 Synopsis of monogamy-of-entanglement games

The following table gives an overview of what is currently known about the class of monogamy-of-entanglement games and summarizes some of the main contributions of this chapter.

¹So long as the measurements used by the referee are projective and the probability distribution, π , from which the questions are asked is uniform.

Inputs (Σ)	Outputs (Γ)	$\omega^*(G) = \omega(G)$	$\omega^*(G^r) = \omega^*(G)^r$	$\omega_{\rm ns}(G^r) = \omega_{\rm ns}(G)^r$
2	≥ 1	yes	yes ¹	no
3	≥ 1	?	?	no
4	3	no	?	no

Table 6.1: A table of known results for monogamy-of-entanglement games. The first and second column refer to the number of inputs and outputs for such a game. The third column states whether or not the unentangled and standard quantum values are equal, and the last two columns state whether or not strong parallel repetition holds with either quantum players or non-signaling players respectively.

Chapter 7

Conclusions and open problems

In this thesis, we have laid the foundation for the extended nonlocal game model, a superset of the nonlocal game model where the referee also holds a quantum system.

In Chapter 3 we defined and analyzed the analogous types of strategies and corresponding game values (standard quantum, unentangled, commuting measurement, and non-signaling) that the players, Alice and Bob, can make use of in such a game.

In Chapter 4, we took a deeper look at the extended nonlocal game model and showed that there exists an example of an extended nonlocal game where if the dimension of Alice and Bob's shared quantum system is finite, then the standard quantum value will be strictly less than 1. However, taking the limit as the dimension tends to infinity, the standard quantum value approaches 1. We saw how this result implies something non-trivial about tripartite steering inequalities, specifically that there exists a tripartite steering inequality for which an infinite-dimensional state is required in order to maximally violate the inequality.

In Chapter 5, we provided a technique to place upper bounds on the standard quantum value of an extended nonlocal game that generalizes the QC hierarchy, which we referred to as the extended QC hierarchy. We have shown that the hierarchy enjoys many of the same useful properties that the original QC hierarchy does, specifically, convergence to the set of commuting measurement assemblages. We also adapted the techniques of Liang and Doherty [LD07] to place lower bounds on the standard quantum value of extended nonlocal games. Furthermore, we have also presented software that calculates lower and upper bounds using these techniques of certain special classes of extended nonlocal games.

In Chapter 6, we took these tools and analyzed the class of monogamy-of-entanglement games, a class of games that were initially studied in the context of position-based cryp-

tography [TFKW13]. We proved a number of properties that these games have including how they behave under parallel repetition, how entanglement may help in Alice and Bob's strategies, etc.

A number of questions regarding the class of monogamy-of-entanglement games remain open. Specifically,

Question 7.1. Other examples of monogamy-of-entanglement games where $\omega(G) < \omega^*(G)$.

The complete landscape of how the quantum and classical values compare for different instances of monogamy-of-entanglement games is something to be explored. We only know of a small number of isolated examples where $\omega(G) < \omega^*(G)$ for a monogamy-ofentanglement game, G.

In Section 6.3.1 a set of $|\Sigma| = 4$ mutually unbiased bases in $|\Gamma| = 3$ dimensions allow Alice and Bob to perform better if they adopt a standard quantum strategy instead of an unentangled strategy. This is the smallest example of a monogamy-of-entanglement game that was found having this property. Is there an example having fewer questions or fewer answers? This example would have to have at least three questions, since we know that for $|\Sigma| = 2$, that the unentangled and standard quantum values agree for any number of outputs as shown in Section 6.1.3. Numerical results indicate that the monogamy-ofentanglement game consisting of $|\Sigma| = 3$ where the referee's measurements are defined in terms of mutually unbiased bases gives no such separation. Is it possible that another monogamy-of-entanglement game with $|\Sigma| = 3$ questions exists where such a separation between unentangled and standard quantum values exists?

One brute force method that can be used to check if there exists a monogamy-ofentanglement game for $|\Sigma| = 3$ where a standard quantum strategy will outperform an unentangled strategy is to run a computer search over randomly generated instances of such monogamy-of-entanglement games. The software provided in the Appendix of this thesis A as well as hosted on the software repository [Rus15] provides a suite of tools that give upper and lower bounds on the quantum value (as described in Chapter 5) as well as tools for calculating the unentangled value of any monogamy-of-entanglement game. One approach would be to randomly generate monogamy-of-entanglement games where $|\Sigma| = 3$ and $|\Gamma| \ge 2$, and see if any example of such games yield $\omega(G) < \omega^*(G)$. This approach does not seem particularly promising, as if such a game were to exist with this property, it most likely has a very specific structure that would be difficult to capture by random generation. On a related note, under what conditions does a monogamy-of-entanglement game based on mutually unbiased bases admit a standard quantum over unentangled strategy advantage? Numerically, it may be checked that a monogamy-of-entanglement game consisting $|\Sigma| = 5$ and $|\Gamma| = 4$ also yields a standard quantum advantage over any unentangled strategy. Does this behavior persist for any monogamy-of-entanglement game defined by mutually unbiased bases as long as the number of inputs is at least $|\Sigma| = 4$, and the number of outputs is at least $|\Gamma| = 3$? Furthermore, do there exist other monogamy-ofentanglement games where $|\Sigma| \ge 4$ and $|\Gamma| \ge 3$ such that $\omega(G) < \omega^*(G)$? Just as a computer search can be constructed where $|\Sigma| = 3$ and $|\Gamma| \ge 2$, one may also formulate a search that checks for larger instances as well.

Question 7.2. Parallel repetition for monogamy-of-entanglement games?

It was shown in Section 6.2.1 (Theorem 6.3) that for any monogamy-of-entanglement game defined in terms of projective measurements for the referee where $|\Sigma| = 2$ and $|\Gamma| \ge k$ for some integer $k \ge 1$ that strong parallel repetition holds. Would it be possible to extend from projective measurements to non-projective measurements, such as POVMs? After simulating approximately 10⁸ random instances of monogamy-of-entanglement games with $|\Sigma| = 2$ defined in terms of POVMs, all games were found to obey strong parallel repetition for r = 2 rounds of repetition.

Furthermore, the claim that strong parallel repetition holds for monogamy-of-entanglement games where the measurements of the referee are projective and $|\Sigma| = 2$ assumes that the questions that the referee asks are selected uniformly at random. Is it possible that the strong parallel repetition property will continue to hold despite the distribution of questions? If indeed it does hold under nonuniform distributions, the bound from equation (6.34) from Theorem 6.3 will most likely be in a more complicated form. Ultimately, the overall goal for parallel repetition of monogamy-of-entanglement games would be to either prove or disprove strong parallel repetition for the entire class of such games.

There also exists other questions and directions for further research.

Question 7.3. Other examples of using extended nonlocal games to study tripartite steering.

As mentioned in Chapter 4, we were able to prove a non-trivial statement about a certain type of tripartite steering using the extended nonlocal game model. Given the connection between extended nonlocal games and tripartite steering, are there other possible questions we can answer that become more apparent using the extended nonlocal game model?

Question 7.4. Does there exist a nonlocal game G such that $\omega^*(G) = 1$ and that $\omega^*_N(G) < 1$ for every positive integer N?

As mentioned in Chapter 4, it is known that nonlocal games with quantum questions and quantum answers do satisfy the above property [LTW13]. However, it is unknown for nonlocal games with classical questions and classical answers. This question is most likely difficult to solve.

References

- [AJR15] Srinivasan Arunachalam, Nathaniel Johnston, and Vincent Russo. Is absolute separability determined by the partial transpose? *Quantum Information & Computation*, 15(7&8):0694–0720, 2015. 4
- [AMR13] Srinivasan Arunachalam, Abel Molina, and Vincent Russo. Quantum hedging in two-round prover-verifier interactions. arXiv preprint arXiv:1310.7954, 2013. 5
- [Bab85] László Babai. Trading group theory for randomness. In Proceedings of the seventeenth annual ACM symposium on Theory of computing, pages 421– 429. ACM, 1985. 24
- [BB84] Charles Bennett and Gilles Brassard. Quantum cryptography: Public key distribution and coin tossing. Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Computers, Systems and Signal Processing, 175, 1984. 93
- [BBC⁺93] Charles Bennett, Gilles Brassard, Claude Crépeau, Richard Jozsa, Asher Peres, and William Wootters. Teleporting an unknown quantum state via dual classical and Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen channels. *Physical review letters*, 70(13):1895, 1993. 23
- [BBT05] Gilles Brassard, Anne Broadbent, and Alain Tapp. Quantum pseudotelepathy. *Foundations of Physics*, 35(11):1877–1907, 2005. 2, 24
- [BCJ⁺15] Somshubhro Bandyopadhyay, Alessandro Cosentino, Nathaniel Johnston, Vincent Russo, John Watrous, and Nengkun Yu. Limitations on separable measurements by convex optimization. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 61(15142258):3593–3604, 2015. doi:10.1109/TIT.2015.2417755.

- [BCP⁺14] Nicolas Brunner, Daniel Cavalcanti, Stefano Pironio, Valerio Scarani, and Stephanie Wehner. Bell nonlocality. *Reviews of Modern Physics*, 86(2):419, 2014. 32
- [Bel64] John Bell. On the Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen paradox. *Physics*, 1(3):195–200, 1964. 24
- [BFL91] László Babai, Lance Fortnow, and Carsten Lund. Non-deterministic exponential time has two-prover interactive protocols. *Computational Complexity*, 1(1):3–40, 1991. 24
- [BFS13] Harry Buhrman, Serge Fehr, and Christian Schaffner. On the parallel repetition of multi-player games: The no-signaling case. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1312.7455*, 2013. 2, 24
- [BOGKW88] Michael Ben-Or, Shafi Goldwasser, Joe Kilian, and Avi Wigderson. Multiprover interactive proofs: How to remove intractability assumptions. In Proceedings of the Twentieth Annual ACM Symposium on Theory of Computing, pages 113–131. ACM, 1988. 24
- [Bus12] Francesco Buscemi. All entangled quantum states are nonlocal. *Physical* review letters, 108(20):200401, 2012. 44, 45
- [BV04] Stephen Boyd and Lieven Vandenberghe. *Convex optimization*. Cambridge university press, 2004. 3, 6
- [CG04] Daniel Collins and Nicolas Gisin. A relevant two qubit Bell inequality inequivalent to the CHSH inequality. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 37(5):1775, 2004. 72
- [CHSH69] John Clauser, Michael Horne, Abner Shimony, and Richard Holt. Proposed experiment to test local hidden-variable theories. *Physical Review Letters*, 23(15):880, 1969. 24
- [CHTW04] Richard Cleve, Peter Hoyer, Benjamin Toner, and John Watrous. Consequences and limits of nonlocal strategies. In Computational Complexity, 2004. Proceedings. 19th IEEE Annual Conference on, pages 236–249. IEEE, 2004. 2, 24
- [CKW00] Valerie Coffman, Joydip Kundu, and William Wootters. Distributed entanglement. *Physical Review A*, 61(5):052306, 2000. 90

- [CM14] Richard Cleve and Rajat Mittal. Characterization of binary constraint system games. In Javier Esparza, Pierre Fraigniaud, Thore Husfeldt, and Elias Koutsoupias, editors, Automata, Languages, and Programming, volume 8572 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 320–331. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2014. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-43948-7_27, doi:10.1007/978-3-662-43948-7_27. 2, 24
- [CR14] Alessandro Cosentino and Vincent Russo. Small sets of locally indistinguishable orthogonal maximally entangled states. *Quantum Information & Computation*, 14(13-14):1098–1106, 2014. 4
- [CSA⁺15] Daniel Cavalcanti, Paul Skrzypczyk, Gregory Aguilar, Ranieri Nery, Paulo Souto Ribeiro, and Stephen Walborn. Detection of entanglement in asymmetric quantum networks and multipartite quantum steering. *Nature Communications*, 6(7941), 2015. doi:doi:10.1038/ncomms8941. 34, 62
- [CSUU08] Richard Cleve, William Slofstra, Falk Unger, and Sarvagya Upadhyay. Perfect parallel repetition theorem for quantum XOR proof systems. *Computational Complexity*, 17(2):282–299, 2008. 2, 24, 32, 99
- [CV15] Matthew Coudron and Thomas Vidick. Interactive proofs with approximately commuting provers. In Automata, Languages, and Programming, pages 355–366. Springer, 2015. 2
- [DLTW08] Andrew Doherty, Yeong-Cherng Liang, Ben Toner, and Stephanie Wehner. The quantum moment problem and bounds on entangled multi-prover games. In Computational Complexity, 2008. CCC'08. 23rd Annual IEEE Conference on, pages 199–210. IEEE, 2008. 2, 24, 30, 32, 66, 67
- [DSV13] Irit Dinur, David Steurer, and Thomas Vidick. A parallel repetition theorem for entangled projection games. *Computational Complexity*, 24:201–254, 2013. doi:10.1007/s00037-015-0098-3. 2, 24
- [Fei91] Uriel Feige. On the success probability of the two provers in one-round proof systems. In Structure in Complexity Theory Conference, 1991., Proceedings of the Sixth Annual, pages 116–123. IEEE, 1991. 24, 99
- [FK94] Uri Feige and Joe Kilian. Two prover protocols: Low error at affordable rates. In Proceedings of the Twenty-sixth Annual ACM Symposium on Theory of Computing, pages 172–183. ACM, 1994. 24

[For89]	Lance Fortnow. Complexity-theoretic aspects of interactive proof systems. PhD thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 1989. 24
[Fri12]	Tobias Fritz. Tsirelson's problem and Kirchberg's conjecture. <i>Reviews in Mathematical Physics</i> , 24(05):1250012, 2012. 34
[FRS90]	Lance Fortnow, John Rompel, and Michael Sipser. Errata for on the power of multi-prover interactive protocols. In <i>Structure in Complexity Theory Conference</i> , pages 318–319, 1990. 99
[FV02]	Uriel Feige and Oleg Verbitsky. Error reduction by parallel repetitiona neg- ative result. <i>Combinatorica</i> , 22(4):461–478, 2002. 99
[GBY08]	Michael Grant, Stephen Boyd, and Yinyu Ye. CVX: MATLAB software for disciplined convex programming, 2008. 75, 102, 118
[GKMR14]	David Gosset, Vadym Kliuchnikov, Michele Mosca, and Vincent Russo. An algorithm for the T-count. <i>Quantum Information & Computation</i> , 14(15-16):1261–1276, 2014. 4
[GMR85]	Shafi Goldwasser, Silvio Micali, and Charles Rackoff. The knowledge com- plexity of interactive proof-systems. In <i>Proceedings of the seventeenth annual</i> <i>ACM symposium on Theory of computing</i> , pages 291–304. ACM, 1985. 24
[IIA06]	Tsuyoshi Ito, Hiroshi Imai, and David Avis. Bell inequalities stronger than the Clauser-Horne-Shimony-Holt inequality for three-level isotropic states. <i>Physical Review A</i> , $73(4):042109$, 2006. 85
[JMRW16]	Nathaniel Johnston, Rajat Mittal, Vincent Russo, and John Watrous. Ex- tended nonlocal games and monogamy-of-entanglement games. <i>Proc. R. Soc.</i> <i>A</i> , 2016, 472, 20160003, 2016. 4, 34, 67, 89
[Joh15]	Nathaniel Johnston. QETLAB: MATLAB software for quantum entangle- ment. http://www.qetlab.com, 2015. 118
[JP11]	Marius Junge and Carlos Palazuelos. Large violation of Bell inequalities with low entanglement. <i>Communications in Mathematical Physics</i> , 306(3):695– 746, 2011. 2, 24
[JR15]	Nathaniel Johnston and Vincent Russo. Supplementary software for im- plementing the examples for the extended QC hierarchy of semidefinite

programs. https://github.org/vprusso/monogamy-of-entanglement-games, 2015. 104

- [KGN15] Hirotada Kobayashi, François Le Gall, and Harumichi Nishimura. Generalized quantum Arthur-Merlin games. pages 488–511, 2015. 64
- [KKM⁺11] Julia Kempe, Hirotada Kobayashi, Keiji Matsumoto, Ben Toner, and Thomas Vidick. Entangled games are hard to approximate. SIAM Journal on Computing, 40(3):848–877, 2011. 2, 24
- [KLM07] Phillip Kaye, Raymond Laflamme, and Michele Mosca. An Introduction to Quantum Computing. Oxford University Press, 2007. 6
- [KR10] Julia Kempe and Oded Regev. No strong parallel repetition with entangled and non-signaling provers. In *Computational Complexity (CCC), 2010 IEEE* 25th Annual Conference on, pages 7–15. IEEE, 2010. 2, 24
- [KRT10] Julia Kempe, Oded Regev, and Ben Toner. Unique games with entangled provers are easy. SIAM Journal on Computing, 39(7):3207–3229, 2010. 2, 24
- [KW04] Masato Koashi and Andreas Winter. Monogamy of quantum entanglement and other correlations. *Physical Review A*, 69(2):022309, 2004. 90
- [LD07] Yeong-Cherng Liang and Andrew Doherty. Bounds on quantum correlations in Bell-inequality experiments. *Physical Review A*, 75(4):042103, 2007. 2, 3, 66, 85, 106
- [LTW13] Debbie Leung, Ben Toner, and John Watrous. Coherent state exchange in multi-prover quantum interactive proof systems. *Chicago Journal of Theoretical Computer Science*, 11:1–18, 2013. 48, 109
- [NC00] Michael Nielsen and Isaac Chuang. *Quantum computation and quantum information*. Cambridge university press, 2000. 3, 6, 24
- [NPA07] Miguel Navascués, Stefano Pironio, and Antonio Acín. Bounding the set of quantum correlations. *Physical Review Letters*, 98:010401, 2007. URL: http://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 98.010401, doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.98.010401. 2, 32, 66, 67, 73
- [NPA08] Miguel Navascués, Stefano Pironio, and Antonio Acín. A convergent hierarchy of semidefinite programs characterizing the set of quantum correlations. *New Journal of Physics*, 10(7):073013, 2008. 32, 66, 67, 73, 75, 78

- [OV06] Tobias Osborne and Frank Verstraete. General monogamy inequality for bipartite qubit entanglement. *Physical Review Letters*, 96(22):220503, 2006. 90
- [Pau03] Vern Paulsen. Completely bounded maps and operator algebras. Cambridge University Press, 2003. 39
- [PV09] Károly Pál and Tamás Vértesi. Quantum bounds on Bell inequalities. *Physical Review A*, 79(2):022120, 2009. 62, 67, 72
- [Raz98] Ran Raz. A parallel repetition theorem. SIAM Journal on Computing, 27(3):763–803, 1998. 24
- [Rud91] Walter Rudin. Functional analysis. McGraw-Hill, Inc., 1991. 17
- [Rus] Vincent Russo. Supplementary software for thesis. https://github.com/vprusso/phd_thesis. 119
- [Rus15] Vincent Russo. Supplementary software for extended nonlocal games. https://github.org/vprusso/extended-nonlocal-games, 2015. 4, 107
- [Rus16] Vincent Russo. Supplementary software for monogamy-of-entanglement games. https://github.com/vprusso/nonlocal_games_seminar_talk, 2016. 4
- [RV15] Oded Regev and Thomas Vidick. Quantum XOR games. In ACM Transactions on Computation Theory, volume 4, page 15. IEEE, 2015. 2, 24, 44, 45, 47, 48, 61
- [RW16] Vincent Russo and John Watrous. Extended nonlocal games from quantumclassical games. 2016. 4, 45
- [SBC⁺15] Ana Belén Sainz, Nicolas Brunner, Daniel Cavalcanti, Paul Skrzypczyk, and Tamás Vértesi. Postquantum steering. *Physical review letters*, 115(19):190403, 2015. 34, 62
- [Ter01] Barbara Terhal. A family of indecomposable positive linear maps based on entangled quantum states. *Linear Algebra and its Applications*, 323(1):61– 73, 2001. 90
- [Ter04] Barbara Terhal. Is entanglement monogamous? *IBM Journal of Research* and Development, 48(1):71–78, 2004. 90

- [TFKW13] Marco Tomamichel, Serge Fehr, Jkedrzej Kaniewski, and Stephanie Wehner. A monogamy-of-entanglement game with applications to device-independent quantum cryptography. New Journal of Physics, 15(10):103002, 2013. 2, 82, 89, 90, 93, 94, 99, 100, 102, 107
- [Ver96] Oleg Verbitsky. Towards the parallel repetition conjecture. *Theoretical Computer Science*, 157(2):277–282, 1996. 99
- [Vid13] Thomas Vidick. Three-player entangled XOR games are NP-hard to approximate. In Foundations of Computer Science (FOCS), 2013 IEEE 54th Annual Symposium on, pages 766–775. IEEE, 2013. 2, 24
- [Wat04] John Watrous. Theory of quantum information lecture notes, lecture 7. published electronically at http://www.cs.uwaterloo.ca/ watrous/lecturenotes.html, 2004. 3, 18
- [Wat15] John Watrous. Theory of Quantum Information. 2015. 3, 6
- [Wil13] Mark Wilde. *Quantum information theory*. Cambridge University Press, 2013. 6, 24
- [WW01] Reinhard Werner and Michael Wolf. Bell inequalities and entanglement. Quantum Information & Computation, 1(3):1–25, 2001. 85

APPENDICES

Appendix A

Software

Setup

Requirements

- MATLAB,
- $CVX \ge 2.1 [GBY08],$
- QETLAB ≥ 0.8 [Joh15].

List of functions

- MonogamyGameValueUB (by N. Johnston) Given a monogamy-of-entanglement game, G, the function calculates an upper bound on the quantum value of G;
- MonogamyGameValueLB Given a monogamy-of-entanglement game, G, the function calculates an lower bound on the quantum value of G;
- MUB (by N. Johnston) generates a set of mutually unbiased bases for a given dimension;

A.1 Software Listings

All of the following software listings in this Appendix are hosted on the Github repository found here [Rus].

A.1.1 The first level of the extended QC hierarchy for the BB84 extended nonlocal game

```
e0 = [1;0]; e1 = [0;1]; ep = [1;1]/sqrt(2); em = [1;-1]/sqrt(2);
psi0_dm = e0*e0'; psi0_dmc = e1*e1';
psi1_dm = ep*ep'; psi1_dmc = em*em';
ROO = psiO_dm/2;
R01 = psi0_dmc/2;
R10 = psi1_dm/2;
R11 = psi1_dmc/2;
dim = 9;
A00_B00 = zeros(dim); A01_B01 = zeros(dim);
A10_B10 = zeros(dim); A11_B11 = zeros(dim);
% These are the relative positions of these
% entries as indexed by strings in the matrix.
A00_B00(2,6) = 1; A00_B00(6,2) = 1;
A01_B01(3,7) = 1; A01_B01(7,3) = 1;
A10_B10(4,8) = 1; A10_B10(8,4) = 1;
A11_B11(5,9) = 1; A11_B11(9,5) = 1;
A = 1/2*(kron(R00, A00_B00) + kron(R01, A01_B01)) + ...
1/2*( kron(R10, A10_B10) + kron(R11,A11_B11) );
cvx_begin sdp
cvx_precision best
    %#ok<*VUNUS>
                    % suppress MATLAB warnings for equality checks in CVX
    %#ok<*EQEFF>
                    % suppress MATLAB warnings for inequality checks in CVX
    % Admissible matrix
```

```
variable M(2*dim,2*dim) hermitian
% Sub-block matrices found in the admissible matrix
variable M11(dim,dim)
variable M12(dim,dim)
variable M21(dim,dim)
variable M22(dim,dim)
M == [M11 M12;
   M21 M22 ];
maximize trace( A*M )
subject to
% Normalization condition:
M11(1,1) + M22(1,1) == 1;
for i = 1:dim
    for j = 1:dim
        % Ensure commutation relation holds
        \%(i.e. [A,B] = 0)
        M11(i,j) == M11(j,i);
        M12(i,j) == M12(j,i);
        M21(i,j) == M21(j,i);
        M22(i,j) == M22(j,i);
        % Enforce operators as projective measurements
        \% (i.e. the square of the same operator is found in the top
        % column / row of the diagonal entry).
        M11(i,i) == M11(1,i);
        M11(i,i) == M11(i,1);
        M12(i,i) == M12(1,i);
        M12(i,i) == M12(i,1);
        M21(i,i) == M21(1,i);
```

```
M21(i,i) == M21(i,1);
            M22(i,i) == M22(1,i);
            M22(i,i) == M22(i,1);
        end
    end
% Enforce that projective measurements sum to 1:
    for i = 1:dim
     for j = 1:dim
     if mod(i,2) == 0
     M11(i,j) + M11(i+1,j) == M11(1,j);
     M12(i,j) + M12(i+1,j) == M12(1,j);
M21(i,j) + M21(i+1,j) == M21(1,j);
M22(i,j) + M22(i+1,j) == M22(1,j);
     end
     if mod(j,2) == 0
     M11(i,j) + M11(i,j+1) == M11(i,1);
     M12(i,j) + M12(i,j+1) == M12(i,1);
     M21(i,j) + M21(i,j+1) == M21(i,1);
     M22(i,j) + M22(i,j+1) == M22(i,1);
     end
     end
    end
    % Ensure that the matrix is PSD.
    M \geq 0;
cvx_end
cvx_optval =
    0.8536
```

A.1.2 The first level of the extended QC hierarchy for the CHSH extended nonlocal game

e0 = [1;0]; e1 = [0;1]; ep = [1;1]/sqrt(2); em = [1;-1]/sqrt(2);

```
psi0_dm = e0*e0'; psi0_dmc = e1*e1';
psi1_dm = ep*ep'; psi1_dmc = em*em';
ROO = psiO_dm/2;
R01 = psi0_dmc/2;
R10 = psi1_dm/2;
R11 = psi1_dmc/2;
dim = 9;
A00_B00 = zeros(dim); A01_B01 = zeros(dim);
A10_B10 = zeros(dim); A11_B11 = zeros(dim);
% These are the relative positions of these entries as
% indexed by strings in the matrix.
A00_B00(2,6) = 1; A00_B00(6,2) = 1;
A01_B01(3,7) = 1; A01_B01(7,3) = 1;
A10_B10(4,8) = 1; A10_B10(8,4) = 1;
A11_B11(5,9) = 1; A11_B11(9,5) = 1;
A00_B00 = zeros(dim); A01_B01 = zeros(dim);
A00_B10 = zeros(dim); A01_B11 = zeros(dim);
A10_B00 = zeros(dim); A11_B01 = zeros(dim);
A10_B11 = zeros(dim); A11_B10 = zeros(dim);
A00_B00(2,6) = 1; A00_B00(6,2) = 1;
A00_B10(2,8) = 1; A00_B10(8,2) = 1;
A01_B01(3,7) = 1; A01_B01(7,3) = 1;
A01_B11(3,9) = 1; A01_B11(9,3) = 1;
A10_B00(4,6) = 1; A10_B00(6,4) = 1;
A10_B11(4,9) = 1; A10_B11(9,4) = 1;
A11_B01(5,7) = 1; A11_B01(7,5) = 1;
A11_B10(5,8) = 1; A11_B10(8,5) = 1;
```

```
% CHSH ENLG
A = 1/4*(kron(R00, A00_B00) + kron(R01, A01_B01)) + ...
    1/4*(kron(R00, A00_B10) + kron(R01, A01_B11)) + ...
    1/4*(kron(R00, A10_B00) + kron(R01, A11_B01)) + ...
    1/4*(kron(R10, A10_B11) + kron(R11, A11_B10));
cvx_begin sdp
cvx_precision best
    %#ok<*VUNUS>
                    % suppress MATLAB warnings for equality checks in CVX
    %#ok<*EQEFF>
                    % suppress MATLAB warnings for inequality checks in CVX
    % Admissible matrix
    variable M(2*dim,2*dim) hermitian
    % Sub-block matrices found in the admissible matrix
    variable M11(dim,dim)
    variable M12(dim,dim)
    variable M21(dim,dim)
    variable M22(dim,dim)
    M == [ M11 M12;
        M21 M22 ];
    maximize trace( A*M )
    subject to
    % Normalization condition:
    M11(1,1) + M22(1,1) == 1;
    for i = 1:dim
        for j = 1:dim
            % Ensure commutation relation holds
            \%(i.e. [A,B] = 0)
            M11(i,j) == M11(j,i);
            M12(i,j) == M12(j,i);
```

```
M21(i,j) == M21(j,i);
            M22(i,j) == M22(j,i);
            % Enforce operators as projective measurements
            \% (i.e. the square of the same operator is found in the top
            % column / row of the diagonal entry).
            M11(i,i) == M11(1,i);
            M11(i,i) == M11(i,1);
            M12(i,i) == M12(1,i);
            M12(i,i) == M12(i,1);
            M21(i,i) == M21(1,i);
            M21(i,i) == M21(i,1);
            M22(i,i) == M22(1,i);
            M22(i,i) == M22(i,1);
        end
    end
% Enforce that projective measurements sum to 1:
    for i = 1:dim
     for j = 1:dim
     if mod(i,2) == 0
     M11(i,j) + M11(i+1,j) == M11(1,j);
     M12(i,j) + M12(i+1,j) == M12(1,j);
M21(i,j) + M21(i+1,j) == M21(1,j);
M22(i,j) + M22(i+1,j) == M22(1,j);
     end
     if mod(j,2) == 0
     M11(i,j) + M11(i,j+1) == M11(i,1);
     M12(i,j) + M12(i,j+1) == M12(i,1);
     M21(i,j) + M21(i,j+1) == M21(i,1);
     M22(i,j) + M22(i,j+1) == M22(i,1);
     end
     end
    end
```

```
% Ensure that the matrix is PSD.
M >= 0;
cvx_end
cvx_optval =
0.75783
```

A.1.3 The non-signaling value for the CHSH extended nonlocal game

```
n = 1;
dim = 2^n;
e0 = [1;0];
                e1 = [0;1];
ep = [1;1]/sqrt(2); em = [1;-1]/sqrt(2);
eip = (e0 + 1j*e1)/sqrt(2); eim = (e0 - 1j*e1)/sqrt(2);
psi0_dm = e0*e0'; psi0_dmc = e1*e1';
psi1_dm = ep*ep'; psi1_dmc = em*em';
psi2_dm = eip*eip'; psi2_dmc = eim*eim';
P = zeros(2,2,2,2);
%P(:,:,1,1) = (psi0_dm)/2; P(:,:,1,2) = (psi0_dmc)/2;
%P(:,:,2,1) = (psi1_dm)/2; P(:,:,2,2) = (psi1_dmc)/2;
P = zeros(2,2,2,2,2,2);
P(:,:,1,1,1,1) = psi0_dm/2;
P(:,:,1,1,2,2) = psi0_dmc/2;
P(:,:,1,2,1,1) = psi0_dm/2;
P(:,:,1,2,2,2) = psi0_dmc/2;
P(:,:,2,1,1,1) = psi0_dm/2;
P(:,:,2,1,2,2) = psi0_dmc/2;
```

```
P(:,:,2,2,1,2) = psi1_dm/2;
P(:,:,2,2,2,1) = psi1_dmc/2;
cvx_begin sdp
    %#ok<*VUNUS>
                    % suppress MATLAB warnings for equality checks in CVX
    %#ok<*EQEFF>
                    % suppress MATLAB warnings for inequality checks in CVX
    variable rho(dim,dim,dim,dim,dim,dim) semidefinite
    variable sig(dim,dim,dim,dim) hermitian
    variable xi(dim,dim,dim,dim) hermitian
    variable tau(dim,dim) hermitian
    % construct objective function
    obj_fun = 0;
    for x = 1:dim
        for y = 1:dim
            for a = 1:dim
                for b = 1:dim
                   obj_fun = obj_fun + ip( P(:,:,x,y,a,b), rho(:,:,x,y,a,b) );
               end
           end
       end
    end
    maximize obj_fun
    subject to
    rho_b_sum = sum(rho,6);
    for x = 1:dim
        for y = 1:dim
            for a = 1:dim
                rho_b_sum(:,:,x,y,a) == sig(:,:,x,a);
            end
        end
    end
```

```
rho_a_sum = sum(rho,5);
    for x = 1:dim
        for y = 1:dim
            for b = 1:dim
                rho_a_sum(:,:,x,y,b) == xi(:,:,y,b);
            end
        end
    end
    sig_a_sum = sum(sig,4);
    xi_b_sum = sum(xi,4);
    for x = 1:dim
        sig_a_sum(:,:,x) == tau;
    end
    for y = 1:dim
        xi_b_sum(:,:,y) == tau;
    end
    trace(tau) == 1;
    tau >= 0;
cvx_end
cvx_optval
cvx_optval =
    0.75
```

A.1.4 Implementation of the see-saw method for computing lower bounds on the BB84 extended nonlocal game

```
e0 = [1;0]; e1 = [0;1];
ep = [1;1]/sqrt(2); em = [1;-1]/sqrt(2);
psi0_dm = e0*e0'; psi0_dmc = e1*e1';
```

```
psi1_dm = ep*ep'; psi1_dmc = em*em';
lvl = 1;
reps = 1;
j_max = 4;
xdim = 2;
ydim = 2;
num_inputs = 2;
num_outputs = 2;
I = eye(xdim,ydim);
R = zeros(2,2,2,2,2,2);
R(:,:,1,1,1,1) = psi0_dm/2;
R(:,:,1,1,2,2) = psi0_dmc/2;
R(:,:,2,2,1,1) = psi1_dm/2;
R(:,:,2,2,2,2) = psi1_dmc/2;
best = 0;
for k = 1:j_max
    k
    % Generate random bases from the orthogonal colums of randomly
    % generated unitary matrices.
    B = zeros(xdim,ydim,num_inputs,num_outputs);
    for y = 1:num_inputs
        U = RandomUnitary(num_outputs);
        for b = 1:num_outputs
            B(:,:,y,b) = U(:,b)*U(:,b)';
        end
    end
```

```
% Run the actual alternating projection algorithm between % the two SDPs.
```

```
it_diff = 1;
prev_win = -1;
while it_diff > 10^{-6}
    % Optimize over Alice's measurement operators while
    % fixing Bob's. If this is the first iteration, then the
    % previously randomly generated operators in the outer loop are
    % Bob's. Otherwise, Bob's operators come from running the next
    % SDP.
    cvx_begin sdp quiet
        variable rho(xdim<sup>(2*reps)</sup>,ydim<sup>(2*reps)</sup>,...
        num_inputs,num_outputs) hermitian
        variable tau(xdim<sup>(2*reps)</sup>,ydim<sup>(2*reps)</sup>) hermitian
        win = 0;
        for x = 1:num_inputs
             for y = 1:num_inputs
                 for a = 1:num_outputs
                     for b = 1:num_outputs
                          win = win + \dots
                          trace( (kron(R(:,:,x,y,a,b), ...
                          B(:,:,y,b)))' * rho(:,:,x,a) );
                     end
                 end
             end
        end
        maximize real(win)
        subject to
             % Sum over "a" for all "x".
             rho_a_sum = sum(rho,4);
             for x = 1:num_inputs
                 rho_a_sum(:,:,x) == tau;
             end
             % Enforce that tau is a density operator.
             trace(tau) == 1;
```

```
tau >= 0;
        rho >= 0;
cvx_end
win = real(win);
% Now, optimize over Bob's measurement operators and fix
% Alice's operators as those coming from the previous SDP.
cvx_begin sdp quiet
    variable B(xdim,ydim,num_inputs,num_outputs) hermitian
    win = 0;
    for x = 1:num_inputs
        for y = 1:num_inputs
            for a = 1:num_outputs
                for b = 1:num_outputs
                    win = win + \dots
                     trace( (kron(R(:,:,x,y,a,b), ...
                     B(:,:,y,b)))' * rho(:,:,x,a) );
                end
            end
        end
    end
    maximize real(win)
    subject to
        \% Bob's measurements operators must be PSD and sum to I
        B_b_sum = sum(B,4);
        for y = 1:num_inputs
            B_b_sum(:,:,y) == I;
        end
        B >= 0;
```

 cvx_end
```
win = real(win);
        it_diff = win - prev_win;
        prev_win = win;
     end
    % As the SDPs keep alternating, check if the winning probability
    % becomes any higher. If so, replace with new best.
    if best < win
        best = win;
        \% take purification of tau
        pur = PartialTrace(tau,2);
        A = zeros(xdim,ydim,num_inputs,num_outputs);
        for x = 1:num_inputs
             for a = 1:num_outputs
                A(:,:,x,a) = pur<sup>(-1/2)</sup> * PartialTrace(rho(:,:,x,a),2) * pur<sup>(-1/2)</sup>;
            end
        end
        opt_strat_A = A;
        opt_strat_B = B;
    end
end;
best
best =
    0.8536
```

A.1.5 The BB84 monogamy game (Example 6.1)

```
\% Create the BB84 basis.
```

```
e0 = [1;0]; e1 = [0;1];
ep = [1;1]/sqrt(2); em = [1;-1]/sqrt(2);
psi0 = e0*e0'; psi1 = e1*e1';
psip = ep*ep'; psim = em*em';
% Referee's first basis: {|0><0|, |1><1|}
R{1} = {psi0, psi1};
% Referee's second basis: { |+><+ |, |-><- | }
R{2} = {psip, psim};
% BB84 game for a single repetition.
reps = 1;
% Level of the extended QC hierarchy
lvl = 1;
% Calculate the lower and upper bounds on the BB84 game:
%
    cos<sup>2</sup>(pi/8) \approx 0.8536
lb = MonogamyGameValueLB(R,reps,lvl)
ub = MonogamyGameValueUB(R,reps,lvl)
lb =
    0.8535
ub =
```

```
0.8535
```

A.1.6 A monogamy-of-entanglement game defined by mutually unbiased bases (Example 6.8)

% Number of inputs and outputs nin = 4;

```
nout = 3;
% Create the mutually unbiased bases consisting of 4-inputs and 3-outputs.
m = MUB(nout);
R = \{\};
for i = 1:nin
    for j = 1:nout
        R{i}{j} = m{i}(:,j) * m{i}(:,j)';
    end
end
% Number of repetitions of the game.
reps = 1;
% Level of the extended QC hierarchy.
lvl = 1;
\% Calculate the lower and upper bounds on the quantum value of
% the mutually unbiased basis game:
lb = MonogamyGameValueLB(R,reps,lvl)
ub = MonogamyGameValueUB(R,reps,lvl)
lb =
    0.6610
ub =
    0.6667
```

A.1.7 A counter-example to strong parallel repetition for monogamy-of-entanglement games with non-signaling provers (Proof of Theorem 6.7)

```
% Create the BB84 basis.
e0 = [1;0]; e1 = [0;1];
```

```
ep = [1;1]/sqrt(2); em = [1;-1]/sqrt(2);
psi0 = e0*e0'; psi1 = e1*e1';
psip = ep*ep'; psim = em*em';
% Referee's first basis: {|0><0|, |1><1|}
R{1} = {psi0, psi1};
% Referee's second basis: { |+><+ |, |-><- | }
R{2} = {psip, psim};
% BB84 game for a single repetition.
reps = 1;
% Level of the extended QC hierarchy corresponds to non-signaling
lvl = 0;
% Calculate the lower and upper bounds on the BB84 game:
rep_1_val = MonogamyGameValue(R,reps,lvl)
% BB84 game for a single repetition.
reps = 2;
% Calculate the lower and upper bounds on the BB84 game:
rep_2_val = MonogamyGameValue(R,reps,lvl)
rep_1_val =
    0.8536
rep_2_val =
```

0.7383

Index

k-th order admissible matrix, 74k-th order pseudo commuting measurement assemblage, 76

adjoint, 9 admissible, 73 alphabets, 7 assemblage, 36

Banach-Alaoglu theorem, 17 BB84 monogamy-of-entanglement game, 93 Bell inequality, 24 Bell state, 21 bipartite system, 20 bounded operators, 17

CHSH inequality, 24 classical strategy (nonlocal game), 29 classical value (nonlocal game), 29 closed (set), 15 commute, 10 commuting measurement assemblage, 41 commuting measurement correlation function (nonlocal game), 30 commuting measurement strategy (extended nonlocal game), 41 commuting measurement strategy (nonlocal game), 30 commuting measurement value (extended nonlocal game), 42
commuting measurement value (nonlocal game), 30
compact, 16
completely positive (map), 14
complex Euclidean space, 8
concatenation (string), 7
conjugate, 9
conjugate transpose, 10
convergent sequence, 15
convex, 15
convex combination, 16
correlation function (nonlocal game), 26

density operator, 10 deterministic correlation function (nonlocal game), 29 deterministic strategy, 29

eigenvalues, 15 eigenvectors, 15 empty string, 7 entangled operator, 21 entangled state, 20 Euclidean norm, 8 extended nonlocal game, 35 extended QC hierarchy, 66 generalized Bell basis, 22 generalized Pauli operators, 22 global strategy, 31

Hermitian, 10 Hermiticity-preserving (map), 14 Hilbert space, 16 Hilbert-Schmidt inner product, 10

I3322 inequality, 62 identity map, 13 identity operator, 9 interactive proof system, 24

Kronecker delta function, 20

left singular vectors, 14 length (string), 7 Lie bracket, 10

maximally entangled, 20 measurement, 19 mixed state, 19 monogamy-of-entanglement game, 90 mutually unbiased, 8 mutually unbiased bases, 8

non-convex, 15 non-signaling assemblage, 43 non-signaling correlation function (nonlocal game), 31 non-signaling strategy, 31 non-signaling strategy (extended nonlocal game), 42 non-signaling strategy (monogamy-ofentanglement game), 93 non-signaling value (extended nonlocal game), 43 non-signaling value (nonlocal game), 31 nonlocal game, 24 norm, 11

observable, 19 open (set), 15 orthogonal, 8 orthogonal set, 8 orthonormal, 8 orthonormal basis, 8 orthonormal set, 8 parallel repetition, 96 partial trace, 13 Pauli operators, 22 positive semidefinite, 10

post-selected teleportation, 57 probability vector, 16 product state, 20 projection operator, 10 projective measurement, 19 prover (interactive proof system), 24 pure state, 18 purification, 19 purified, 19

QC hierarchy, 67 quantum channel, 19 quantum correlation function (nonlocal game), 27 quantum strategies (QC games), 46 quantum strategy (nonlocal game), 27 quantum strategy (teleportation game), 50quantum value (nonlocal game), 27 quantum value (quantum-classical game), 47 quantum XOR games, 48 quantum-classical games (QC games), 45 quantum-classical-quantum extended nonlocal games, 63

qubits, 19

register, 19 reversal (string), 7 right singular vectors, 14 Schatten p-norms, 11 Schmidt decomposition, 15 semidefinite program, 18 separable, 20separable density operator, 21 separable Hilbert space, 16 separable operators, 21 sequence, 15singular value decomposition, 14 singular value theorem, 14singular values, 14 spectral decomposition, 15 spectral norm, 11 spectral theorem, 14square root (of operator), 11 standard basis, 8standard basis (operators), 9 standard quantum assemblage, 39 standard quantum strategy (extended nonlocal game), 37standard quantum strategy (monogamyof-entanglement game), 92

standard quantum value, 39 strategy, 25 string, 7 strong parallel repetition, 99 subsequence, 15 symbols, 7

teleportation, 23 teleportation game, 49 tensor product, 12 trace, 10 trace class, 17 trace norm, 11 trace preserving (map), 14 transpose, 9

unentangled strategy (extended nonlocal game), 40 unentangled strategy (monogamy-ofentanglement game), 92 unentangled value, 40 unit sphere, 8 unit vector, 8 unitary operator, 10

value (nonlocal game), 25 verifier (interactive proof system), 24

weak-* convergence, 17